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Based in Hong Kong, Blue River Holdings Limited
is principally engaged in, among others, the
businesses of gas distribution and logistics in the
People’s Republic of China, as well as property
investment, securities trading and investment, and

provision of financing related services.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

NRIE R

BOARD OF DIRECTORS EEH
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Yu Chung Leung (Chairman) 2HE(F/E)

Lam John Cheung-wah BL B E
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Yu Chung Leung RHPER

Lam John Cheung-wah (Chairman) EEE(EE)

Sam Nickolas David Hing Cheong LB
(resigned with effect from 1 July 2023) (B2023F7 A1 BB )
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Corporate Governance and Compliance

Committee

Au Wai June
William Nicholas Giles (Chairman)
Yu Chung Leung
Lam John Cheung-wah
Marc Andreas Tschirner
(resigned with effect from 1 July 2023)
Ho Sze Nga, Maggie

Share Repurchase Committee

Au Wai June
William Nicholas Giles (Chairman)
Marc Andreas Tschirner
(resigned with effect from 1 July 2023)
Sam Nickolas David Hing Cheong
(resigned with effect from 1 July 2023)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ho Sze Nga, Maggie

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Kwong Kai Sing, Benny

(appointed with effect from 1 July 2023)

Ho Sze Nga, Maggie
Chan Dik Keung, William

(Alternate to Kwong Kai Sing, Benny and

Ho Sze Nga, Maggie)
Sam Nickolas David Hing Cheong
(resigned with effect from 1 July 2023)

AUDITOR
Crowe (HK) CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
RNAEH

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation

Limited

LEGAL ADVISERS

Eric Yung & Co.
Conyers Dill & Pearman (Bermuda)

FINANCIAL ADVISER

Akron Corporate Finance Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

Suites 2801-03, 28th Floor
China United Centre

28 Marble Road

North Point

Hong Kong

Tel: +852 3198 0469

Fax: +852 2372 0641
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PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4th Floor, North Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Secretaries Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

WEBSITE

www.blueriverholdings.com.hk

STOCK CODE

Hong Kong Stock Exchange 498
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETRBEE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Blue River Holdings Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”),
we would like to present the audited annual results of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 to the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
recorded a consolidated revenue of approximately
HK$62 million (2023: HK$77 million). Net loss for the
year attributable to the owners of the Company was
about HK$265 million (2023: HK$605 million), and
basic and diluted losses per share were both HK25.5
cents (2023: HK55.4 cents). Equity attributable to the
owners of the Company decreased by 31% to
approximately HK$933 million (2023: HK$1,353
million), representing HK$0.90 (2023: HK$1.30) per
share as at 31 March 2024.

OVERVIEW

The Board has resolved not to recommend payment of
a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023:
Nil).

During the year under review, the Company maintained
a prudent approach in refining its strategy with a view
to strengthen the long-term value of the Group. During
the year, the Group has realised its entire interest in
LPG & LNG businesses through disposal of its wholly-
owned Blue River Wuhan Port Limited. The Group has
also realised its residual 9.9% interest in Yangkou Port
Co through disposal of its wholly-owned Yangkou Port
Holdings Limited. The sales proceeds will give the
Group more flexibility to seize suitable business and
investment opportunities as and when they arise. A
detailed review of our operations during the year is set
out in the Business Review.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

EALRR

# 1P 32 X % Blue River Holdings Limited
EAERERAA(ARAR]  ERH
MEBARGBIANERDER(EE))
BUIEER])  MARRRE (KRR
EWRAEBEE2024F3A31H IEF
EZREBEZEFEE-

MBRE

HE2024F3A31B tEE KEH
815 42 A U A 496,200 8 7 JT (2023 -
7T7T00EBL) ARG HAEAEMGTE
[ &5 48 )% 58 #492.6518 78 Jr (2023 : 6.05
BET)  IBEREAREBESENY A
25.57 {ll1 (2023 : 55.47#1l) » F22024 F
SH31H ' AR RI#HEE AEGEZED
31% & #99.3318 /& 7t (2023 : 13.5318 /&
7C) - HHE R & A%0.907 7T (2023 : 1.30
BIT) °

ARl

EERERRTEZRNEEZ202453
A31HIEFE 2 KM B (2023 : £) -

CIEFAN ARARFBFENEENR
ERE - g AEB s REBEEB-
FA AEEERBLEZEHEE L
Blue River Wuhan Port Limited & %7 Ff 1%
BIEABRERIERARER 22
Bm AKEENTEANEZERE L
Yangkou Port Holdings Limited & 8 H 7
OB RATRAR TN - LEMRS
HESEAEEFTEEHWEAB ¥
BhiEERES L REELERK -5
BAAEEFRNZERDE  FR(EK
TR o



The Company continues to pursue effective internal
control measures and endeavours to enhance the
quality of its overall corporate governance measures.
We maintained transparent communications with
investors and stakeholders, persisted to pursue
consistent and effective internal control and audit
programs, and offered relevant trainings for directors
and management of the Group. Details of the Group’s
corporate governance practices are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report and Business Review.

The Company demonstrated a strong commitment to
corporate social responsibility. Details of the Group’s
corporate social responsibilities are set out in the
Business Review and Environmental, Social and
Governance Report.

PROSPECTS

The Board undertakes strategic review of the Group’s
assets from time to time with a view to maximising
returns to the shareholders of the Company.
Concurrently, the Group will explore opportunities to
diversify and broaden its business and investment
portfolio by investing in business with optimistic
prospect. The Group will continue looking for
investment opportunities in a cautious and pragmatic
approach with a view to enhancing shareholders’
value.

APPRECIATION

| wish to take this opportunity to express my sincere
gratitude to my fellow Board members for their valuable
guidance and monitoring to the Group. On behalf of
the Board, | would like to express our appreciation to
the Group’s staff for their dedication and contribution
that gives impetus to the development of the Group. |
would also like to send our gratitude to our
shareholders, clients and partners for their continuous
support and confidence to the Group. | wish them all
prosperity and continued success in the coming year.

Benny KWONG
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2024
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BUSINESS REVIEW
RBEENR

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS AND BUSINESS
DEVELOPMENT

Ports and Logistics

Fuel Gas Distribution and Logistics (100% owned)
During the year, the liquefied petroleum gas (“LPG”)
and compressed natural gas (“CNG”) distribution and
logistics businesses of Minsheng Gas and Minsheng
Natural Gas in Wuhan recorded a segment profit of
approximately HK$31 million (2023: loss of HK$69
million). Excluding the gain on disposal of subsidiaries
of approximately HK$59 million during the year and the
one-off impairment provision for the capitalised
liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) project costs of
approximately HK$54 million made last year, the
operating loss increased by 87% to HK$28 million (2023:
HK$15 million) during the year. Currently, Minsheng
Natural Gas owns and operates four CNG automotive
fueling stations in Wuhan City. Influenced adversely by
the bolstered promotion of electric-powered vehicles
by the Wuhan Municipal People’s Government and the
popularisation of electric-powered vehicles in Wuhan
City, the sales of CNG decreased by 17% to
approximately 11.8 milion m?® (2023: 14.2 million m?®)
when compared with the last year. The expediting
deployment of new energy vehicles in both public and
private transportation sectors by the Wuhan
Government casts a bleak outlook on the CNG
distribution business of Minsheng Natural Gas. As a
result of the phase-out of LPG-powered vehicles in
Wuhan City and the closure of the remaining two LPG
automotive fueling stations by Minsheng Gas during
the year ended 31 March 2023, there was no sales of
LPG for the year, comparing to the sales of
approximately 1,150 tonnes last year.

Following the closure of the remaining two LPG
automotive fueling stations, Minsheng Gas no longer
needed to maintain the LPG storage-tank farm and
river terminal for the storage and supply of LPG to its
fueling stations. In order to optimise the value of the
LPG assets, the Group had been evaluating its options
to realise the LPG storage-tank farm assets. In respect
of the LNG business, under the development plan of
Minsheng Gas to construct new LNG storage tanks

Blue River Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

CENERERRE

BORYR

KRR HR Y7 (HEEF100% # 75)
FRA-REABAERERAZARE
2B ARATEREARA] K& E
MAARTEBHBEBAARD D #E &Y
MEES 9 3% 5 43,1008 7 7T
(2023 : E 86,9008 /& 7T) ° Wik F A
HE W B A A 2 U & 495,900 78 7T
KEFERERNERIERAR(BRIER
MR IBEKAREL 2 — R MR E R
45,4008 B 7T+ F A& & E BN
87% £2,800& & 7L (2023 : 1,500& &
L) BRI RERAREREMES
W A & 7Y BB JBR 4 K SR |OREE NN SR Uk o
ZHEREMARBNRODHEREESHE
UEBHERARETHRLE R Z2TF
FE BHRAAJEEEREFT D
17% & #91,180& 32 77 K (2023 : 1,420
EVAHK) - BEREMBRTMRER
HMAARBEHIBEHNEIRTE
REXARETBERAZDHEHER
Al &= X B o B R EEME KK A M
REH N ERAEARABALE 220234F
SABHIEFEMEAS®RTMERIA
MRAEMRM  FALESEES R
ORREE MEEXFHEEANA
1,150 MF ©

BE = &R T R BE R AL A JE SR T EE 0 SR
M REAMTBFEERERILA
SR fRE B R [ R B SR A A7 AR AE
AOER I E T IR - BETT AL
hHEREECEE ~AKE=ZFHE
BERBREOBRFEFEEMWEEZT
ReBIERAREH I E REREA
HAmEEWRM  EEMTEFK
32 4 ¥R L R AR B MR KA



and LNG berths catering for domestic residential,
transportation and industrial demands, the LNG
storage facilities of Minsheng Gas would be designated
as a regional storage and trans-shipment hub for LNG
in Hubei Province, the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”). It was estimated that the investment costs for
the entire development plan would amount to
approximately RMB4,000 million with a lengthy
payback period for the infrastructure investment.
Moreover, the profitability of the LNG project was
subject to a number of uncertainties, inter alia, (i) the
capability in securing a stable upstream supply of LNG
at a competitive cost, while effectively navigating
downstream markets and achieving a profitable selling
price; (i) the continuity of the current PRC national
energy policy; and (iiij the government’s approval for
the exclusive usage and the construction of the LNG
berth terminals along the shoreline of the Yangtze River
in Wuhan. Taking into account the aforementioned
uncertainties and significant risks embedded in the
LNG project, the Group had been taking a more
cautious investment approach towards the
development plan and had considered bringing in co-
investors for the LNG project to share risks. Despite its
diligent outreach to, and extensive negotiation efforts
with, other prospective investors, the Company
encountered challenges in securing co-investors due
to their lackluster responses under the challenging
operating environment of the LPG & LNG businesses.
On 21 March 2024, the Company decided to realise its
entire interest in LPG & LNG businesses through
disposal of its indirect wholly-owned Blue River Wuhan
Port Limited, which indirectly wholly-owned j#1t R4
DmBsftmAMR AT (Hubei Minsheng Liquefied
Petroleum Gas Limited*), at a consideration of HK$1
million and resulted in a gain on disposal of
approximately HK$55 million. After the disposal, the
Group continues to engage in the operation of CNG
distribution and logistics businesses through Minsheng
Natural Gas in Wuhan City mainly for fulfilment of its
obligation of fueling service to the local public buses.
Given the loss making condition of Minsheng Natural
Gas under the bleak outlook on the CNG distribution
business, the Group is assessing its options on this
business based on its development potential.
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BUSINESS REVIEW
REBRESR

Yangkou Port (9.9% owned before disposal in
December 2023)

The Group’s 9.9% equity interest in jT#kF O &% &5
AR /A7) (Jiangsu Yangkou Port Development and
Investment Co. Ltd.”) (“Yangkou Port Co”) did not
contribute any dividend income to the segment result
for the year (2023: HK$3 million).

Yangkou Port Co is principally engaged in the business
of development of port and related infrastructures at
Yangkou Port, an offshore type deep-sea harbour
along the South East Coast of Jiangsu Province, the
PRC. Strategically located near the mouth of the
Yangtze River, Yangkou Port is ideally situated to
become one of China’s largest trans-shipment hubs for
dry and liquid bulk cargoes.

Following our several staged divestments from 75% to
the current 9.9% interest in prior years, the residual
equity interest in Yangkou Port Co was classified as
financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income. Given the lack of a stable and
attractive dividend policy established in Yangkou Port
Co, the Company decided to realise its residual 9.9%
equity interest in Yangkou Port Co through the disposal
of its investment holding company on 23 November
2023 at a consideration of HK$8 million. The disposal
was completed on 5 December 2023 and resulted in a
disposal gain of approximately HK$4 million. The
disposal had no material impact on the Group’s
financial position and operation.

Property

After the completion of the divestment in the
discontinued PRC property operation last year, the
Group repositions its focus on the property segment in
Hong Kong, taking advantage of the downturn of the
Hong Kong property market to capture the potential
market upside in future. As at 31 March 2024, the
Group owns certain office premises and car parking
spaces in Hong Kong through direct investment and
investment in associates.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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The continuing property business in Hong Kong
recorded a segment loss of approximately HK$32
million (2023: HK$6 million) for the year which mainly
composed of the loss on fair value changes of
investment properties in Hong Kong of approximately
HK$10 million (2023: HK$2 million) and share of the
associates’ loss of HK$23 million (2023: HK$1 million),
as affected by the interest rate hike cycle and the weak
demand for office premise in Hong Kong.

Securities

The securities segment recorded a segment loss of
approximately HK$0.01 million (2023: profit of HK$1
million). As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s investments
in listed equity instruments not held for trading
amounted to approximately HK$129 milion (2023:
HK$90 million). During the year, net investments in
listed equity instruments of approximately HK$120
million was made, while the decrease in fair value of
approximately HK$81 million (2023: HK$39 million) for
the year was recognised in other comprehensive
expense.

The Group adopted a cautious and disciplined
approach in managing the Group’s securities portfolio.
The Group will continue to monitor its securities
portfolio and look for investment opportunities with a
view to achieving growth in portfolio value in future.

Financial services

The financial services business recorded a segment
loss of approximately HK$204 million (2023: profit of
HK$41 million) for the year, which was mainly
attributable to the share of loss of its investee
associates of approximately HK$208 million (2023:
profit of HK$41 million) during the year.

The Group adopted a cautious approach in managing
its direct loan financing business aiming to gradually
build up a creditworthy clientele base. The direct loan
financing business contributed revenue of
approximately HK$9 million (2023: HK$6 million) for the
year. Revolving loans of HK$295 million newly granted
to various borrowers during the year have been fully
recovered as at the report date.
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BUSINESS REVIEW
REBRESR

The Group held one-third of equity interest in Maxlord
Enterprises Limited (“Maxlord”), a licensed money
lender carrying out money lending business in Hong
Kong, which is an indirect 66.67% owned subsidiary of
Planetree International Development Limited (stock
code: 0613.HK). During the year, the Group shared
loss of approximately HK$35 million (2023: profit of
HK$13 million) on its investment in Maxlord.

The Group participated mainly in the overseas property
asset-based financing business through a 40% owned
associate, Golden Thread Investments Limited (“Golden
Thread”). During the year, the Group shared loss of
approximately HK$32 million (2023: profit of HK$20
million) on its investment in Golden Thread.

The Group participated in the integrated financial
services sectors, particularly the licensed securities
brokerage and margin financing business through
equity investments to share knowledge, expertise and
network in the field with industry partners. As at 31
March 2024, through equity investment in Hope Capital
Limited, the Group indirectly held 23.79% equity
interest in Hope Securities Limited, which is a licensed
corporation under the Securities and Futures Ordinance
to carry on regulated activities including dealing in and
advising on securities and future contracts and asset
management. The Group also held 33% equity interest
in HEC Securities Company Limited which is engaged
in treasury activities. The equity investments are
classified as associates of the Company and the Group
shared loss of approximately HK$141 million (2023:
profit of HK$10 million) during the year.

The Group will continue to explore business
opportunities in the financial service business under a
prudent credit strategy and capitalise on the expertise
and competitive strength of other sophisticated
industry participants through partnerships, with a view
to contribute a stable and favorable income stream to
the Group.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

An investment with a carrying value of 5% or more of
the total assets of the Group is considered as a
significant investment of the Group. As at 31 March
2024, the Group’s investment in 465,000,000 ordinary
listed shares of Oshidori International Holdings Limited
(“Oshidori”), represented approximately 7.5% of
Oshidori’s issued share capital, was measured at fair
value of approximately HK$88 million, which
represented approximately 9% to the total assets of
the Group. Total cost for the investment in Oshidori
amounted to approximately HK$130 million and the
cumulative unrealised fair value loss was approximately
HK$42 million. Oshidori is a company incorporated in
Bermuda with limited liability, the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 0622.HK). Oshidori
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
investment holdings, tactical and/or strategical
investments (including property investments), provision
of financial services including the Securities and
Futures Commission regulated activities, namely Type
1 (dealing in securities), Type 2 (dealing in futures
contracts), Type 4 (advising on securities), Type 6
(advising on corporate finance), Type 8 (securities
margin financing) and Type 9 (asset management) and
provision of credit and lending services regulated under
the Money Lenders Ordinance. During the year, no
dividend was received from Oshidori and the unrealised
fair value loss of the investment in Oshidori of
approximately HK$24 million was charged to the
investment revaluation reserve through other
comprehensive income.
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As extracted from the annual report of Oshidori for the
year ended 31 December 2023, Oshidori recorded an
audited net loss of HK$84 milion (2022: HK$81
million). As at 31 December 2023, Oshidori had audited
total assets and net asset value of HK$3,888 million
and HK$3,731 million respectively. The liquidity of
Oshidori remained strong with a current ratio of 7.5
and a gearing ratio of 1.4%. As at 31 March 2024, the
fair value of Oshidori of HK$0.19 per share represents
a discount of approximately 69% to its audited net
asset value as at 31 December 2023 of HK$0.61 per
share. It is considered that Oshidori is currently
significantly undervalued and represents an attractive
value stock pick with potential for higher return from a
long-term perspective.

Saved as disclosed above, the Group did not hold any
significant investments in any investee company with a
value of above 5% of the Group’s total assets as at 31
March 2024.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

On 21 March 2024, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with Dawn Rainbow Limited in
relation to the disposal of the entire interest of Blue
River Wuhan Port Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, which indirectly wholly-
owned it R A& A HRIER AR A A (Hubei Minsheng
Liquefied Petroleum Gas Limited*), at a consideration
of HK$1 million. The disposal was completed
simultaneously upon signing of the sale and purchase
agreement.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have

material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no major subsequent events occurred
since the end of the reporting period and up to the
date of this annual report.
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Continuing operations

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the continuing
operations of the Group recorded a consolidated
revenue of approximately HK$62 million (2023: HK$77
million) and gross profit of approximately HK$24 million
(2023: HK$18 million). The decrease in revenue during
the year was mainly due to the decrease in sales of
CNG products impacted by the increased popularity of
electric-powered vehicles and no sales of LPG resulting
from the phase-out of LPG-powered vehicles in Wuhan
City. During the year, the Group recorded a loss before
taxation from continuing operations of approximately
HK$264 million (2023: HK$142 million), which was
composed of:

() net gain of approximately HK$31 million (2023:
loss of HK$66 million) in ports and logistics
segment, including gain on disposal of subsidiaries
of approximately HK$59 million (2023: Nil);

(i) net loss of approximately HK$32 million (2023:
HK$6 million) in property segment;

(i) net loss of approximately HK$0.01 million (2023:
gain of HK$1 million) in securities segment;

(iv) net loss of approximately HK$204 million (2023:
gain of HK$41 million) in financial services
segment;

(v net corporate and other expenses of
approximately HK$90 million (2023: HK$89
million);

(vi) net exchange loss of approximately HK$1 million
(2023: HK$9 million);

(vii) gain on forfeiture of deposit and earnest money
received of approximately HK$8 million (2023: Nil);

(viii) impairment loss reversed on amounts due from
former subsidiaries in liquidation of approximately
HK$31 million (2023: HK$3 million); and
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(ix) finance costs of approximately HK$7 million (2023:
HK$17 million).

After taking into account the tax credit of approximately
HK$0.4 million (2023: tax charge of HK$0.4 million),
the continuing operations of the Group recorded loss
for the year of approximately HK$263 million (2023:
HK$142 million).

Discontinued operations

During the last year, the Group had discontinued the
engineering operation upon the disposal of Paul Y.
Engineering Group Limited (“Paul Y. Engineering”) and
the property operation in the PRC upon the disposal of
Profit Tycoon Holdings Limited (“Profit Tycoon”). The
discontinued operations recorded loss of approximately
HK$567 million for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2024:
Nil).

Net loss for the year attributable to the owners of the
Company was approximately HK$265 million (2023:
HK$605 million) and basic loss per share was
approximately HK25.5 cents (2023: HK55.4 cents).
The decrease in net loss for the year was mainly
attributed to the net impact of (a) absence of loss from
discontinued operations for the year, as compared with
the loss attributable to shareholders of approximately
HK$461 million from discontinued operations upon the
disposal of the engineering and PRC property
operation during the last year; (b) share of results of
associates turned from a profit of approximately HK$41
million for the last year to a loss of approximately
HK$231 million for the year; (c) gain on disposal of
certain loss-making subsidiaries from its ports and
logistics business of approximately HK$59 million (2023:
Nil) for the year; (d) absence of impairment loss on
property, plant and equipment for the vyear, as
compared with approximately HK$54 million
impairment loss for the last year; and (e) reversal of
impairment loss on financial assets of approximately
HK$31 million for the year, as compared with
approximately HK$4 million reversal of impairment loss
for the last year.
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL POSITION

When compared with the Group’s financial position as
at 31 March 2023, total assets decreased by 50% to
approximately HK$976 million (2023: HK$1,949 million)
mainly due to the use of cash for repayment of
borrowings. As at 31 March 2024, net current liabilities
amounted to approximately HK$1 million (2023: net
current assets of HK$227 million), whereas current
ratio deriving from the ratio of current assets to current
liabilities decreased to 0.97 times (2023: 1.38 times).
After taking into account (a) the net loss attributable to
the owners of the Company of approximately HK$265
million; (b) the decrease in carrying amount of financial
assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income of approximately HK$116
million recognised in the investment revaluation reserve;
(c) the share of other comprehensive expense of
associates of approximately HK$3 million; (d) the
Renminbi exchange deficit of approximately HK$3
million arising from translation of foreign operations;
and (e) the reclassification of exchange surplus to profit
or loss upon disposals of subsidiaries of approximately
HK$33 million, equity attributable to owners of the
Company decreased by 31% to approximately HK$933
million (2023: HK$1,353 million), representing HK$0.90
(2023: HK$1.30) per share as at 31 March 2024.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had total assets of
HK$976 million (2023: HK$1,949 million) which were
financed by shareholders’ funds and credit facilities. A
variety of credit facilities were maintained to meet its
working capital requirements and committed capital
expenditure, which bore interest at market rates and
had contracted terms of repayment ranging from on
demand to one year. The Group mainly generated
revenue and incurred costs in Hong Kong dollar and
Renminbi. During the year, no financial instruments had
been used for hedging purpose and no foreign
currency net investments are hedged by currency
borrowings or other hedging instruments. The Group
adopts a prudent funding and treasury policy and
manages the fluctuation exposures of exchange rate
and interest rate on specific transactions.
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As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s bank and other
borrowings amounted to approximately HK$16 million
(2023: HK$535 million) with approximately HK$15
million (2023: HK$533 million) repayable on demand or
within one year and approximately HK$1 million (2023:
HK$2 million) repayable after one year. No borrowings
denominated in Hong Kong dollar (2023: HK$525
million) bore interest at fixed rate. Borrowings
denominated in Renminbi of approximately HK$16
million (2023: HK$10 million) bore interest at fixed rate.
The Group’s gearing ratio decreased to 0.02 (2023: 0.40),
which was calculated based on the total borrowings of
approximately HK$16 million (2023: HK$535 million)
and the Group’s shareholders’ funds of approximately
HK$933 million (2023: HK$1,353 million).

Cash, bank balances and deposits of the Group as at
31 March 2024 amounted to approximately HK$20
million (2023: HK$774 million), of which approximately
HK$6 million (2023: HK$756 million) was denominated
in Hong Kong dollar and approximately HK$14 million
(2023: HK$18 million) was denominated in Renminbi.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the year, the Group has not conducted any
equity fund raising activities. As at 31 March 2024, the
total number of issued shares of the Company was
1,040,946,114 shares with a par value of HK$0.1
each.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had no expenditure
contracted for but not provided for in the consolidated
financial statements (2023: HK$9 million in respect of
acquisition of certain property, plant and equipment
and properties interests).
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EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN
EXCHANGE RATE

The Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and
transactions are mainly denominated in Renminbi and
Hong Kong dollars. The Group is mainly exposed to
foreign exchange risk with respect to Renminbi which
may affect the Group’s performance. The Group
regularly reviews the balances of assets and liabilities
and the currencies in which the transactions are
denominated so as to minimise the Group’s exposure
to foreign currency risk. During the year, no financial
instruments had been used for hedging purpose and
no foreign currency net investments are hedged by
currency borrowings or other hedging instruments.

CONTINGENT LIABILITY

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had no contingent
liabilities (2023: Nil).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2023, the Group pledged certain
property interests and property, plant and equipment
of the Group with an aggregate value of approximately
HK$10 million (2024: Nil) to secure general credit
facilities granted to the Group.

In addition, as at 31 March 2023, the Group pledged
its shares in certain subsidiaries with a net assets value
of approximately HK$128 million (2024: Nil) to secure
the facilities granted.

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES AND
REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2024, the Group employed a total of
100 (2023: 150) full-time employees, inclusive of the
directors of the Company. Remuneration packages
consisted of salary as well as performance-based
bonus.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
COMPLIANCE MATTERS

Environmental Policies and Performance

We aim to operate our business with good
environmental protection practices which comply with
applicable laws, regulations and standards and we
endeavour to:

v

Apply practices which minimise, lessen or
remediate the impact of our activities on the
environment including potential air and
greenhouse gas emissions, wastewater
discharges, land contamination as well as
generation of wastes;

Use raw materials, energy and natural resources
as efficiently as possible and strive to improve that
efficiency; and

Adopt measures to mitigate the negative effects of
environmental incidents.

The aforesaid principles are enshrined in our
Environmental, Social and Governance Policy adopted
in June 2014. The Company is committed to managing
all business operations with sensitivity to environmental
protection. We will review our environmental protection
practices from time to time and will continue to apply
eco-friendly measures and practices in our operation.
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Relationships with Employees, Customers
and Suppliers and Other Stakeholders

The Company has committed to responsible practices
by adopting three guiding core values: Genuine;
Exceptional; and Involved as expressed in our Code of
Conduct. Operating with integrity, being ethical and
treating others with respect; creating exceptional
experiences that delight our stakeholders; and
inclusive, open and actively engaging our stakeholders
and serving communities. In essence, we adhere to
integrity, respect, responsibility, competence and
safety in carrying out our business. The following
principles, which are enshrined in our Environmental,
Social and Governance Policy and Code of Conduct,
are being adopted:

Employees
v' Providing a healthy and safe working environment;

v" Adopting and maintaining a positive safety culture
and behaviour;

v'Instituting occupational and community health/
hygiene programmes with an aim to eliminate or
mitigate safety, occupational and community
health and hygiene hazards;

v Offering suitable training and development
opportunities;

v" Providing equal opportunity throughout the Group
and treating employees fairly; and

v' Providing fair remuneration.
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Customers and Suppliers

v

Providing efficient and courteous services with
good value of money to customers;

Offering products and services with high standard
of safety, quality and reliability and accepting the
social responsibility for improvement;

Promoting fair and open competition for
procurement procedures through providing an
environment of mutual trust and impartiality to
suppliers and contractors; and

Prohibiting bribery and corrupt practices and
promoting responsible and ethical business
practices.

Information about the major customers, the credit
terms of customers and the Group’s management on
new customers and credit monitoring are set out in
Notes 7, 27 and 39(b) to the consolidated financial
statements respectively in this annual report.

Community Involvement and Other Stakeholders

v

Building and maintaining good relationships with
the communities and other stakeholders
associated with our operations;

Working with local authorities, governments, inter-
governmental and non-governmental bodies and
other relevant stakeholders to develop projects
that benefit the communities connected to our
operations in a sustainable manner;

Minimising the negative impacts of our operations
on the communities where we operate;

Investing in charitable and educational

contribution;

Supporting the community as a whole, especially
those communities in which our offices are based;
and

Supporting and encouraging our employees for
their charitable and community involvements.
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Further discussion on the Company’s environmental
policies and performance and the account of key
relationships of the Company with its stakeholders are
contained in the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” (“ESG Report”) from pages 74 to
109 of this annual report.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and
Regulations

The responsibilities of the Corporate Governance and
Compliance Committee (a board committee of the
Company) include general oversight of the Company’s
compliance with the legal and regulatory requirements
of its business operations. Significant non-compliance
with laws and regulations, if any, will be investigated by
the Corporate Governance and Compliance Committee
and escalated to the board as and when necessary.
During the year under review, no material non-
compliance of the laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group was noted.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group is affected by a number of risk factors,
some of which are likely to affect the performance of
businesses generally. Some risks are particular to the
Group’s operations.

As stated in the Risk Management Framework of the
Corporate Governance Report, key risks facing the
Group have been identified, assessed and prioritised
according to the likelihood of their occurrence and the
significance of their impact on the business of the
Group. Moreover, risk management measures are in
place to manage the risks to an acceptable level. This
section sets out a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group, based on our risks
assessment outcome. They are categorised under
“Strategic Risks”, “Operational Risks” and “Financial
Risks” and are not set out in priority order.
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BUSINESS REVIEW
REBRESR

Risk categories

[ B 38 B

Risk description

[ B 4 it

Risk change
during the
reporting
period

[ B A R 5
HANKE IEEHER

Key mitigating measures

Strategic Risks
5 W& B B

Concentrated investment

REBEEF

Business strategy
BE R

24

A significant part of the Group’s
operations is conducted in China.
Accordingly, business performance
and future prospects of the Group
will be adversely affected by
unfavourable changes in the
political, social, economic or tax
policies of the PRC government
and may lead to losses to the
Group.
AEBRRESOHEBHER
BleRA AEEBNKEXES
MARRAT =Pl ae & B A EH K
B e KB RBBBERA
MR EMXEINOZE -

Business strategic planning is
important to the Group to achieve
its core objectives. The objectives
of project companies may not be
in line with the Group.
KREXBREAHNEAEBEER
HEZOEREFERZ-HARQ
A BRI ER A~ —B o
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Remained > Establish mechanism to
broadly the
same

REAE ]

assess and closely monitor
any changes in the political,
social, economic or tax
policies of the PRC
government. Relevant
measures are also put in
place to deal with such
changes.

BN AR R ) B
AR BBAEG L
BB R EER
W2 T B B A
JE 1 52 e L o

Remained >
broadly the
same

REHEF

The Group focuses on its
core business extension and
development and conducts
macro-research and study
to reduce strategic risk.
Relevant measures are also
put in place to make sure
the objectives of project
companies to be in line with
the Group.
REBBREZOEBILTER
MER FARZEFM
B K 5% B R B - 3 B E AR
BTE i BERIEE A A
BiREEE—B-



Risk categories

[ B 38 B

Risk description

[ B 4 it

Risk change

during the
reporting
period

BB R H &

BUSINESS REVIEW
RBRER

Key mitigating measures

HANRE IEEBEER

Operational Risks
&E R

Environmental
R

As a substantial part of the
Group’s operations are conducted
in the PRC and are related to ports
and logistics business, we are
subject to various inspections,
examinations, inquiries and audits
by relevant PRC regulatory
authorities in accordance with
applicable PRC environmental,
health and safety (“EHS”) laws and
regulations, in which the outcomes
form part of the conditions for
obtaining, maintaining or renewing
various licenses, certificates and
permits required for conducting
our businesses. As PRC EHS laws
and regulations continue to evolve,
such changes may bring additional
compliance challenges and costs
to the Group’s businesses.
REBRBOBHEBKHER
MpREODRMBES &AM
BARERBRPEBEANERR @K
Mz 2(EHS]) ERERE X
TRBKE A ERNE
AOERER BENEFUSE
BN EBATFNIEER
BEMFAEE R OI DK
HoBEEPBEEHSERERNT
R ZFEZrgEegRlN
SEMNEBEREINNER L
B P B A A o

Remained
broadly the
same

REAE ]

»  Legal team of the Group has
been working closely with
operation units to assess
the impact of those
promulgated environmental,
health and safety laws and
regulations.
SENEZBHRELER
AIEEEE FAEHEBEM
BR BERLZEERE
R E o

» Policies to minimise the
environmental impacts from
operations have been
formulated and updated
regularly by reference to the
aforesaid laws and

regulations.

il 7 A8 B8 IR AR D AR

EEKH T EWRE it

ERERETERES

For more discussion, please see
the “ESG Report” from pages 74
to 109 of this annual report.
FZama2RRNEAFRERE
MRETAZI100B 2 REFE - 1= &
MERME] -
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BUSINESS REVIEW
REBRESR

Risk categories

[ B 38 B

Risk description

[ B 4 it

Risk change
during the
reporting
period

[ B A R 5
MR E

Key mitigating measures

TEEBER

Rules and regulations

EREFER

Changing rules and regulations
may adversely affect the Group’s
capacity to consummate important
transactions, enforce contractual
agreements or implement specific
strategies and activities.
TR ERIERATREE
HAEBRTKEER S #1T
& [Fl 1 &% 3 B b 55 E B A&
BHEENEETNEE -
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Remained
broadly the
same

REAE ]

Monitor changes to rules
and regulations and evaluate
their impacts to the Group.
ERARNMERN (L
HEEEARNEENTE -

Establish policies and
procedures to manage
those rules and regulations
that will have impact to the
Group.

il 7E BEE M A2 7 2R B 1R G
HASEEELEZENER
AR °

Monitor the Group’s
compliance with rules and
regulations that have
significant impact to the
Group.
EREASEETHALHE
BEEAZENERZNZE
o



BUSINESS REVIEW

FBER
Risk change
during the
reporting
Risk categories Risk description period Key mitigating measures
BB A ¥R
[ B2 38 5l [ B 4 HMANhE FEEHER
Financial Risks
B 7 2 B
Financial markets Financial assets held by the Group Remained »  Monitor changes in prices of
2R TS are subject to movements in broadlythe listed securities and evaluate
prices, rates, indices, etc., which same their impacts on the Group.
have affected the value of the AZ(iE[E B EmESFERESHT

Group’s financial assets and have
led to fair value losses to the
Group.

rEBERBRENEGREERE
BME BHEFEHNTE
THEAREEemEENE
B BRAEELERATEE
1|x o

Certain financial risks and uncertainties are also set out
in Notes 4, 5 and 39 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.

* For identification purpose only

AEEHASENTE -

»  Engage experts in providing
professional advices on
securities investments of the

Group.
EFERXBRAERIHFKR
ERHTEXER -

»  Perform regular valuations
for all major financial assets
of the Group and evaluate
their impacts on the Group.
THHEAXEERMBEEXESR
MEEETHE FMHHE
HAEENTE -

For more discussion, please see
Notes 39(b) and 39(c) to the
consolidated financial statements”
from pages 298 to 316 of this
annual report.
FZAmB2RAFERES
298E 316 B Z 4R A M MR Mt
72 39(b) %2.39(c) °

=T HBRERMAARREIFRASF
ERERGEEMBHRROMNES 5M
B9FEK °

*OEHES
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EEREN

MR KWONG KAI SING, BENNY
BB RR B St &£

Executive Director, Chairman and Managing Director

MITEF - TR

(appointed as the Managing Director with effect from 1 July 2023)

(B2023F7 A1 HHEEZ T AEE)

Mr Kwong Kai Sing, Benny, aged 65, was appointed
as a non-executive director of the Company on 9
February 2021 and was then appointed as the non-
executive chairman of the Company on 1 April 2021.
Subsequently, he was redesignated as an executive
director on 8 November 2021 and has concurrently
been the executive chairman since then. He was then
appointed as the managing director of the Company
on 1 July 2023 and remains as the executive chairman
at the same time. He is also a director of a member of
the group. Mr Kwong holds a Bachelor’s degree in Arts
from Simon Fraser University in British Columbia,
Canada. He held senior positions with major
international banks in Hong Kong in respective lending
departments and China department and has served as
executive director of various listed companies in Hong
Kong. Mr Kwong has extensive experience and
knowledge in banking and financial services industry.

Mr Kwong was an appointed member of the China
People’s Political Consultative Conference of the Hubei
Province and Zhaoqing City of the Guangdong
Province. He is the Audit Committee member of Tung
Wah College since 2013 and was the Hospital
Governing Committee member of Tai Po Hospital from
April 2012 to March 2021. His interest in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company, which was
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, is set out in the directors’ report.

The executive directors are regarded as members of the Group’s senior
management
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MR AU WAI JUNE
MERTE
Executive Director

HITEF

Mr Au Wai June, aged 60, was appointed as an
executive director of the Company on 18 January
2021. He is also a member of the Company’s
remuneration committee, nomination committee,
corporate governance and compliance committee and
share repurchase committee and is a director of
various members of the group. He graduated from
University of Windsor, Canada with a Bachelor of Arts
degree. Mr Au was the managing director of a
telecommunication equipment manufacturing and
trading company with more than 16 years of
experience and extensive knowledge in product
development, purchasing, production, business
administration and merchandising of both the People’s
Republic of China and overseas market.
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EERENT

MR WILLIAM NICHOLAS GILES
WILLIAM NICHOLAS GILES 5t &
Independent Non-Executive Director

BUIIFNTEF

Mr William Nicholas Giles, aged 62, was appointed
as an independent non-executive director of the
Company on 3 February 2021. He is also a member of
the Company’s audit committee, remuneration
committee and nomination committee and the
chairman of the Company’s corporate governance and
compliance committee and share repurchase
committee. He holds a Bachelor of Laws degree (Hons)
from The University of Sheffield. Mr Giles was admitted
as a solicitor in England & Wales in 1987 and in Hong
Kong in 1990. Mr Giles was a partner of Hart Giles,
Solicitors & Notaries until 30 June 2022. He has joined
Lee Law Firm as a senior consultant on 1 July 2022.
Mr Giles has over thirty years of extensive experience
in practising law as a specialist in largescale
commercial litigation, insolvency work, restructuring
and regulatory investigations. Mr Giles has acted in
numerous cases in the High Court and Court of Appeal
concerning civil fraud, white-collar crime, financial
services, employment, commercial contracts and
shareholder disputes. Mr Giles has also acted as a
liquidator of more than 70 companies. Mr Giles has
been an independent non-executive director of Esprit
Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda
with limited liability whose shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(stock code: 330), since December 2020.
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MR YU CHUNG LEUNG
RIFREE

Independent Non-Executive Director

BUIIFNTEF

Mr Yu Chung Leung, aged 53, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company
on 1 August 2022. He is also a member of the
Company’s remuneration committee, nomination
committee and corporate governance and compliance
committee and the chairman of the Company’s audit
committee. Mr Yu has over 29 years of experience in
auditing and accounting. He holds a Master of Arts in
international accounting from City University of Hong
Kong. Mr Yu is a member and an authorised supervisor
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He is a fellow member of The Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants, a chartered tax
adviser of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and a
practising certified public accountant in Hong Kong. He
is also a member of the Process Review Panel for the
Financial Reporting Council and an appointed member
of the 7" term Yuen Long District Council. Mr Yu is a
partner of Lee & Yu Certified Public Accountants. He
was awarded the Chief Executive’s Commendation for
Community Service in 2022. He has been an
independent non-executive director of Narnia (Hong
Kong) Group Company Limited, a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
whose shares are listed on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 8607),
since January 2019, an independent non-executive
director of Oshidori International Holdings Limited, a
company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability
whose shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code:
622) which is a substantial shareholder of the
Company, since July 2022 and an independent non-
executive director of Envision Greenwise Holdings
Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (stock code: 1783), since December 2023.
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MR LAM JOHN CHEUNG-WAH
EEERE
Independent Non-Executive Director

BUIIFNTEF

Mr Lam John Cheung-wah, aged 69, was appointed
as an independent non-executive director of the
Company on 1 August 2022. He is also a member of
the Company’s audit committee and corporate
governance and compliance committee and the
chairman of the Company’s remuneration committee
and nomination committee. Mr Lam has substantial
experience in the banking industry. From 1991 to
2005, he held various senior positions at Hongkong
Bank of Canada (currently known as HSBC Bank
Canada), HSBC California and Hang Seng Bank
Limited. He subsequently worked at Dah Sing Bank,
Limited from September 2005 to February 2012 with
his last position as an executive director, head of retail
banking. After that, Mr Lam acted as the vice chairman
and an executive director of Nan Fung Property
Holdings Limited in China Property Division between
February 2013 and December 2021, and he has
served as their consultant since January 2022.
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Mr Lam has been an independent non-executive
director of Wing Lee Property Investments Limited, a
company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability
whose shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code:
864), since February 2013, an independent non-
executive director of C&D Newin Paper & Pulp
Corporation Limited (formerly known as Samson Paper
Holdings Limited), a company incorporated in Bermuda
with limited liability whose shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(stock code: 731), since May 2022, an independent
non-executive director of Oshidori International
Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda
with limited liability whose shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(stock code: 622) which is a substantial shareholder of
the Company, since August 2022 and an independent
non-executive director of Envision Greenwise Holdings
Limited (formerly known as Golden Ponder Holdings
Limited), a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (stock code: 1783), since June 2023. He has
also been a non-executive director of Lincoln Minerals
Limited, a company incorporated in Australia with
limited liability whose shares are listed on the Australian
Securities Exchange (ASX: LML), since September
2023.

He graduated from Ryerson Polytechnical Institute
(currently known as Toronto Metropolitan University) in
Toronto, Canada in June 1988 where he received his
bachelor of business management degree. He is a
fellow of The Institute of Canadian Bankers and a fellow
of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. He was
a member of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference Guangzhou Committee.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Blue River Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) strives to attain and
uphold high standard of corporate governance and
maintain well-established corporate governance
practices for the benefit of shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) and other stakeholders.

To demonstrate the Company’s continued commitment
to high standards of corporate governance, the board
of directors of the Company (the “Board”) adopted a
Board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) in
June 2013, a summary of which is set out at pages 41
and 42 of this annual report.

The Company has also adopted the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
After having made specific enquiries, all directors of the
Company (the “Directors”) have confirmed their
compliance with the required standard set out in the
Model Code during the year ended 31 March 2024 (the
“Reporting Period”).

The Company has also established written guidelines
no less exacting than the Model Code (the “Model
Code for Employees”) for securities transactions by
employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished inside information of the Company. No
incident of non-compliance of the Model Code for
Employees by the employees was noted by the
Company during the Reporting Period.

Since the launch of the code of conduct of the
Company (the “Code of Conduct”) in October 2009, all
Directors, senior management and staff of the
Company have been under specific obligations to
comply with the ethics and principles under which our
business is conducted and have been allowed to
report actual or potential violations of the Code of
Conduct through specified procedure. Non-compliance
with the Code of Conduct will result in disciplinary
action. During the Reporting Period, we are not aware
of any non-compliance with the Code of Conduct.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE 1> ¥4 % 8

The structure below shows the key parties involved in LNTRERRNAEBE ZLEERTE R
our corporate governance practices and policies within EBEANSFERZEEAS

the Group:

corporate actions Re?oiting Reporting
HETBECEAD i % FE 3
OTHER Appointment
ES
STAKEHOLDERS BOARD =
OF THE COMPANY EER
AATEAMFGDE
e Investors
rESE
e | enders Reporting Appointment Reporting and/or
BRA [ 3% T recommendation
* Regulators R HREER
wEE v | ,,,,,,, ¢ |
? Pieme | | BOARD COMMITTEES
BEE . MANAGING DIRECTOR ! )
e Suppliers 1 U — F -3 EXTERNAL
Y] : et G AUDITOR
. e Corporate Governance and
. Cor;nmunlty Compliance ¥ &8 K %5 ShEe
HE Reporting e Nomination % B

SHAREHOLDERS
B3R

Approval of key

N g —> * Remuneration £

Reporting e Share Repurchase {7 [E &

E® ’—> Audit B4
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BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEES

Board Composition

In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of
the Listing Rules, there were five Directors in our Board
consisting of two executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors as at the date of
the directors’ report. Mr Yu Chung Leung (“Mr Yu”),
being the chairman of the audit committee of the
Company (the “Audit Committee”), is an independent
non-executive Director with the appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required under the
Listing Rules. The Board comprises not less than one-
third of the independent non-executive Directors
members and exhibits a strong independent element
which enhances independent judgement.

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to
the date of the directors’ report were:

Executive Directors

e Mr Kwong Kai Sing, Benny (“Mr Kwong”)
(chairman and managing Director)
(appointed as the managing Director with effect
from 1 July 2023)

e MrAu Wai June (“Mr Au”)

e Mr Marc Andreas Tschirner (“Mr Tschirner”)
(managing Director)
(resigned with effect from 1 July 2023)

e Mr Sam Nickolas David Hing Cheong (“Mr Sam”)
(vice chairman)
(resigned with effect from 1 July 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors
e Mr William Nicholas Giles (“Mr Giles”)

e MrYu
e Mr Lam John Cheung-wah (“Mr Lam”)

Details of the changes in Board and Board committee
composition with effect from 1 July 2023 were set out
in the announcement of the Company dated 30 June
2023.
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There is no relationship (including financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationship) among
members of the Board, particularly between the
chairman of the Company (“Chairman”) and the
managing director of the Company (“Managing
Director”, equivalent to chief executive officer of the
Company). Mr Kwong was both the Chairman and the
Managing Director since 1 July 2023.

Brief biographical details of each Director (including his
age, gender, professional qualification and experience)
are set out on pages 28 to 33 of this annual report and
are also available on the Company’s website
(www.blueriverholdings.com.hk).

The Company has also maintained on its website and
website of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) an updated list of its Directors
identifying their roles and functions and whether they
are independent non-executive Directors. Independent
non-executive Directors are also identified as such in all
corporate communications that disclose the names of
Directors.

Each independent non-executive Director shall inform
the Company and the Stock Exchange as soon as
practicable if there is any subsequent change of
circumstances which may affect his independence.
The Company has received a written confirmation on
independence from each of the independent non-
executive Directors. The Company considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors are independent
in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in the Listing Rules.

All Board members have complied with the requirement
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance regarding
disclosure of their respective interests in the Company
and its associated corporations, if any, during the
Reporting Period. Interests and short positions of the
Directors in shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations are
disclosed in the directors’ report on pages 118 and
119 of this annual report.
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Board’s Role and Delegation

The primary role of the Board is to maximise long-term
Shareholder value. It assumes the responsibility for
providing effective and responsible leadership and
control of the Company and directing and supervising
the Company’s affairs in pursuit of the Group’s
strategic objectives.

The Board, led by our Chairman, Mr Kwong, who
approves and monitors group-wide strategies and
policies, evaluates the performance of the Group and
supervises the management.

During the Reporting Period, the Board delegated Mr
Tschirner, who was the Managing Director at the
material time, the day-to-day leadership and
management of the Group. The senior management of
the Group, on the other hand, is responsible for the
management and administrative functions and the day-
to-day operations of the Group under the supervision
of the Managing Director.

Following the resignation of Mr Tschirner as the
Managing Director, Mr Kwong, who is currently the
Chairman and an executive Director, has been
appointed as the Managing Director concurrently with
effect from 1 July 2023.
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Pursuant to the Code Provision C.2.1 in Part 2 of the
Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 of
the Listing Rules (the “Corporate Governance Code”)
stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive
(the “CE”) should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Following the
resignation of Mr Tschirner as the Managing Director
(which is equivalent to the CE) with effect from 1 July
2023, Mr Kwong was appointed as the Managing
Director and has performed the roles of the Chairman
and Managing Director with effect from 1 July 2023. Mr
Kwong assumes both roles of the Chairman and the
Managing Director and is responsible for overseeing
the management and operations of the Group. The
senior management of the Group continues to be
responsible for the management and administrative
functions and day-to-day operations of the Group
under the supervision of the Managing Director, who is
concurrently the Chairman. Despite the deviation from
the Code Provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code, Mr Kwong continues to provide solid and
continuous leadership to the Group with his extensive
experience and knowledge in management and
maintain the continuity and efficiency in the
management and operation of business of the Group.
Moreover, under the supervision of other existing
members of the Board, including the independent non-
executive Directors, the Board is appropriately
structured with balance of power comprising
experienced and high caliber individuals with not less
than half of the number thereof being independent
non-executive Directors to provide sufficient oversight
to protect the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders.

The corporate governance structure of the Company
as disclosed in this annual report at page 35 shows the
detailed relationship between the Board, the Managing
Director and the senior management as well as other
stakeholders.
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Below is a summary of specific matters which are
reserved for the Board:

ATREZRFEEHNRHE

SUMMARY OF SPECIFIC MATTERS RESERVED FOR THE BOARD

ESREEEBNREE

Financial reporting and control
MBRENERE

Equity fund raising
BARER

Recommendation/declaration of dividend or other distributions

RS EMDIRNEREIK

Notifiable and connected transactions under the Listing Rules and inside information under the

Securities and Futures Ordinance

(ERHRBDAEAE T M MEER S R(EF LREHRIDFTEaREHEE

Capital reorganisation or other significant changes in the capital structure of the Group

% 7 2B 4 o A o B A 1 ) L B A

To facilitate effective oversight and decision making by
the Board, the Company has established a mechanism
to ensure independent views and input are available to
the Board. The Board comprises more than one-third
of independent non-executive Directors. They have full
and timely access to the Group’s information, and are
entitled to seek advice from the independent
professional advisers at the Company’s expenses in
appropriate circumstances. These independent
non-executive Directors provide a balance in the
Board, bring in view and opinion to the executive
Directors and the management, and oversee the
Group’s operation and corporate action. The Board will
review the implementation and effectiveness of such
mechanism annually.

During the Reporting Period, the Board had reviewed

and considered the implementation of the mechanism
was effective.
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Board’s Responsibility for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The Board acknowledged its responsibility for
preparing the consolidated financial statements of the
Group and for ensuring that the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group was in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable
standards.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company
concerning its reporting responsibilities on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group was set
out in the independent auditor’s report on pages 128
to 135 of this annual report.

Board Diversity Policy

As mentioned above, a Board Diversity Policy setting
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board was
adopted in June 2013. Pursuant to the policy:

(@) the Company recognises and embraces the
benefits of having a diverse Board, and sees
diversity at Board level as an essential element in
achieving a sustainable and balanced development
of the Company;

(b) the nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) is primarily responsible
for reviewing the structure, size and composition
of the Board, identifying and selecting suitable
individuals to the Board and making
recommendations to the Board on any proposed
changes to the Board; and

(c) selection of candidates for directorship with the
Company will be based on diversity of
perspectives which can be achieved through
consideration of a number of factors including
without limitation gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional
and industrial experience, skills, knowledge and
independence (if applicable).
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Having reviewed the Board Diversity Policy, the
Nomination Committee and the Board recognise the
importance and benefits of gender diversity at the
Board level and the Company is committed to
improving gender diversity as and when suitable
candidates are identified. The Company will take
initiatives to identify suitable candidate with priority on
enhancing the gender diversity by 31 December 2024,
In order to maintain gender diversity, similar
considerations will be taken when recruiting and
selecting senior staff and other employees. During the
Reporting Period, the Company maintained a balance
of gender ratio in the workplace, details of which were
set out in the environmental, social and governance
report on pages 74 to 109 of this annual report.

The Nomination Committee will monitor the
implementation of the policy and review the policy,
where necessary, to ensure its continued effectiveness.

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the
“Nomination Policy”), setting out the principles, which
guides the Nomination Committee to identify and
evaluate a candidate for nomination to the Board for
his/her appointment and for Shareholders in respect of
his/her election as a Director.

Pursuant to the Nomination Policy, the factors listed
below will be considered in assessing the suitability of
a proposed candidate:

(@) qualifications, professional experience, skills and
knowledge which are relevant to the businesses of
the Group;

(b) commitment in respect of available time and
relevant interest;

(c) regulatory requirements for appointment of
independent non-executive Directors and the
independence criteria set out in Chapter 3 of the
Listing Rules; and

(d) diversity perspectives set out in the Board
Diversity Policy.
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The above factors are for reference only and are not
meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination
Committee has the discretion to take into account
additional factors as it considers appropriate.

For filing a casual vacancy or as an addition to the
existing Board, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and
approval. For proposing candidates to stand for
election at a general meeting, the Nomination
Committee shall make nominations to the Board for its
consideration and recommmendation.

On making recommendation, the Nomination
Committee may submit to the Board for consideration
a proposal comprising, inter alia, the personal profile of
the proposed candidate with the candidate’s
information required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51
of the Listing Rules. In case of a proposed appointment
of an independent non-executive Director, the
candidate will also be assessed in accordance with the
factors set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

A circular containing information of the candidates
nominated by the Board to stand for election at a
general meeting (including names, biographic with
qualifications and relevant experiences, independence
and other relevant information) as required pursuant to
the Listing Rules, the bye-laws of the Company (the
“Bye-laws”) and other applicable laws, rules and
regulations will be sent to the Shareholders.

The Board shall be vested with power to make the final
decision on all matters relating to the recommendation
of candidates for appointment as well as for standing
for election at a general meeting as a Director.
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Board Meetings and Process

During the Reporting Period, 9 Board meetings were
held and the overall attendance of Board and Board
committee meetings were set out in the section
“Attendance Record of Meetings held during the
Reporting Period”.

The Board meets at least 4 times a year to review
financial performance, strategy and operations. Notice
of not less than 14 days (or such other reasonable
period) will be given for each meeting and agenda and
board papers will be given 3 days (or such other
reasonable period) prior to the meeting.

Senior management and professional advisers are
invited to attend Board meetings to brief the Board on
issues considered by the Board where appropriate. In
the event where independent professional advice is
required, the request for seeking such advice was
abided by pre-approved procedures.

The minutes for the Board and Board committees
meetings, which are recorded in sufficient detail, are
circulated to all Directors within a reasonable time
period after meetings for their comments and are kept
in the minute book for inspection by Directors.

Also, each Director is required to make disclosure of
his interests or potential conflict of interests, if any, in
any proposed transactions or issues discussed by the
Directors at Board meetings. Directors shall not vote
on any resolution of the Board approving any contract
or arrangement or any other proposal in which he or
any of his close associates is materially interested nor
shall he be counted in the quorum present at the
meeting.
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Board Tenure

As stipulated by the Bye-laws, all Directors (including
non-executive Directors) are required to retire by
rotation at least once every three years and seek for re-
election at annual general meeting. At each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being shall retire from office. Any new Directors
appointed either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the Board during the Reporting Period by
the Board following the recommendation of the
Nomination Committee are subject to re-election by
Shareholders at the next following annual general
meeting after their appointment.

All Directors had entered into letters of appointment
with the Company for a term of three years subject to
retirement from office by rotation and re-election at
annual general meeting.

The relevant retiring Directors, being eligible, have
sought for re-election pursuant to the Bye-laws. Their
respective biographies are set out in a circular, which
shall be despatched to Shareholders around 29 July
2024 to assist Shareholders in making an informed
decision on their re-elections.

Directors’ Commitments

All Directors are committed to devoting sufficient time
and attention to the affairs of the Group. They have
disclosed to the Company the identity of public
companies or organisations in which they have held
offices, and the number and nature of the offices, as
well as other significant commitments and are required
to notify the Company of any changes of such
information in a timely manner. Directors are also
required to confirm details of biographies and their time
commitments to the affairs of the Company as well as
the time committed to other public companies or
organisations and other significant commitments on an
annual basis.
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Training and Professional Development

For all newly appointed Directors, a comprehensive
and tailored induction is administered to ensure full
awareness of Director’'s duties and responsibilities
under statute and common law, the Code of Conduct,
the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements
and the business and governance policies of the
Group.

The Company recognises the importance of continuing
professional training for Directors and management
and believes that it is effective to enhance corporate
governance through regular training within the Group.
Directors are encouraged to keep up to date on all
matters relevant to the Group and attend suitable
briefings and seminars that provide updates on the
governing laws and regulations of the jurisdictions
where the Company operates businesses and
applicable guidelines and rules issued by regulatory
authorities organised by professional bodies from time
to time.

All Directors and senior management are required to
provide the Company with their training records on an
annual basis, and such records are maintained by the
company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) for regular review by the corporate
governance and compliance committee of the
Company (the “Corporate Governance and Compliance
Committee”). The training records of the Directors and
senior management for this Reporting Period were
reviewed by the Corporate Governance and
Compliance Committee in June 2024.
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According to the records, the Directors received the
following training with an emphasis on the roles,
functions and duties of a director of a listed company
in compliance with the Code Provision C.1.4 in Part 2
of the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix
C1 to the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period:

Directors

B3
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external
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Executive Directors
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Board Committees

Constantly striving to achieve greater transparency and
accountability to the Shareholders, the Board has
established five Board committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the remuneration committee of the
Company (the “Remuneration Committee”), the
Nomination Committee, the Corporate Governance
and Compliance Committee, and the share repurchase
committee of the Company (the “Share Repurchase
Committee”); each having specific roles, authority and
functions as detailed in the respective written terms of
reference which are accessible on the Company’s
website (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk). At least half
of members of all Board committees are independent
non-executive Directors.

The Board may also establish working committees
(including independent board committee) on an ad hoc
basis to approve projects as it deems necessary.

All Board committees have adopted, to a large extent,
the same principles, procedures, and arrangements as
those of the Board and are provided with sufficient
resources to perform their duties. The Board
committees will make recommendations to the Board
on a regular basis unless there are legal or regulatory
restrictions on their ability to do so.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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CEERRE
ATTENDANCE RECORD OF MEETINGS HELD DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD
RBEHRABTHERZEETE
BOARD COMMITTEES
EEREEE
Corporate
Governance
and Share
Board Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination Compliance Repurchase  Shareholders
EER BB B3] R”A TEEARER ROEE R R
Number of meetings held during
the Reporting Period
RBEHRBITEERE 9 3 3 2 2 0 1
Executive Directors
BITES
Mr Kwong [ 5 4 9/9 - — - - — 11
Mr Au 1 4 4 9/9 - 2/2 2/2 2/2 0/0 11
Mr Tschirner Tschimer %t 4
(resigned with effect from 1 July 2023)
(B20234F 7 A1 HEEAE) 3/3 - 1/1 - 1/1 0/0 -
Mr Sam it 5% &
(resigned with effect from 1 July 2023)
(B2023%7 A 1HEFHE) 3/3 - 1/1 1/1 - 0/0 -
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUYKHTES
Mr Giles Giles 5t 4 8/9 3/3 3/3 2/2 2/2 0/0 11
MrYu 7R %6 £ 9/9 3/3 3/3 2/2 2/2 - 11
Mr Lam & 4 4 8/9 3/3 3/3 2/2 2/2 — 11
Company Secretary
DARAWE
Ms Ho Sze Nga, Maggie fi] % 7 2 + 9/9 3/3 3/3 2/2 2/2 0/0 11
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The following tables show the composition of the A TNHXKBLRRABEHALEEZES
Board committees, their respective roles and functions BHEZRHIIEE=EREZE @M 4A
and a summary and/or report of the works performed X - HAGHBELETERE &5
by them during the Reporting Period and up to the R4 :

date of the directors’ report:

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
FHERE

Composition o MrAuf %4
AR (executive Director, appointed with effect from 1 July 2023)
(RITEE  H2023%7H1A#EZ(T)
e MrGiles Giles 5t £
(independent non-executive Director) (3 57 31 77 & %)
o MrYufRELA4
(independent non-executive Director) (317 FE# 77 & )
o MrLam # % 4 (chairman) (£ &)
(independent non-executive Director) (¥ 17 FF % 77 & %)
e Mr Tschirner Tschirner %t 4
(executive Director, resigned with effect from 1 July 2023)
($177EFE - H2023F7H1HEEHT)
e MrSam jt 54
(executive Director, resigned with effect from 1 July 2023)

($177EF  H202347 518 EFE)

Role & Function* Reviews the remuneration policy of the Company

poR=Ric) 4o e NSO E T NI e
Makes recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure for the remuneration of all Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of formal and transparent procedures for developing a policy on such remuneration
M EESTHRREEENFHBERAER URAFNEZSEFMBRR L —EERAMAFTHENER ME
ERIFHES
Determines or makes recommendations to the Board on the specific remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment
AREFIMEEREZZENRNTEERSAERENEEHTNGTE  BREYNE ERSENRBEES B(BE
ARERIRIEEHBBREZEMEMNOEMEESD)
Makes recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of Directors
MEFRHEZEFNHH
Reviews and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules
FHRIMACETRADE+CEETFRAROFENER

*  Please refer to the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee on the Company’s website (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) for further details.

“ BRJE I ERE L H R KL A A i (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) 2 Bl Z 8 & B 1 & [ -
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

FHEEE (&)

Summary of Work Reviewed the remuneration of Directors and senior management and made recommendations to the Board for
Performed Shareholders’ approval at 2023 annual general meeting (“AGM”)

ITHERE BAEERERERENE TREFHRLER AERRE2023FRRBAFAR S ((RRBFRE]) L&

Reviewed staff remuneration (including salaries and other benefits (inclusive of bonus) and retirement benefit scheme

contributions) for the Reporting Period and made recommendations to the Board accordingly
BN EBIRNBREHOHS (BEFHEEMEN (B LRKRBAAE MR Ut RAEERIRL RS

Reviewed the status by the share scheme(s) of the Company annually

FERE AR BB AR

Reviewed the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee

EHFHEZEaRERE

Reviewed and recommended the remuneration policy for approval by the Board

B MR EE E B UL H B EUR

Reviewed and recommended the remuneration package of Mr Kwong nominated by the Nomination Committee as the
Managing Director for approval by the Board and for Shareholders’ approval at 2023 AGM respectively
BARDNEZESTRHUERBRRNR2023FRRBFRNE I AERECZESREBEEBTEINTMETE
Proposed and recommended the adjustment of the remuneration package of Mr Au for approval by the Board

RENEIEERBANELEFHETE AR

Reviewed and recommended the remuneration packages of Mr Kwong, Mr Au and Mr Giles for a further term of 3 years
upon expiry of their existing terms of appointment for the approval by the Board

B REZEFRIERBELE  FARERGlesE ERKEHERELEREFHFITEIF

Performance-based Remuneration Policy

Director’s remuneration is determined with reference to
factors including prevailing market conditions, salary
paid by comparable companies, duties and
responsibilities of a Director, employment conditions
elsewhere and time committed by the Director
concerned.

The Remuneration Committee reviewed the
remuneration of the Directors and senior management;
and made recommendations to the Board.

A performance-based element was considered
instrumental in aligning the interests of individuals with
those of the Group and has been built into top-
management compensation.

The Group has adopted its own remuneration policy to
support the Company’s strategy. The Company is
committed to providing a fair and competitive staff
compensation that will attract, motivate, retain and
reward employees at all levels.

The Company has effectively deployed an appropriate
mix of its existing equity-based reward vehicles,
including the share incentive scheme(s), as well as
cash bonus.

R B AW H M BEUR

EZFMOIKR2EZEREZMEE -
BRBETHEBER  BR AR AN
ZEFERKF EFBBEESE - At
TZERBGEHUARBEEZTRAZE
& °

GHEEERFIESRER
S L EF B

EEE

RARBARMITREMEAF@ERRE
MeEHBETHEEZENEMR ME
BRI EERSEEETET

KEIEWH H B &7 &9 3 B B A 2
ISRVAIE KgTﬁﬁkﬁ””
&,\%R%ﬂﬂ’],\lﬁ C PABR 5]~ AR
B EELERSHRES -

ARNBBEMAREREBARND BE
B IRE S - BRI AR ET 8 A
KR EAL
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Details of remuneration of Directors and senior EZEEZENSAESEELSZMOFBEEH R
management are set out in Note 12 to the financial &K M T 12 -

statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
REZBES

Composition o MrAufEE
AR (executive Director) (¥ 77 & %)
e MrGiles Giles %t £
(independent non-executive Director) (3 17 FE# 77 & %)
o MrYuREHE
e MrlLam ¥ % & (chairman) (£ &)
e MrSamit % 4E
(executive Director, resigned with effect from 1 July 2023)

(B7TEFE - H2023%7F1HEEE)

Role & Function* Reviews the structure, size and diversity (including without limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational background,

AR ethnicity, professional and industrial experience, skills, knowledge and length of service) of the Board at least annually and
makes recommendations to the Board on any proposed changes
ZELOEFRINEERNER ARRZT(BEETRAMR - F&  XMERHBEER Bk BERITEE
KB KA MBRMBER)  UHEMBESDRAESBIR D ER
Identifies individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and selects, or makes recommendations to the Board on
the selection of, individuals nominated for directorships
NMERBERERNABAREEIESERKE  RINEXNEFRREELREZFFALLEES
Assesses the independence of independent non-executive Directors
AIRBFFRITEENBE LI
Makes recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, in particular, the Chairman and the Managing Director
HEFZEXENZE ULBESF(LERIFREAIETHEMEZTRRLER
Develops, reviews and recommends to the Board for adoption of measurable objectives for achieving and improving
diversity on the Board
REBERHEEFRUEZ LI 5] RARBEFAGEERTERERZE RN
Develops and reviews the policy, criteria and procedures for identification, selection and nomination of candidates for
appointment as Directors
BT R ME E2RREAEEANSEAAES ZHE RARER
Monitors the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy (a summary of which is set out on pages 41 and 42)
ERSERKNEZTEBR(ERBEHINEN RL2E)HATER
Monitors the implementation of the Nomination Policy (a summary of which is set out on pages 42 and 43)
ERRARK(EREHINFEIR2RIBE)MAITER

*  Please refer to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee on the Company’s website (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) for further details.
“ FRAE— g BB E L H R L A48 5 (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) Z 18 5 Z B & B g # [ -

Blue River Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERRE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

REZEE ()

Summary of Work Nominated the retiring Directors for re-election by Shareholders at 2023 AGM

Performed RARTESHE2023FRRBEFAG LEEEE

THERE Reviewed and assessed individual independent non-executive Director’s annual confirmation of independence declared

NOMINATION PROCEDURES, PROCESS

pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules

FHRTZBIFRITEFIZBCEMARRDESASGHMBARZ FEE T EHR A

Reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board from time to time

TRRNEERDHERE  ABRAK

Reviewed and recommended the Board Diversity Policy for the approval by the Board
BALEZEERUAEEERKNEZ TILEIE

Considered and recommended the gender diversity to be achieved in the Board

ERMNERNEZREBEMRNZ T

Discussed the gender ratio in the workforce and considered the challenges in achieving gender diversity across the
workforce

SRS E N 2 MERILL A - M EEAR 45 B ) B BRI % ol P TE R B9 PR ER

Discussed and considered the recommended disclosure in 2023 corporate governance report regarding the Board Diversity
Policy and the Nomination Policy and recommended them to the Board for approval

AL EERBE0BFE(CEERBRE)PNEAEHAEERHNEL TIEBRERRERRNEZRERNS I
REEERTUARE

Recommended to the Board for appointment of managing Director and change in composition of a committee of the Board
BREFREZTRAUREFEZRZE AN

Reviewed and recommended the appointments of Mr Kwong, Mr Au and Mr Giles for a further term of 3 years upon expiry
of their existing terms of appointment for the approval by the Board

BAREZEERAEREBEL A& - W5 & KGilesst AR HEREERHFHEF

Reviewed the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee

EHREACESRESEE

REERF BREUKRESL

AND CRITERIA

Nomination Committee
makes recommendations
to the Board on any
proposed changes

RAZB G ETAHE
EHNEERREHER

Nomination Committee
identifies individuals
suitably qualified to
become Directors

REZBEMEAHES
BERALTHEES

Nomination Committee
selects or makes
recommendations to the
Board on the selection of
persons nominated for
directorships

REZBEEkEIME
ERELEENERER
ERBZALTHAEES

The Board makes formal
invitation to selected
persons for appointment to
the Board

ERRAEKEALE
B A ) R
i
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

CEEARERESS

Composition

Mr Au 17 5 4

(executive Director) (%77 & %)

Mr Giles Giles 5& 4= (chairman) (£ &)

(independent non-executive Director) (¥ 17 FE#1 77 & %)
Mr Yu 7 55 4

(independent non-executive Director) (¥8 37 JE#1 77 % %)
Mr Lam % %t 4

(independent non-executive Director) (38 37 FE#1 77 & %)
Ms Ho Sze Nga, Maggie 1] &% # 22 £

(company secretary) (2 Al # &)

Mr Tschirner Tschirner 5t 4

(executive Director, resigned with effect from 1 July 2023)
($17TEE - 5202347 H1HEFHT)

Role & Function

AeEBE

*

Develops and reviews the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and makes recommendations to the
Board

BIELRBARARNCEERRRRER INEERRLEER

Reviews and monitors the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior management

BT REREFHSAETEENBIRBEEXER

Reviews and monitors the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and
meets with the management of the Company to assess the Company’s compliance policies, programs and procedures
RO RERAAREETEZEZREERATHTENBERER  TEARANEEBRITER  UTEERQFH
BIREE  FRKER

Develops, reviews, monitors and approves any code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees of
the Company and Directors

HE R ERREHEARARREEREENEMNTAENRARFM@E)

Investigates or causes to be investigated any significant instances of non-compliance or potential compliance violations that
are reported to the Corporate Governance and Compliance Committee
AEXLRHAEBRACEERARERZEGRBNEMNERERIEEERBER

Reviews the Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code as contained in the Listing Rules and disclosure
in the corporate governance report
BAARRFEF(ETRADAZCEEERFADNB AR E(REEARS)NHNEKE

Reviews the Company’s compliance with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide as contained in the
Listing Rules and disclosure in the environmental, social and governance report

BAARAEBETRADAZCRE HEREBBREEDNBERARENHNCRIR LG RERRE)AHHK

=

*  Please refer to the terms of reference of the Corporate Governance and Compliance Committee on the Company’s website (www.
blueriverholdings.com.hk) for further details.
B HFIE EBE L EH RN A4 U (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) 2 12 # BOE R A M E B S B EE [ -
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PANE"1F- RN
TERERERE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
TCEEAREBREZEES (H)
Summary of work Reviewed the corporate governance report for the Reporting Period
performed EHRRERZ(BEERARS)
THHBE Reviewed the updated compliance reports of the Company and its major subsidiaries and other relevant updates and the

Company’s compliance and corporate governance practices for the relevant period
FEHARFALETEMNBRAANEEBENEN R REREBHEBEN URAATNGHRREEELRER
Reviewed the recommendation of the relevant disclosure in the directors’ report, if any
EHREERBEEANMEEAREZEZZ(EHR)

Reviewed the confirmation of Directors” and senior management’s participation in training for the purpose of continuous
professional development during the Reporting Period in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code
EHREFREREERNBREPARR(EEERTADZATL2EUFEEXERRENZIEIERRR
Reviewed the terms of reference of the Corporate Governance and Compliance Committee
EHCEEAREREZEERESRE

Reviewed and recommended the policy on disclosure and public relations for approval by the Board
BALEZEERAERE R ALBEERBR

Reviewed the environmental, social and governance report for the Reporting Period

ERRMEBMORE LB RELBBRS)

Reviewed the shareholders communication policy

AR R B A BUR

Reviewed and recommended the code of conduct for approval by the Board

B kEHRESRHIL AT RTA

Reviewed and recommended the mechanism to ensure independent views and input are available for approval by the Board
BRALEZEERAERRESELERRE RAOKH

SHARE REPURCHASE COMMITTEE
BROEBEES

Composition o MrAu %A
#H R (executive Director) (#177 & %)
e MrGiles Giles %t 4 (chairman) (£ &)
(independent non-executive Director) (7837 FF#1 77 £ &)
e Mr Tschirner Tschirner %t 4
(executive Director, resigned with effect from 1 July 2023)
(H7TEF - H20236F7H1HEFIT)
e MrSam L5t 4
(executive Director, resigned with effect from 1 July 2023)
(B7TEF » H202347H1H#EEHT)

Role & Function* Exercises the general mandate granted by Shareholders to the Board to repurchase shares of the Company in accordance
AR with the Listing Rules, Bye-laws and the applicable laws of Bermuda
BECETRAD  RABUNARBREFERAEZE TERRERTEEREBARTARMZEN

*  Please refer to the terms of reference of the Share Repurchase Committee on the Company’s website (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) for further
details.
“ HEE—AFIE BB E L H R L A48 (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) Z R 17 1 BE 2 B & Bt iE [ -

Summary of work Reviewed the terms of reference of the Share Repurchase Committee
performed FEHROHEEZEeRERE
IHERE
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PANE"F- AN

TEERRE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

EREEY

Composition e Mr Giles Giles 7t 4

Flod (independent non-executive Director) (38 7 FE# 17 & F)

Mr Yu* 5 55 A * (chairman) (3 J&)

(independent non-executive Director) (& 17 FE# 77 # %)
Mr Lam & 5t 4

(independent non-executive Director) (¥ 17 3E 1 77 & %)

# Mr Yuis currently a certified public accountant with extensive experience in auditing, accounting and financial management services.

fORSAEBRR—HAMEAN ERH SHARMBEERETEHETEEER -

Role & Function*

AEEBE

Makes recommendations to the Board on appointment of external auditor
HREFEIEZBMAESBHIR L EH

Reviews the Group’s financial information

EHAEEMBE R

Oversees the Group’s financial reporting system, risk management and internal control systems
EEREEMBERGE REREERANLEZERS

Reviews the interim and final results of the Group prior to submission to the Board for approval
ERREZRIMAE A FHAKEPRAMKAEE

Reviews financial reporting and internal control matters and to this end has unrestricted access to both the Company’s
external and internal auditors

HMSERMAINEIZET - Wal AL B 6 AU IR R A TSNS A% 2UAD K ) 228 5T AP VIS B 28

*  Please refer to the terms of reference of the Audit Committee on the Company’s website (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) for further details.

Y BRE—FFE

BB B | # R R B] # i (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) 2 & 1% 2= 5 € Bt #5[F] -

Report on work
performed
THE®RSE

Reviewed unaudited and audited interim consolidated financial statements of the Group, the interim results announcements
of the Group and the interim report of the Company together with the audited annual consolidated financial statements of
the Group, the annual results announcement of the Group and the annual report of the Company with a recommendation to
the Board for approval

ERAERRLCERLILERTHEEUBERR FAERTPHPEERERARATHARE  URAEELER
FEGRGVBRERAREFEXELAERARAER  TREZEEFRHAB

Reviewed internal control and risk management framework of the Group

FEHAEEANTEEREARERIER

Received and reviewed progress reports on internal control, risk management and internal audit actions implemented/
planned by the Group

EPRLREMNAEERET FENANBEZE BRERLNBET TENERRS

Approved audit fee proposal of external auditor in connection with the audit of the Group’s consolidated financial statements
for the Reporting Period

BENEZEMREZEAEERNREP AW BBRRAEROZEE

Approved the engagements and the fee proposals of external auditor in connection with the review and audit of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the six months ended 30 September 2023

WEZEINEZBARER BN R B AEEH E2023F0A30R L AEAZGAMBREMBEANER
Approved the engagements of independent and professional consultants for reviewing and provision of the internal audit
environment, risk assessment services, and preparation of environmental, social and governance report for the relevant
periods

HEZRBYILEXERREAPEEHRREMABEN TR  RARTERSE  RERBR LeRELRBRS
Reviewed connected transactions of the Group and policies/guidelines of the Company
EHAEECHAER S RARBBKLIES

Recommended the re-appointment of Crowe (HK) CPA Limited (“Crowe (HK)”) as the Group’s external auditor at 2023 AGM
HER20FREABFAG LENZARSEE (BB GHMEEAERQ A ([HEEEEB) ) AEEE
TSRz BRD

Met with external auditor in the absence of executive Directors

ERBATESESNBRLT - & RINEZEE

Reviewed the terms of reference of the Audit Committee

EHNEETESREHE
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Communication with Shareholders

As part of corporate governance, the Company is
committed to safeguarding Shareholders’ interests and
maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders.

To achieve this, the Company has established a
shareholders communication policy setting out various
channels of communication with Shareholders and
investor community for ensuring effective disclosure of
the Company’s performance and business activities.

The Company regards its physical Shareholders’
meetings as a valuable forum for Shareholders to raise
comments and exchange views directly with the Board
face to face. The Shareholders are encouraged to
attend the general meetings of the Company. All our
Directors and senior management and representatives
from external auditor will make effort to attend
Shareholders’ meetings and address queries from
Shareholders in order to provide Shareholders a clear
and adequate explanation of any matters to be
considered at the Shareholders’ meeting.

During the Reporting Period, the Company held one
general meeting. Voting on resolutions put forward at
the general meeting has been taken by way of poll and
the poll results have been published and posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. Al
resolutions put to Shareholders were passed at the
said general meeting. The resolutions and the
percentage of votes cast in favour of the resolutions
are set out below:
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THE COMPANY’S GENERAL MEETING(S) HELD DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD

REEHANEBTHNEAQXTRRAE

AGM on 30 August 2023*
R2023F8HA30HBITHRRAE"

Approval of the 2023 audited accounts
WiB20283F R K EZIR B
Re-election of Mr Kwong as Director

Re-election of Mr Giles as Director
BiEGlestERES

Approval of the fixing of Directors’ remuneration
RRETEEME

Re-appointment of Crowe (HK) as auditor and authorisation to the Board to fix its

remuneration

% of Votes Cast For

BREEMLR
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%

BEZABREEE(BFE)RREMAEEEERETENS

Grant of general and unconditional mandate to Directors to issue shares

RYTEZFHITEROO —REEKRERE

Grant of general and unconditional mandate to Directors to repurchase shares

HTESHEROH —MEEGEREER
Extension of the share issue mandate to Directors

BARTESHITHRMO ZEND

99.94%

100.00%

99.94%

Representatives of Crowe (HK) attended the AGM on 30 August 2023 to answer possible queries.
BEEEE(FE)HREZER2023F8HA30H HERTRAFAE AL EEEEH -

Apart from holding Shareholders’ meetings, the
Company also endeavours to maintain effective
communication with all Shareholders through other
channels such as publication of annual and interim
reports, announcements as well as circulars (all in
bilingual) so as to provide extensive information on the
Group’s activities, financial position, business strategies
and developments to enable them to make informed
decision on matters relating to their investment and
exercise of their rights as Shareholders. Such
information is also available on the websites of the
Company (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) and the
Stock Exchange.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Our website is an effective means of communication
with Shareholders. Any Shareholders who have
questions or comments on what we are doing are
most welcome to contact us at any time through our
website. We will use our best endeavour to answer the
questions within a reasonable time.

The Board reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the abovementioned arrangements
during the Reporting Period. The Company’s website
was updated from time to time and the Shareholders
could access the latest information of the Company
through the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. The Shareholders were provided with the
opportunities to communicate with the Directors
directly at Shareholders’ meetings. Based on the
above, the Board was of the view that the
arrangements regarding Shareholders’ communication
were effective.

Shareholders’ Rights

Convening of SGM on Requisition by
Shareholders

The Company recognises the importance of ensuring
that Shareholders’ rights are protected. In accordance
with the Bye-laws and the applicable laws of Bermuda,
all the Shareholders are entitled to attend or be
represented by proxy, speak and vote at general
meetings. Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the Company Secretary, to require a SGM to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business or resolution specified in such requisition.
Such meeting shall be held in the form of a physical
meeting only and within two months after the deposit
of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit
the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionists themselves may convene such
physical meeting in accordance with the provisions of
Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.
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Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
General Meetings by Shareholders

Shareholders holding (i) not less than one-twentieth of
the total voting rights of all Shareholders having the
right to vote at the general meeting; or (i) not less than
100 Shareholders, can submit a duly-signed written
request stating the resolution intended to be moved
together with a statement of not more than 1,000
words with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at
a particular general meeting and deposited at the
registered office of the Company.

The Company would take appropriate actions and
make necessary arrangements, and the Shareholders
concerned should have deposited a sum reasonably
sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in giving
effect thereto.

Procedures for Director’s Nomination and
Election by Shareholders

All Shareholders have the right to propose person for
election as Director in accordance with its Bye-laws and
the relevant procedure and details for proposing a person
for election as Director has been made accessible on the
Company’s website (www.blueriverholdings.com.hk).

Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries
to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing by post to the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong or by
email to info@blueriverholdings.com.hk for the attention
of the Board.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

Responsibility

The Board assumes responsibilities for ensuring that
appropriate and effective risk management and internal
controls systems of the Company are established and
maintained in line with the Corporate Governance
Code. The Board considers that sound risk
management and internal control systems are vital to
the achievement of the Group’s strategic objectives
and acknowledges its responsibilities to establish,
maintain and review the effectiveness of such systems
on an ongoing basis.

Management of the Company is responsible for the
design, implementation and ongoing monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems of the
Group to achieve the following business objectives:

effectiveness and efficiency of operations

reliability of financial reporting and non-financial
reporting

compliance with applicable laws and regulations

Such systems are designed to manage, rather than
eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and aim to provide a reasonable, as
opposed to an absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Audit Committee has ongoing responsibilities to
review the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems and to
report to the Board at least annually.

The Company adopts policies and procedures which
provide a framework for risk management and internal
controls, with the aim of fulfilling the responsibilities of
the Board and the management of the Company.
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The table below shows the roles and responsibilities of
the key parties in our risk management and internal

control systems:

Board
EER

TRETREZABERMNEREE
MAMEEZRAMEENAGR
BE

Sets strategic objectives

il & BB B 15

Oversees management in the
design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk
management and internal control
systems
EEEEEYRAREE LKA

EmRGMRT  ERAMER

Managing Director & Senior Management
HEREREEE

Evaluates and determines the
nature and extent for the
Group’s principal risks
A EENEZER K
HETHMEEMEE

Provides direction on the
importance of risk management
and risk management culture
HEREEREEUNERE
B iRt W

Audit Committee

BEREEE

Assesses risks group-wide and develops
mitigating measures

R B EEN ARFMEE R MG E R & #

=it

Designs, implements and monitors the risk
management and internal control systems

RET BHREMEREREEMAZLEEZE RS
Provides confirmation on the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems to the
Board/Audit Committee

HEAREENAREZRASNERERNES

B/ ERE R RERE

Operation Management
EEEHERE

Reviews the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems of the Group
T AT 7R & B R B i TR AN A B BS 1 R AT EY B AU

Internal Audit Function

MEBE TR BE BRI

Supports the Audit Committee in reviewing the
effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems
XEEZZESUHRAREEMAIELRE RH
ZBBEEH BT

Implements and monitors the risk management and internal control procedures across the business

operations and functional areas of the Group

EmkEREEEXBEENBESMANEREREMAIEZERRF
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Risk Management Framework [ B & 2 HE 4R

The Company has established an enterprise risk AAGEEY —ENCXRABEEE
management framework to identify business risks that 22 - LA B AJ g 2 £ A & F 7 ¥ 7% [
may impact the Group, to assess the likelihood and &« FF{H EKEB O Al e KB E T
potential impact of the business risks, to manage 2.8 2 R | b A EHOE oA S K
business risks within its risk appetite, to monitor  E RN R EEIEE KR - LA E N X KB
business risks in response to the change in business EM &t BER AL T B EIREHS
environment, so as to provide reasonable assurance  IE/R[E o T B B R~ AN £ B BT L 47 /Y R
regarding the achievement of the Company’s P& EIEZ :

objectives. The diagram below shows the risk

management framework adopted by the Group:

Strategy KB
Risks are considered
Vision when setting strategy.
Statement
FE=EH o
- FE i 7E 58 B A
ZREARRAE -
Policy
BR
Process 872
Identify
Bl
Process applies standard
procedures, assessment tools
Report Risk Analyse and market practices.
B Management A
Process \@ 30 a5 S 4 30 B
AR ETRE BETEA T RENES
Al 7705 R IS5 MUE ©
Monitor Respond
B 5] fE
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Elements JTZ

s Human L
Organisation R Communications
esource -
Structures Mechanisms and Training
¢ oy S iﬁ:é|
HEBRE A R EiE N
Performance Management A
p ssurance
Measure Commitment R
BRIER EEERE :

Risk assessment is performed annually to evaluate the
nature and extent of the risks to which the Group is
exposed. Management of the Company had carried
out risk assessment exercise during the year ended 31
March 2024. During the risk assessment process, the
Group has identified principal and significant risks
faced by the Group, covering potential strategic risks,
operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks of
its major business segments. The Business Review
section of this annual report provides description of the
Group’s principal risks and uncertainties, which some
of them could affect the performance of the Group’s
business and operations. Each of the identified risk
was rated at “High”, “Medium” or “Low” level after the
consideration by the management of the Company.
Respective internal control measures were proposed
to mitigate the consequences of the identified risks to
the Group to an acceptable level.

To support management of the Company in
responding to risks arising from the complex and
changing business environment, regular training is
provided to our management to strengthen their
awareness of risk and capability to manage risks.
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Internal Control Systems

The Group’s systems of internal control were
developed by making reference to the Internal Control
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission
(“COSO”") in the United States and the Guide on
Internal Control and Risk Management issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The Company’s internal control framework is
established under the five interrelated components of
the COSO Framework. They are Control Environment,
Risk Assessment, Control Activities, Monitoring as well
as Information & Communication. The key internal
control procedures and measures are implemented
under the five components in supporting the
achievement of its strategic goals and mitigation of its
business risks.

The table below represents internal control framework
of the Company under COSO framework. It also
illustrates how the five internal control components are
implemented in a correlative and effective manner:

1

CONTROL
ENVIRONMENT

ERERE

4 INFORMATION & COMMUNICATION
AR EEE

MONITORING
B

3

CONTROL
ACTIVITIES

EEEY
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Internal Control Procedures and Credit Risk
Assessment for Money Lending Business

The Group has provided money lending services to
corporate clients. The source of funding for the
Group’s money lending business is financed by the
internal resources of the Group. The clientele primarily
consists of niche customers including high net-worth
corporations mostly referred by the Company’s senior
management, business partners or clients or clientele
with past business or dealings with the Group.

The management of the Company is primarily
responsible for designing, implementing and
maintaining the credit policies and internal control
procedures of the Group’s money lending business,
and has full authority to handle all credit matter for, and
monitor, the loan portfolio.

The loan applications, ongoing monitoring and
collections of the money lending business of the Group
are led by an executive Director who has approximately
6 years’ management experience in financial services
and money lending business and is supported by
employees of the Group including qualified
accountants.
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Loan approval

Upon receipt of a loan application from a potential
borrower, due diligence works will be carried out by
the supporting employees for the money lending
business on the creditworthiness of the potential
borrower and to understand the borrower’s repayment
ability including the borrower’s identity, background,
financial conditions and the purpose of the loan
through (i) interview with the borrower; and (i) review
the statutory and financial supporting documents
provided by the borrower and/or obtained from
external sources and relevant public record searches.
Throughout the credit assessment procedures, certain
key factors are being considered to assess the
borrower’s repayment ability, which includes: () the
financial strength of the borrower; (i) the historical
credit and repayment record of the borrower; (iii) any
guarantee offered by, and the financial strength of, the
guarantor; (iv) any collateral offered and the quality and
liquidity of such collateral; and (v) the purpose of the
loan and the corresponding repayment plan.

The loan terms are normally arrived at by arms-length
negotiations with the borrowers on case-by-case
basis, after considering the due diligence and credit
assessment result as mentioned above and a
combination of other factors including prevalent market
interest rates and the quality of collateral offered. Final
decision on any loan application is subject to review
and approval by the executive director leading the
money lending business. Significant loan which may
constitute a disclosable transaction under the Listing
Rules is subject to further review and approval by the
Board.
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Ongoing monitoring of loan recoverability and
loan collection

The management of the Company is primarily
responsible for the ongoing monitoring of the credit
quality of the loan portfolio. The supporting employees
for the money lending business check for any
irregularities of the borrowers, guarantors and
collaterals (including litigation and bankruptcy or
winding up searches, news or events that may have
negative bearings on the loans or the repayment ability
of the borrowers) regularly (generally on a half-yearly
basis, or more frequently if the credit risk is found to be
increased) and report to the director for any material
financial events in relation to the loans.

The supporting employees for the money lending
business will remind the borrowers of the repayment
schedules via phone calls, email or text messages
when the loans are due. For overdue or default loans,
follow-up actions including issuing demand letters,
seizing collateral, demanding repayment from
guarantors and initiating legal proceedings will be taken
on a case-by-case basis by the decision of the
management of the Company.

In case the borrower requests for extension or
modification of the repayment schedule, a new
approval has to be obtained by going through the loan
approval procedure again.

INTERNAL AUDIT

Internal Audit Function of the Company (the “IA
Function”) is maintained internally and plays an
important role in the internal governance of the Group.
The IA Function reports directly to the Audit Committee
on risk management and internal control-related
matters. With the assistance from internal audit
department of its subsidiaries whenever necessary, the
IA Function is primarily responsible for conducting
analysis and independent appraisal on the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Group’s systems of risk
management and internal control on an annual basis.
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The IA Function is independent from operational
management and is fully empowered to access to data
required in performing internal audit review. Moreover,
the function comprises well qualified and capable staff
and is provided with adequate resources to perform its
duties.

Every year, the IA Function formulates an internal audit
plan based on the result of abovementioned risk
assessment on an annual basis. The internal audit plan
is determined using a risk-based approach and is re-
assessed for update annually. Annual internal control
review determined on the internal audit plan are
executed upon approval from the Audit Committee to
carry out independent appraisals to evaluate the
effectiveness of the Group’s systems of risk
management and internal control.

During the process of the annual internal control
review, key controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls, are evaluated. Any significant
internal control findings are defined and discussed with
respective process owners in order to formulate
remedial action plans to address the control gaps
identified. The IA Function conducts follow-up reviews
periodically to monitor the status of the remedial
actions. Results of the annual internal control review
and follow-up reviews are reported by the |A Function
to the Audit Committee for review and approval.

The Company has engaged an independent and
professional consultant (the “Consultant”) during the
year ended 31 March 2024 to assist the Audit
Committee in meeting the requirements of risk
management and internal control under the Corporate
Governance Code. The Consultant provided assistance
to the Audit Committee in assessing and evaluating the
adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group. The
Consultant also assisted in assessing if the Company
has established and maintained appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control
framework with recommendations for enhancement
and improvement.
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Annual Confirmation

Every year, the Board has, through the Audit
Committee, reviewed the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions, and their training programmes and budget,
and was satisfied with the results of the review.

The Board has assessed the scope and quality of the
Group’s ongoing monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems. Based on the results of
the internal audit works as described under the section
“Internal Audit” above, the Board considered the risk
management and internal control systems are effective
and adequate for the year ended 31 March 2024. The
Board was not aware of any significant areas of
concerns that may affect the Group to achieve its
strategic goals.

Procedures and Controls for the Handling
and Dissemination of Inside Information

Proper measures have been taken by the Group to
comply with the requirements under “Part XIVA —
Disclosure of Inside Information” of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance to ensure that inside information
remains confidential until the disclosure of such
information has been properly approved, and
disseminate in an effective and consistent manner.
Such measures include establishment of the inside
information identification, reporting, and disclosure
protocol and procedures.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR

Crowe (HK) has been re-appointed as the Company’s
external auditor at the 2023 AGM until the conclusion
of the next annual general meeting.

The Audit Committee in its meeting on 25 June 2024
recommended the re-appointment of Crowe (HK) as
the Company’s external auditor at 2024 AGM and the
Board has adopted the same view as that of the Audit
Committee.

In order to maintain independence, Crowe (HK) is
primarily responsible for providing audit services in
connection with the Group’s consolidated financial
statements, and only provides non-audit services that
do not impair their independence or objectivity and are
approved by the Audit Committee.
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REMUNERATION PAID OR PAYABLE TO CROWE (HK) FOR AUDIT AND NON-AUDIT SERVICES
ENRENTFEESE(FBNRARFLERBHE

1/4/2023 1/4/2022

to 31/3/2024 to 31/3/2023

20234 20224

4H1H 481H

220245 Z2023%F

3H31H 3H31H

HK$’000 HK$’000

Services Rendered 12 B9 AR 7 FHET FHETT

Audit services % 8 AR 75 1,730 2,280

Non-audit services FEZ EUR TS

Review of interim condensed 25 3 /1 HA R4 AF

consolidated financial statements AWK 600 1,100

Taxation advisory 75 5 5 49 49

Special engagements LR 90 480

Total 48 2E 2,469 3,909
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

Constitutional Documents

The Company’s memorandum of association and
Bye-laws (in both English and Chinese) are
available on the websites of the Company
(www.blueriverholdings.com.hk) and the Stock
Exchange.

No amendments have been made to the Bye-laws
during the Reporting Period.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

Throughout the Reporting Period and up to the date of
the directors’ report, the Board has reviewed the
corporate governance practices of the Company and
continued to apply the principles of, and complied with,
the applicable code provisions in Part 2 of the
Corporate Governance Code except for certain
deviations as specified with considered reasons set
below.
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Code Provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of
chairman and CE should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. Following the
resignation of Mr Tschirner as the Managing Director
(which is equivalent to the CE) with effect from 1 July
2023, Mr Kwong was appointed as the Managing
Director and has performed the roles of the Chairman
and Managing Director with effect from 1 July 2023. Mr
Kwong assumes both roles of the Chairman and the
Managing Director and is responsible for overseeing
the management and operations of the Group. The
senior management of the Group continues to be
responsible for the management and administrative
functions and day-to-day operations of the Group
under the supervision of the Managing Director, who is
concurrently the Chairman. Despite the deviation from
the Code Provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code, Mr Kwong continues to provide solid and
continuous leadership to the Group with his extensive
experience and knowledge in management and
maintain the continuity and efficiency in the
management and operation of business of the Group.
Moreover, under the supervision of other existing
members of the Board, including the independent non-
executive Directors, the Board is appropriately
structured with balance of power comprising
experienced and high caliber individuals with not less
than half of the number thereof being independent
non-executive Directors to provide sufficient oversight
to protect the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

This environmental, social and governance (“ESG”)
report (the “Report”) of Blue River Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Reporting Period”)
covers environmental (Subject Area A) and social (Subject
Area B) topics as set out in the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide (the “Guide”) in
Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Corporate governance is addressed separately
in the Corporate Governance Report (the “Corporate
Governance Report”) set out in pages 34 to 73 of this
annual report (the “Annual Report”).

SCOPE OF THIS REPORT

The ESG information in this Report covers material
issues (the assessment process for which is detailed in
the section titled “Materiality Assessment and
Stakeholders Engagement” below) of all of our
business segments discussed in the “Business Review”
section of the Annual Report, except for those business
entities: () in which the Company does not have a
controlling interest; and (i) whose ESG implications are
considered insignificant to the Group.

Upon and after the disposals of Paul Y. Engineering
Group Limited and Profit Tycoon Holdings Limited in
March 2023, the Group no longer engaged in (i) the
engineering business and (i) the land and property
development and investment business in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC” or “Mainland China”) (the
“Discontinued Businesses”). The remaining business
segments have become more significant to the Group
and the scope of this Report has been revised for the
Reporting Period, being (a) excluded the Discontinued
Businesses and (b) included the Property Business,
Securities Business and Financial Services Business (as
defined below), collectively referred to as the “Property,
Securities and Financial Services Businesses”.
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Hence, the business segments for the Reporting
Period were: () the development and operation of
ports, infrastructure, gas distribution and logistics
facilities in Wuhan, Hubei Province (the “Ports and
Logistics Business”); (i) the property investment
business in Hong Kong (the “Property Business”); (iii)
the securities trading and investment business in Hong
Kong (the “Securities Business”); and (iv) the provision
of loan financing, financial related services and cash
management services in Hong Kong (the “Financial
Services Business”).

THE COMPANY’S APPROACH TO ESG
RISKS, IMPACTS, OPPORTUNITIES AND
REVIEW OF ESG PERFORMANCE

We consider ourselves duty-bound to assess and
manage all foreseeable risk factors as effectively as
possible. We believe that effective management of ESG
risks, impacts and opportunities can deliver more
sustainable and improve financial performance in long
term.

We recognise the need to assess ESG risks in our
investments and the operational process of our
subsidiaries and their impact on financial performance
and the communities where both we and our
subsidiaries operate.

Our vision and strategy for ESG is set out broadly in
our ESG policy (“ESG Policy”). The guiding principles
for each ESG area (as detailed in the “Business
Review” section of the Annual Report) have been
developed in line with our approach to ESG
management strategy. Through dialogue with the
management of our business units and other
stakeholders, we develop strategic approaches to
address ESG challenges and integrate these into our
business practices. We also monitor ESG performance
through regular reviews and enhance ESG awareness
through training. Relevant findings and recommendations
are reported to the Board of Directors of the Company
(the “Board”) on an ongoing basis.

RiR - HERER®RE

At mEMAZRHDES ()R
tEREETEH  ERRE MR
ENMRRBZERNEE(EDR
MRERD  (WREBETEHERE
EB(MEXRB]D  (I\RBEETES
RHEMBREXEBTEFERKD  Kv)
REBRBERBE 2 BAERMRRS
ERSEERS (2 BRBES] -

ANBEBERE HEREBH
B ENMEBNLERYER
B oHERERRENE

BMRABARRBEETLEATRLB R
WEFGHMEERMEANUERLNRERE
Z - HMBEEELERRE HLELE
ARRER  FEFKE RERRBESE
BEAUFBEUHREFHNTERI -

Tt

HPMERAINAEL2FERMERE L
AEMBARERLEBREPHIRE
e kegnRl UREMETBR
BRBEMMHBAREEMENTRE
R E-

9

-~

BRPERNERE e hE BRI M
REERMNERRE T8 RERKRE
(MMRE - -He B ARK)PEHIR-
BERE dehkEadl(EFHRN
[XBEGIZEHFH) BB REINTY
REHRMANRE LB REARAEER
BETEHMBIE BERXREEEEM
ZEEBMEME N ENHF A
HERBERYRE e kERHK
BUYSKEMBRARBELES - RMAMN
BATHEREERR H£aREAR
R ARBEIBIEINE SRR L8 &k
EUBE M WA IR AR A B IR A
BREAARREZR(EZRDER-

EmMEZERAERLDT 2024 F 7R

75



76

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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We require all business units to implement the
necessary level of risk management and internal
controls to ensure compliance with our ESG Poalicy,
considering their specific business needs and
circumstances. We ensure that all employees receive
the relevant information, training and supervision to
mitigate and manage the associated ESG risks. A
strong emphasis is placed on preventing accidents and
incidents, but in the event that they occur, we have
appropriate emergency plans that are routinely
rehearsed.

Business units are required to perform risk
management and internal control review annually to
assess the effectiveness of their internal control
systems. The risk assessment is conducted using a
questionnaire which includes ESG matters. The
methodology for reviewing the effectiveness of these
risk management and internal control systems is
detailed in section titled “Risk Management
Framework” in the Corporate Governance Report of
the Annual Report.

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS
AND TARGETS

The Company recognises the need to integrate ESG
risks, impacts and opportunities into its business
strategy. The integration aims to deliver not only robust
financial performance but also sustainable development
of the Group over the long term. The Board determines
the ESG goals and targets, ensuring alignment with the
current performance and its strategic future
development of the Group. The Group is dedicated to
addressing carbon emissions and wastes in its daily
operation. The Board and the management are
responsible for reviewing these goals and targets, with
the objective of achieving continual improvement in
ESG performance of the Group.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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RiR - HERERRSE

ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE BiE HEREARITEANELREE

Board of Directors

EER

Has overall respgnsipili% for the Company’s ESG strateg¥ and reporting
HARNRIMIRE Mg kERRERERKELILST A

Sets the Company’s performance targets for ESG management

BIERARAIERE HEREABEAENKRRER

Delegates the day-to-day responsibility for ESG-related matters to senior management and ESG reporting committee of the Company (the
“ESG Reporting Committee”)

ﬁ%%xﬁi}@&ﬁi‘am BAEENEEREZEGALRASNEEERERE HekEBoREEZE2((BRE L RERW
oOxE8H®

Approves ESG Policy and ESG Report

FHRE HEREABRRIER H@REOAMSE

Audit Committee Corporate Governance and Compliance Committee
EREBER TEEAREREER

Reviews the effectiveness of risk Reviews ESG policies and practices developed by senior management and ESG
management and internal control Reporting Committee and makes recommendations to the Board N
systems related to ESG matters BRI AEEEMRE HERERABREZESHHEMNERE HLERER
CHEEE RS-, ¥ BRER CAEERRLES
B8 R 2| B B IR RN P B ES 4R AR Y Reviews the progress on achieving ESG performance targets
AR RUERRE HEREARRIBENEE

Reviews and monitors the Company’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements
related to ESG matters and meets with the management to assess related compliance
policies, programs and procedures

B REERARNAEETRE HEREAEBEFENZEREEMATTEMNE
o WREBEBRITEE  UTEHEBNERABE  FRRERF

Investigates or causes to be investigated any significant instances of non-compliance or
potential compliance violations that are reported to the corporate governance and
compliance committee of the Company

AENRHASTAARACEE A RERZESRGNTMNEERIBEEER

Reviews ESG Report developed and prepared by senior management and ESG Reporting
Committee

%@?%E%&%@@&%% CHEREABRESEZEEMHERRRIEERE HE8R
BRMS

Senior Management and ESG Reporting Committee
BREEEREE HBREARABREZEES

Develops the Company’s ESG policies and practices

HIEARBIMIERE HERELRERTER

Designs, implements and monitors the risk management and internal control systems related to ESG matters
FEF BREMEREIRE HERELFEMENREREIEMAIEZERR

Develops the actions in achieving ESG performance targets

HERERRE HEREARBREEMTNTHY

Ensures compliance with legal and regulatory requirements related to ESG matters

BRETHEERERE HEREAFTAMEANEIEREERTE

Prepares ESG Report with the assistance of external consultant

FEINBEMN B THREERE e RERRE

ESG Working Group
RiE HERERIFAE

Assists senior management and ESG Reporting Committee in developing ESG policies and practices and preparing ESG Report
BHEREBERER HEREAREZEGHTRE HENEABRERERNEHERERE L RELARE
Assists senior management and ESG Reporting Committee in developing actions for achieving ESG performance targets
BEEABEERIFE HEREARSEZERFITERAEIRE g RELRBIBEMHNTH

Assists senior management in coordinating and implementing ESG policies and practices

M ERERERERERER HEeREARERTR

Departments and Business Units
EPP R EM K E BN

Complies with ESG policies and practices developed by senior management and ESG Reporting Committee
BEAGREEBRERE HEREABRSLZEGHTENERE HEREABRERER
Implements good operation practices and ensures ESG compliance in daily operations
EMRTEERTUERBRIEPBARRR L RELNEGRYE

Implements the actions required to achieve ESG performance targets

RERRERRE HERERRRESAENTE
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HERERRE

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT AND
STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

In deciding what ESG information to be included in this
Report, we have taken into account the materiality of
the relevant information, that is, its significance and
relevance to the Company’s business and operations.

The materiality matrix below shows the results of our
materiality assessment for the Reporting Period:

Crucial

BEE

Water consumption
FEKE

Energy use efficiency
HER £ A X 28

Water sourcing

IR

Employee turnover
BIR%

vVvyyvyy

P Packaging material used

ERZBEME

External assessment (Impact on stakeholders)
T E(HEFERENEE)

EEZEMFANEOESHE

EREMERE L@ kE0ERA
MARREER - HMEEMN Eﬂi\ﬂé’]
BE2N AEUYARAEBLREE =
BEZMMER -

ATHEZMHEERERTHRMERS
HANEZEFHER

P> Emissions

P> Total hazardous waste produced
EEREYEER

P> Total non-hazardous waste produced
BREBRRVEER

| 2 Measures to mitigate emissions

W HE R e

» Wastes management
BEEYER

P Direct and indirect energy consumption
BERBEERERE

P Significant impact on environmental and natural resources
HRENBAERNEALE

P> Significant impact of climate change and mitigation action
RIFBENEALERBERTH

P> Work-related fatalities and injury
BEIEEENRETCHNES

P> Occupational health and safety measures
BxRERZ2EIE

P> Labour standards
AT XA

» Suppliers’ engagement practices
HEFERARE

P Products sold or shlpped subject to recall for safety and
health reasons
HRZ2AERERABRHESHENER

> Complaints over products and service
E m M R IR 5

> Quahty assurance process and recall procedures
MmERE /)lb*ﬁE*u BEERF

P> Consumer data protection and privacy policies
HEEERRENBIBGR

P> Anti-corruption
RES

p Commitment to community
B 84 &

P> Workforce by gender, employment type, age group and
geographical region
RMER - BEEE - FRANMNGEERHISNEEH D
» Employees training
8 I I
P> Suppliers by geographical region
R it & o Y LIRS
P> Intellectual property rights
HEER

Not relevant Internal assessment (Impact on business)

Crucial

ENEL IR (HEBHHE) R
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Based on the annual materiality assessment, the
following principal ESG issues are identified as our key
aspects:

e  (Climate change: Climate change presents a global
challenge and more stringent laws and regulations
regarding disclosure requirements have been in
force;

e  Energy management: Effective energy management
can reduce energy consumption and improve
operational performance and productivity of our
Group;

e  Care for employees: We value our employees as
fundamental to our sustainable business
development and ongoing success. We are
committed to safeguarding their labour rights,
health and safety, and actively strive to improve
their working conditions in order to retain our
employees;

e Product/Service responsibility: High-quality
products and services are vital for enhancing
brand image, customer retention and maintaining
customer loyalty; and

e [Effective corporate governance: It is essential for
ongoing development and success of the
Company’s business, ensuring regulatory
compliance, enhancing competitiveness and
building long-term enterprise value.

The matrix is based on both internal and external
materiality assessments conducted for the Reporting
Period. By engaging our key stakeholders, the
assessment results provide an important reference for
our ESG management and information disclosure. The
internal materiality assessment involved senior
management and other key employees of the
Company. The external assessment involved
stakeholders such as relevant government and
regulatory bodies, customers, suppliers and the
communities where our businesses operate. These
stakeholders were identified by consulting various
departments within our business units such as sales
and marketing, procurement, legal and finance.
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Key stakeholders of the Company are engaged
through ongoing and comprehensive communication
channels to understand their concerns and
expectations.

Below is the table listing our key stakeholders, their
primary concerns and our channels of ongoing

engagement:

Key stakeholders Key concerns

FERNE BEEH

Shareholders and Financial performance and
investors position

REMKZEE B RS R IR KRR

Corporate governance
hEER

Sustainable development

AIFEER
Lenders Financial performance and
ERA position

A5 R KGR R

Corporate governance
TEER

Regulatory bodies Compliance
EERE B
Corporate governance
TEER

Laws, regulations and practices

R RBRE R
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RAREBFEMETENBBRS
£

TERMHEBR  NEREELR
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TREIBEMANEIERNE  HBE
B UERBRMEESEMBEAEN

2

Engagement channels

Annual and interim reports

FHAFP RS

Announcements and circulars

D RIBH

General meetings

RERXE

Meetings and interviews

R

Information disclosed on the Company’s
website

RARBBIEANEEZE R

Business visits

(SR EET]

Information disclosed in the Company’s
website

RARBHEEANEEZER

Liaison through email and telephone
FAE FHM REFEEG

Compliance reporting
& R E W
Consultation

2t
2] =]

Meetings
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Seminars and workshops

Mgk ITES

i
]

s



Key stakeholders
FTEFOE

Customers
BP

Suppliers
HrEm

Employees

(==

Community
1t =
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Key concerns

BXEH

Quality of products and services

EmMREE R

Corporate reputation
PEEE

Data privacy

BRILE

Business integrity and conduct

XBEREMTH

Corporate reputation
TEEE

Fair and ethical business practice

RNFERBEREEF A
Long-term relationship

RHA FR&

Health and safety
EEEZ S
Remuneration and benefits
¥ B An 48 A

Training and development
HHIE R

Equal opportunities
FERE

Corporate culture
hEXIE

Social contribution

=g

Environmental responsibilities
RIBEEME

Community participation
HEan

RiR - HERER®RE

Engagement channels

BERE

Daily operations

HEZE

Business visits

15 T

Meetings

L

Customer satisfaction survey
EPMmEBEHRAE

Complaint handling mechanism
& 5 Be 12

Brochures and leaflets
M F K B Bk

Procurement and tendering process
REBERZRE

Business visits

(SR E=T]

Seminars and workshops

Mgl TIED

Training workshops and seminars
B TEY B &

Regular performance reviews
EHRRE

Meetings and discussions
EELEE

Company activities

NEEE

Company notices

NAAE

Enquiry and complaint handling mechanism

= o B 3 B T

Charitable donation
HERE
Community investment
HRKRE

Volunteer activities
EREEH

EmMEZERAERLDT 2024 F 7R

81



82

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES

In the preparation of this Report, we have applied four
reporting principles listed below:

Materiality: This Report presents the identities of our
key stakeholders and their concerns. It also explains
the methodology for determining material issues and
use the materiality matrix to demonstrate the priority of
each issue. Please refer to the section titled “Materiality
Assessment and Stakeholders Engagement” for further
details.

Quantitative: This Report discloses Key Performance
Indicators (“KPIs”) in a quantitative manner with
measurable criteria, and reports emission and
employment data according to the standards,
methodologies, assumptions or calculation tools used,
and source of conversion factors used, where
appropriate, for the reporting of KPIs. Please refer to
the sections titled “Key Performance Indicators —
Environmental” and “Key Performance Indicators —
Social” for further details.

Balance: This Report discusses our achievements and
challenges in all aspects of sustainable development,
aiming to provide an unbiased picture of our
performance to the stakeholders.

Consistency: This Report uses same methodologies
as in previous years wherever possible and explains
any changes to the methods used where appropriate.
It ensures that a consistent method is used to provide
ESG data that is comparable with historical data.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

We strive to comply with all relevant environmental
laws and regulations applicable to our various business
operations. Our legal team has been working closely
with our business units to assess the impact of
promulgated environmental protection laws and
regulations such as:

e the “Air Pollution Control Ordinance, Cap. 311,
Laws of Hong Kong”;

e the “Waste Disposal Ordinance, Cap. 354, Laws
of Hong Kong”;

e the “Water Pollution Control Ordinance, Cap. 358,
Laws of Hong Kong”;

e the “Noise Control Ordinance, Cap. 400, Laws of
Hong Kong”;

e the “Motor Vehicle Idling (Fixed Penalty)
Ordinance, Cap. 611, Laws of Hong Kong”;

e the “Environmental Protection Law of the PRC”;

e the “Law of Prevention and Control of Atmospheric
Pollution of the PRC”;

e the “Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law
of the PRC”;

e the “Law of the PRC on Noise Pollution Prevention
and Control”;

e the “Law of the PRC on the Prevention and
Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid
Waste”; and

e the “National Environmental Emergency Response
Plan”.

Policies to minimise the environmental impacts from
operations have been established and are promptly
updated in accordance with the aforesaid laws and
regulations. Moreover, a reporting system has been
developed and all our business operating units are
required to promptly report any significant non-
compliance issues, including those related to the
environment, to senior management.

During the Reporting Period, there was no material
non-compliance with laws and regulations related to
environment that could have had a significant impact
on the Group.
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AIR EMISSIONS

The emission sources mainly come from the operations
of the Ports and Logistics Business. For example,
sulphur oxides (“SOx”) and nitrogen oxides (“NOx”) are
produced from fuel consumption of liquefied petroleum
gas (“LPG”) filling trucks, patrol vehicles, lawn mowers,
office vehicles and cooking stoves. Particulate matter
(“PM”) is generated from the dust that arises from fuel
consumption by vehicles, trucks, vessels and cargo
handling equipment. The combustion of fuels from
these mobile sources also leads to greenhouse gas
(“GHG”) emissions. Our direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)
come from the use of petrol/gasoline and LPG, while
our indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2) come from the
consumption of purchased electricity. Dust, exhausted
gases and other airborne particles are produced from
the operations at fuel storage-tank farm and
compressed natural gas (“CNG”) fueling stations.
Additionally, a small humber of fugitive emissions are
released between storage tanks and pipelines during
the transmission of LPG and CNG.

Since the Property, Securities and Financial Services
Businesses are primarily conducted in office, the main
sources of the GHG emissions are vehicle fuel and
indirect emissions from office electricity use. Hence,
their air emission amount is not significant.

Various preventive and corrective measures have been
implemented to address the air emission issues arising
from our operations.

Controlling vehicles’ speed at fuel storage-tank farm
and CNG fueling stations as well as performing regular
cleaning and maintenance of paved access roads has
been performed to minimise the impact of SOx, NOx
and fugitive emissions. LPG and CNG leakage
detectors have been frequently used to monitor and
ensure that no incidents of vast leakage occur during
the LPG transmission and CNG filling services.
Furthermore, to minimise GHG emissions, gasoline and
diesel that comply with national standards have been
used in all vehicles and regular maintenance has been
carried out. We prioritise the use of equipment that has
energy efficiency labels or that uses renewable energy
and we monitor exhaust emissions on a regular basis.
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Being a responsible enterprise, we are dedicated to
minimising negative impacts of air emissions and
energy consumption on the environment. By managing
emissions and consumption, we endeavour to increase
resource efficiency through sustainable operations. We
have implemented the aforementioned environmentally
friendly and sustainable measures to reduce carbon
emissions and wastes, and to enhance energy
efficiency.

SEWAGE

Domestic sewage generated by staff at the CNG
fueling stations is treated by a septic tank. The effluent
discharged from septic tanks is either used by local
villagers for vegetable farming or discharged into the
municipal sewage network. In addition, industrial
sewage, such as wastewater from stockyard and
machinery cleaning, is produced during our ports and
logistics operations at fuel storage-tank farm and river
terminal. The LPG-carrying vessels berthed at the river
terminal produce oil-contaminated sewage.

Sewage treatment facilities such as sediment tank and
oil-water separation system have been set up. A transit
collection device has been installed on the deck of the
river terminal to collect domestic sewage and oil
sewage from the berthed vessels.

Sewage is treated to remove contaminants before
being reused or being duly discharged in compliance
with the “Prevention and Control of Water Pollution of
the PRC”. Ground flushing water is duly discharged
into the nearby river after undergoing oil-water
separation treatment. Water used for cleaning and
cooling storage tanks is recycled through a pipe
network and directed to a pool for reuse or in case of a
fire emergency. At our river terminal, a local sanitation
company has been engaged to collect sewage from
our LPG-carrying vessels during our ports and logistics
operations.
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WASTE MANAGEMENT

The availability of suitable land for landfill is decreasing,
while concerns about environmental and health
impacts of landfill sites and waste treatment (both
hazardous and non-hazardous ones) are increasing.
We endeavour to reduce the amount of waste being
transported to landfills or processed in other ways by
implementing source reduction and we encourage
reusing and recycling as much as possible.

Hazardous waste such as used engines and lubrication
oil from machinery maintenance at fueling stations,
fluorescent lights, used printer cartridges and vehicle
batteries, must be first stored in a designated storage
areas and then collected by licenced contractors or
taken to designated recycling stations. We strictly
prohibit dumping, discarding or stacking hazardous
waste to avoid any land or water pollution.

Non-hazardous waste generated by the Group mainly
consists of domestic and office waste such as
wastepaper. To achieve waste reduction, we advocate
for green office environment by encouraging employees
to minimise paper consumption through the use of
digital documents instead of printing and by adopting
double-sided printing. We minimise the consumption of
disposable items by replacing them with reusable ones.
For example, we have replaced disposable paper cups
and utensils with glass cups and metal cutlery in our
office.

In compliance with the “Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste of the PRC”,
our domestic waste management system has been
established, encompassing classification, collection,
transportation and treatment processes. Non-
hazardous waste such as employees’ domestic and
office waste is classified into recyclable or non-
recyclable waste. Non-recyclables waste is collected
periodically by eligible sanitation companies in
accordance with the revised laws and regulations.
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USE OF RESOURCES

Energy consumption has a direct effect on our
environment, operational costs and exposure to
fluctuations in energy supply and prices. This is
because most of the energy consumption comes from
fossil fuels. The extraction, transportation and
processing of fossil fuels may cause land degradation,
water and atmospheric pollution and the usage of
these fossil fuels will generate GHGs which are the
major cause of climate change. On the other hand,
water is becoming a precious resource especially
under increasing pressure from factors such as
drought, population increase and rising demand for
industrial uses. To reduce its environmental impact and
enhance resources efficiency, we have adopted
policies on the effective use of resources in accordance
with the relevant requirements of the “Energy
Conservation of the PRC”, the “Water Law of the PRC”
and the “Mineral Resources Law of the PRC”.

Various measures have been implemented to
encourage energy saving. The results of the
implementation of energy-saving plans are linked with
the management’s annual performance appraisal. At
our river terminal and CNG fueling stations, regular
maintenance of motor vehicles and trucks has been
conducted and LED lights have been used to enhance
energy efficiency.

In offices, efficient use of electrical appliances has been
promoted to staff such as turning off lighting during
breaks and shutting down all appliances after office
hours. Some of our offices have installed temperature
guides for switching on air-conditioners only when the
temperature has reached a pre-set level.

For water usage, measures such as efficient use of
water have been promoted and communicated to staff.
Water-efficient fixtures and fittings such as
showerheads, taps and hoses have been installed at
some operation sites. In our LPG storage-tank farm,
pools have been used to collect used water which is
recycled for tank cooling during summer heat and for
fire emergency purpose. Given the nature of our
business, sourcing water is considered as a non-key
issue for the Group.
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The Company is committed to managing all business
operations with sensitivity to environmental protection.
We will review our environmental protection practices
from time to time and will continue to apply eco-friendly
measures and practices in our operations.

CLIMATE CHANGE

Climate change has emerged as one of the hottest
issues across the globe in recent years. In view of this,
we have raised awareness of the risks and
opportunities facing the Group due to climate change.
We have integrated climate-related considerations into
our risk management system to identify the climate-
related risks that may impact the Group’s operations
and development. The identified climate-related risks
and corresponding actions taken to manage them are
as follows:

To achieve sustainable development, governments
around the world have successively formulated
climate-related regulations to support the global
decarbonisation vision. The governments will formulate
stricter policies and regulations to achieve carbon
neutrality. For example, the Mainland China and Hong
Kong have pledged to achieve carbon neutral by 2060
and 2050, respectively. The transition to a low-carbon
society might lead to a significant impact on the
business operations of the Group. As the relevant
governmental policies become more stringent, the
compliance and operational costs are expected to
increase. To mitigate the impact, we regularly monitor
existing and emerging trends of government policies
related to climate change, strengthen communication
with regulatory authorities, adjust our risk management
measures in a timely manner, and improve the
compliance and quality of our emissions and climate
change disclosures.
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Furthermore, the increasing frequency and intensity of
extreme weather events such as typhoons and heavy
rainfall, may cause damage to the Group’s properties
and disrupt the supply chain network. Extreme heat
and humidity may also affect the productivity of the
employees. The Ports and Logistics Business, in
particular, has a greater chance of being exposed to
these events. For example, extreme weather may
disrupt the logistics, leading to delays in the supply of
gas and potentially damaging the fueling stations’
facilities, thus posing a threat to the operation of the
gas distribution business. To address these risks, we
have implemented various mitigation and adaption
measures. We have formulated operational procedures
such as safety management plans and environmental
management plans for different extreme weather
scenarios. We also closely monitor the latest weather
updates and follow recommendations from local
governments to develop emergency plans, strengthen
warning forecasts and improve emergency response.
In addition, we maintain property and employee
insurance to protect the interests of our Group and
reduce potential financial loss.

ESG investment is becoming an increasingly popular
investment approach as it involves greater
consideration of climate change and ESG-related
issues within the investment strategies of the
Company. Hence, investment decisions of the
Company may be affected and may have an adverse
influence on the financial performance of the Company.
As a responsible investor, particularly in the Securities
Business, we aim to incorporate ESG aspects into our
analysis and investment decisions, and continue to
monitor the ESG performance of our investments. We
are committed to building a sustainable future by
investing in businesses with low pollution or if possible,
even in ESG-focused firms.

We have integrated climate-related considerations into
our decision-making processes and will actively study
and review the response measures to address the
potential risks and opportunities of climate change to
ensure our business remains resilient against relevant
climate risks in the future.
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B - HERERERS

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS — FEENIEE — BIghET 285
ENVIRONMENTAL "otes - 2ands
PROPERTY,
SECURITIES AND
ENVIRONMENTAL KPIs UNIT PORTS AND LOGISTICS | FINANCIAL SERVICES | KPI Ref.
REBRENESR B BORIR Mx - BHEKR BREXN
TR EE2E
2024 2023 2024 2023
Emission
2358
Nitrogen oxides "¢ Tonnes 0.09 0.23 0.0034 0.0029 | <A1.1>
ALy I
Sulphur oxides "¢ Tonnes 0.00014 0.00043 0.00007 0.00006
i g e I
Particulate matter "o® Tonnes 0.01 0.02 0.00025 0.00022
B Ry Mo 17
Greenhouse gas emissions Tonnes 37.13 68.79 12.59 11.09 | <A1.2>
— Scope 1 Nete6 i
BERBHN - &E T
Greenhouse gas emissions Tonnes 376.96 550.52 19.96 22.04
— Scope 2 Nete6 7
BERBHN - BE2TE
Total greenhouse gas emissions Tonnes 414.09 619.31 32.55 33.13
MERBHMER [
Sales volume 10,000 Tonnes 0.84 1.15 N/A N/A
HE 10,0000 TEH NER
Office area Square Feet N/A N/A 3,672 3,672
PAEHERE FAR TEH TEH
Total greenhouse gas emissions | Tonnes/10,000 Tonnes 492.96 538.53 N/A N/A
by sales volume 88,/10,000 4 FEA TEA
RERBHMAS (RIEHE)
Total greenhouse gas emissions Tonnes/Square Feet N/A N/A 0.0089 0.0090
by office area W8,/ AR TEA i A
mERBHNEE
(B AZEHER)
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RiR - HERER®RE

PROPERTY,
SECURITIES AND
ENVIRONMENTAL KPlIs UNIT PORTS AND LOGISTICS | FINANCIAL SERVICES | KPI Ref.
REBBENESR By BORIR ME - BHR BREN
ERRE ER2Z
2024 2023 2024 2023
Wastes
BEY
Hazardous waste "ees 3and7 Tonnes 1.93 1.11 N/A N/A | <A1.3>
BERERY R i TER NEmA &
Non-hazardous waste " Tonnes 21.25 23.58 N/A N/A | <AT.4>
EEEEY I i @A ~ER
Total wastes "3 Tonnes 23.18 24.69 N/A N/A
EEymE e i TER ~ERA
Sales volume 10,000 Tonnes 0.84 1.15 N/A N/A
HE 10,000 1 TE R A
Office area Square Feet N/A N/A 3,672 3,672
WAEMEE AR TEA ~ERA
Total wastes by sales volume Tonnes/10,000 Tonnes 27.60 21.47 N/A N/A
BRYBE(REE) g /10,000 1 FER TER
Total wastes by office area "o¢® Tonnes/Square Feet N/A N/A N/A N/A
BEYBERBEATER) W,/ AR TER TEA FER @R
Energy Consumption
BERH A
Petrol KWH 85,931 125,500 45,876 40,392 | <A2.1>
bl TR
Diesel Moe6 KWH 1,534 69,989 - -
g'g /Hﬂ Hite % I H_\ij_
LPG KWH 43,384 47,600 - -
AL AR TRE
Electricity KWH 660,986 962,371 30,240 32,412
EN TRE
Total energy consumption KWH 791,835 | 1,205,460 76,116 72,804
EREREEE TRk
Sales volume 10,000 Tonnes 0.84 1.15 N/A N/A
HE 10,000 TEA TER
Office area Square Feet N/A N/A 3,672 3,672
PAEER FAR TER TEA
Total energy consumption by KWH/10,000 Tonnes 942,661 | 1,048,226* N/A N/A
sales volume T FLBF,/10,00008 TEA @R
EREREBE (RHEE)
Total energy consumption by KWH/Square Feet N/A N/A 21 20
office area TRE/THR & A TiEfA
RREREE (RFAZER)
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PROPERTY,
SECURITIES AND
ENVIRONMENTAL KPlIs UNIT PORTS AND LOGISTICS | FINANCIAL SERVICES | KPI Ref.
REBBENESR B BORYR ME - BHR BREN
SRR EE2Z
2024 2023 2024 2023
Water Consumption
¥KE
Municipal water supplies "otes 4ad6 Cubic Meter 5,043 12,314 N/A N/A | <A2.2>
i R fit K et 26 K FER TR
Sales volume 10,000 Tonnes 0.84 1.15 N/A N/A
HE 10,000 18 FER TR
Office area Square Feet N/A N/A 3,672 3,672
WAEEE FAR T A @R
Total water consumption by Cubic Meter/ 6,004 10,708 N/A N/A
sales volume 10,000 Tonnes TE R E A
FEKBE(RHEE) 3 A /10,0008
Total water consumption by Cubic Meter/ N/A N/A N/A N/A
office area "t Square Feet TER ~EHA TER A
Fk@E(RRLEEE) SHK/FHR
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Notes:
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Environmental KPIs in this data table reflected the data for the reporting
periods from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024 under the 2024 column and
from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 under the 2023 column respectively.

The Property, Securities and Financial Services Businesses for the
previous reporting period were not included in the ESG scope of the
Group. After excluding the Discontinued Businesses, the Property,
Securities and Financial Services Businesses were included in the ESG
scope for the Reporting Period. For better comparison, the environmental
KPIs of the Property, Securities and Financial Services Businesses for the
previous reporting period were also disclosed.

The Group considered the hazardous or non-hazardous waste generated
from the operation of the Property, Securities and Financial Services
Businesses to be immaterial and therefore no disclosure was made for
these KPIs and was marked as not applicable (“N/A”) in the table.

The water supply and discharge for the office premises of the Property,
Securities and Financial Services Businesses were managed by the
building’s property management. As a result, this data was not available
to the Group. The Group considered the water consumption for the office
premises to be immaterial and therefore no disclosure was made and was
marked as N/A in the table.

The Company’s business activities have no environmental impact
regarding packaging material for finished products and therefore no
relevant KPI was disclosed in the table.

The emissions of NOx, SOx, PM and GHG along with diesel and water
consumption of the Ports and Logistics Business have significantly
decreased as compared to the previous reporting period. This reduction
was attributed to the closure of LPG fueling stations and the going down
of the CNG distribution business.

The significant increase in hazardous waste of the Ports and Logistics
Business was mainly due to large-scale maintenance of machinery at
fueling stations during the Reporting Period for the purpose of enhancing
machine efficiency.

Recalculated and restated.
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BRI HERER®RE

SOCIAL

Credibility and reputation are invaluable assets for the
Company which operates in diverse economic, social
and cultural contexts. Therefore, we have developed
common principles, values and responsibilities that
guide our relations with the market, the communities in
which we operate, the people who work with us and all
those who have a legitimate interest in our activities.

In social context, the Company will maintain the
following core values:

Genuine

We are sincere, trustworthy and reliable.
Operating with integrity, being ethical and respecting
others is at the heart of the Company’s culture.

Involved

We are inclusive, open and actively engaged with our
customers, partners, employees and the communities
we serve.

People are our greatest asset.

Exceptional

We are committed to creating exceptional experiences
that delight our employees and customers.
At the Company, good enough is not good enough.

These core values reflect the importance that the
Company attaches to the integrity, respect,
responsibility, competence and safety in carrying out
our business.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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EMPLOYMENT

We believe that focusing on talent management and
emphasising staff engagement will in turn drive the

growth of our business.

Meanwhile, we have

established policies to regulate compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination and other benefits and welfare in
accordance with laws and regulations such as:

the “Employment Ordinance, Cap. 57, Laws of
Hong Kong”;

the “Employees’ Compensation Ordinance, Cap.
282, Laws of Hong Kong”;

the “Minimum Wage Ordinance, Cap. 608, Laws
of Hong Kong”;

the “Sex Discrimination Ordinance, Cap. 480,
Laws of Hong Kong”;

the “Disability Discrimination Ordinance, Cap. 487,
Laws of Hong Kong”;

the “Family Status Discrimination Ordinance, Cap.
527, Laws of Hong Kong”;

the “Race Discrimination Ordinance, Cap. 602,
Laws of Hong Kong”;

the “LLabour Law of the PRC”;

the “Labour Contract Law of the PRC”;

the “Social Insurance Law of the PRC”;

the “Provisions of Minimum Wages”;

the “Law of the PRC on the Protection of Disabled
Persons”; and

the “Law of the PRC on the Protection of Rights
and Interests of Women”.
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In practice, a performance-based remuneration and
appraisal system has been adopted to ensure fair pay
for our employees and to attract and retain talent. Our
Group offers a competitive salary, which is assessed
regularly to reflect the market trends from time to time.
Other than salary, regular staff welfare and benefits
such as social insurance, statutory holidays, maternity
and breastfeeding leaves, high temperature subsidies,
meal allowance, and communication allowance, have
also been provided. The salaries and fringe benefits of
employees are confidential and disclosure of salary
package is strictly protected. In addition, we strive to
create a harmonious working environment for
employees through the organisation of various activities
such as festive and social functions, volunteer work
and team sports events for employees and their
families.

During the Reporting Period, there was no material
non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations
relating to employment that could have a significant
impact on the Group.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

We recognise the importance of occupational health
and safety, and endeavour to provide a safe working
environment for our staff by encouraging safety
practices and enhancing their awareness through
regular training and safety drills.

Occupational health and safety policies have been
established in accordance with relevant laws and
regulations such as:

e the “Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance,
Cap. 509, Laws of Hong Kong”;

e the “Law of the PRC on Work Safety”;

e the “Law of the PRC on Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases”;

e the “Fire Prevention Law of the PRC”; and

e the “Technical Specification of Dust and Poison
Control for City Gas Industry”.
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For the Ports and Logistics Business, various measures
have also been employed to ensure health and safety
of our employees. Our ports and logistics operations
have set up their safety committees or supervision
departments to conduct comprehensive supervision
and management of work safety with a view to
complying with the relevant national laws, regulations
and mandatory standards. Regular training and drills
on safety and fire have been organised, particularly the
training and drills in LPG and CNG distribution and
logistics business. At fuel storage-tank farms and CNG
fueling stations, safety inspections are carried out on a
regular basis to prevent safety accidents. Moreover, all
employees are required to be licenced for engaging in
specialty works (such as those at our CNG fueling
stations). Annual health examinations and sport
activities have also been arranged to promote good
health and well-being.

In addition to providing a healthy and safe working
environment, the Group also pays close attention to
the mental health of its employees. By actively listening
to employees’ concerns and sharing developmental
outcomes, the Group fosters a supportive atmosphere.
This approach not only strengthens colleague bonds
but also encourages employees to seek help for work-
related stress or mental health issues, thereby positively
influencing the working culture of the Group over time.

Furthermore, although the impact of the pandemic is
gradually diminishing, preventive measures against
infectious diseases have been established as standard
operating procedures of the Group. We perform office
cleaning and disinfection regularly, educate employees
on proper hygiene practices, raise our employees’
awareness of personal hygiene in the office by
encouraging frequent handwashing and maintaining
cleanliness at desks and workspaces. Employees are
also advised to report any symptoms and seek medical
advice promptly if they feel unwell.
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In accordance with “Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance, Cap. 282", the Group has maintained
relevant insurance(s) to safeguard the interests of its
staff. During the Reporting Period, there was no
material non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations relating to occupational health and safety
that could have a significant impact on the Group.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

We believe that continuous staff training and
development are essential for enabling our employees
to discharge their duties and responsibilities effectively
and efficiently. Our training and development
programmes include without limitation on-the-job
training, seminars conducted by internal and external
professionals, etc. Employees, particularly those at
middle and senior levels, are encouraged to undertake
external training and professional examinations.

We value the importance in career planning and
development for employees at all levels. We provide
on-the-job training to our employees regularly, tailoring
it to the specific needs of their duties and qualification
requirements. Our training covers topics such as
occupational health and safety, quality control,
technical skills, environmental protection and anti-
corruption. We also offer regular training and drills for
employees at the CNG fueling stations to keep them
up-to-date with the most recent safety practices in the
Ports and Logistics Business.

In addition to internal training programmes, the Group
ensures the directors stay updated on the latest
regulatory requirements and corporate governance
practices. Additionally, employees are encouraged to
participate in continuous learning activities such as
seminars, workshops and conferences organised by
both governmental and professional bodies. A more
detailed discussion on the training provided to directors
and senior management, as well as certain training
programmes that are part of our risk management and
internal control systems, can be found on pages 46
and 47 of the Annual Report.
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LABOUR STANDARDS

We have established policies that strictly prohibit the
employment of child and forced labour. Employee’s
rights to working hours and leave entitlement comply
with relevant laws and regulations and have been
promoted and communicated to all staff, especially to
new hires. The relevant laws and regulations include
but are not limited to:

e the “Employment of Children Regulations, Cap. 57B,
Laws of Hong Kong”;

e the “Labour Law of the PRC”;

e the “Labour Contract Law of the PRC”; and

e the “Law of the PRC on the Protection of Minors”.

In practice, the inspection of personal identity
documents of job applicants is conducted at the
recruitment stage. Employment contracts that explain
and detail the rights and responsibilities of both parties
are made with each employee. These contracts are
designed to prohibit all forms of child and forced labour
and to protect the rights of employees. The heads of
the business units must communicate actual work
arrangements with management to ensure employees
have sufficient rest time and to reduce overtime work in
business operations. Under no circumstances will we
tolerate child and forced labour. If any cases related to
child and forced labour are discovered, we will
immediately terminate the employment, coordinate an
investigation into any non-compliance identified, and
take corrective actions and appropriate penalties to
prevent such incidents from occurring again.

During the Reporting Period, there were no instances
of material non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations related to labour standards affecting the
Group. Furthermore, no cases of child and forced
labour were noted during the Reporting Period.
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SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

We have established long-term and stable partnerships
with suppliers who are recognised for their excellence,
fostering a sustainable supply chain. We believe that
high-quality and efficient services and products are
best provided through close cooperative relationships
with our suppliers. For the Ports and Logistics
Business, our main suppliers are upstream gas
suppliers. For the Property, Securities and Financial
Services Businesses, service providers including
securities brokers, legal and advisory professionals,
and office equipment and hardware maintenance
providers are engaged on an as-needed basis.

We recognise that proper management of our supply
chain can have a positive impact on our natural and
social environment. Therefore, we strive to promote our
environmental and social practices and communicate
them with our partners along the supply chain. Policies
and procedures have been established in our
procurement process to select capable and
responsible suppliers, managing environmental and
social risks within the supply chain.

Product quality and price are typical risks in the supply
chain that we monitor closely during our assessment of
environmental and social risk. In line with our
established policies and procedures, we strictly control
the quality and price of materials from suppliers during
the goods acceptance process. A list of qualified
suppliers was maintained to ensure a reliable source of
raw materials. For example, our Ports and Logistics
Business upholds quality standards for incoming CNG
by obtaining quality inspection certificates from the
suppliers on a regular basis.

During the Reporting Period, there were no significant
incidents and irregularities related to business ethics,
environmental protection, and employment practices
among our main suppliers.
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We are conscious of the social and environmental risks
in our supply chain, particularly their implications on the
environment and communities where we operate, and
health and safety of our employees. Hence, our
supplier selection considers not only general supplier
aspects such as product quality, price competitiveness,
and production and delivery capabilities, but also
environmental and social considerations. New suppliers
undergo a comprehensive evaluation to ensure
compliance with relevant laws and regulations and our
policies and standards. We conduct annual
assessments on all our current suppliers to assess their
performance and ensure consistent adherence to our
standards, such as environmental protection and the
code of conduct (the “Code of Conduct”).

Besides, we have long prioritised sustainable sourcing,
preferring to purchase products with minimal
environmental impacts. This includes selecting
electrical equipment with higher energy efficiency
labels, grades 1 and 2, and using clean and sustainable
energy.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

We are committed to offering products and services
that meet high standards of safety, quality and
reliability, while also protecting our customers’ personal
data to uphold their trust in us.

Policies have been established in accordance with
relevant laws and regulations such as:

e the “Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, Cap. 486,
Laws of Hong Kong”;

e the “Product Quality Law of the PRC”;

e the “PRC Law on the Protection of Consumer
Rights and Interests”; and

e the “Regulation on the Administration of Urban

”

Gas”.
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For the Ports and Logistics Business, quality
management teams have been established within our
operations to conduct regular inspections, quality
analyses and sample checks on the products and
services provided. For example, we have conducted
sample tests of incoming LPG in our laboratory of the
fuel storage-tank farm to ensure the stable quality and
safe storage of gas.

The ultimate goal for the Securities Business is to
deliver strong investment returns to shareholders over
the medium to long term. We have built a highly
qualified investment team dedicated to seeking
profitable investment opportunities. When a potential
investment opportunity arises, the investment team
evaluates it thoroughly and critically to reduce
investment risks and safeguard the best interests of the
shareholders. In making investment decisions, we
adopt a responsible and prudent approach to balance
profitability and risk.

For Financial Services Business, we strive to provide
reliable and flexible loan solutions to customers.
Comprehensive information regarding loan services,
such as terms and conditions for loans and collateral
as well as consequences of default, is provided to
customers, enabling them to make well-informed
decisions. In addition, adhering to our customer-
oriented principle, we offer prompt responses and best
assistance to our customers. Our employees are well-
trained and possess adequate, up-to-date knowledge
of credit financing, and we have engaged a professional
legal adviser to review the terms of loan contracts to
ensure that the services provided comply with all
relevant regulations.

During the Reporting Period, there was no material
non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations
relating to product responsibility that could have a
significant impact on the Group.
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We place a high priority on customer satisfaction with
our products and services and make efforts to respond
to customers’ feedback. We strive to improve our
customers’ experiences by actively listening to their
expectations through a variety of communication
channels. Upon receiving feedback, the relevant
departments will process it promptly and report the
findings to management. Management will then review
the feedback and determine if internal controls and
procedures need to be enhanced or if any other
appropriate actions are required.

We respect and strive to preserve intellectual property
rights by protecting the confidentiality of our
technology, avoiding disputes and preventing violations
of third-party property. In addition, we place a high
priority on customer privacy and commercially sensitive
information protection. To protect this information, we
ensure our IT systems are properly safeguarded by
installing licenced and anti-virus software. To protect
the intellectual property of the Group, our trademarks
and domain names are registered in the relevant
jurisdiction(s). The Group also ensures that customers’
personal data is securely stored, and processed only
for the intended purpose. Access rights are granted
only to designated and authorised employees on a
need-to-know basis. Instructions regarding
confidentiality are clearly stated in the letters of
employment of our employees.

We comply with relevant data protection laws and
regulations such as the “Copyright Ordinance, Cap.
528, Laws of Hong Kong”, as well as the “Data
Security Law” and “Personal Information Protection
Law” of the PRC. Personal, confidential and
commercially sensitive information collected from
stakeholders, including employees, customers,
suppliers or other business partners, is protected
against unlawful collection, retention, dissemination
and use, in accordance with the requirements of the
relevant acts.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Company believes that honesty, integrity and fair
play are important assets in the Company’s business.
We are committed to ensuring that the Company’s
reputation is not tarnished by dishonesty, disloyalty or
corruption. Our Code of Conduct, which includes,
among other things, the anti-corruption policy, and our
whistleblowing policy helps to maintain the highest
ethical standards of transparency, fairness and
accountability in accordance with relevant laws and
regulations such as:

e the “Prevention of Bribery Ordinance, Cap. 201,
Laws of Hong Kong”;

e the “Competition Ordinance, Cap. 619, Laws of
Hong Kong”;

e the “Law of the PRC on Anti-money Laundering”;

e the “Company Law of the PRC”; and

e the “Criminal Law of the PRC”.

All of the Company’s business dealings must be on
arm’s-length terms and free of any favourable
treatment resulting from the personal interest of the
staff. As outlined in our Code of Conduct, it is our
policy that no employee should solicit and accept
advantages from suppliers, customers, competitors or
any person in connection with our business.
Meanwhile, no employee in the Group should offer any
advantage without lawful authority or reasonable
excuse to any person as an inducement or reward in
connection with that person’s work. Senior
management and certain employees must sign an
undertaking to commit to maintaining their integrity and
self-discipline on their duties. If any case of suspected
corruption or other criminal offence is discovered, it will
be reported to the Independent Commission Against
Corruption or other relevant authorities.
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In particular, as a financial services provider, our
employees handle money transactions in day-to-day
business operations. Potential risks of improper or
dishonest monetary transactions by customers or
employees cannot be neglected. As part of the loan
approval process, we conduct customer due diligence
procedures using a risk assessment approach to
identify money laundering and terrorist financing risks.
Besides, measures to monitor and report of suspicious
cases are also implemented and maintained throughout
the operations of the Group. Any suspicious
transactions are reported to the management
immediately.

To maintain high standards of business ethics and
integrity, anti-corruption training is provided to relevant
directors and employees. During the Reporting Period,
we encouraged directors to attend briefings and
seminars organised by professional bodies to stay
updated on anti-money laundering regulations and
practices, thereby enhancing their understanding of
anti-corruption. Policy/code covers issues such as
prevention of bribery, solicitation and acceptance of
advantages, and conflicts of interest is provided to new
employees to raise their awareness of anti-corruption.

All employees are trained and encouraged to assist in
tackling fraud, corruption and other malpractice, and to
report any suspicions of bribery through the enquiry
and complaint procedures of the Group. We have
established specific channels for employees and third
parties to make confidential report on irregularities that
come to their attention. We also have measures in
place to ensure that no employee will suffer workplace
disadvantages for reporting irregularities. The
effectiveness of these procedures is reviewed and
monitored by the audit committee of the Company and
approved by the Board.

During the Reporting Period, there was no significant
non-compliance with anti-corruption laws and
regulations that could impact the Group. Additionally,
there were no legal cases of corruption brought against
the Company and its employees.
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COMMITMENT TO COMMUNITY

We place high value on community services, actively
contributing to and participating in communities where
we operate through charitable and community
activities. For the sixteenth consecutive year, we were
awarded the title of “Caring Company” by the Hong
Kong Council of Social Service in recognition of our
corporate citizenship and our ongoing efforts in caring
for the community.

In order to spread more positive energy within the
community, we encouraged our employees to
participate in social activities such as “Dress Casual
Day”, “Love Teeth Day” and “Earth Hour” and to
engage in volunteer work organised by local charities.
Supporting underprivileged groups, such as the elderly,
is one of the focal points of our community work.
During the Reporting Period, we took part in a Mid-
Autumn Festival visit to elderly households organised
by The Neighborhood Advice Action Council. Our staffs
have dedicated approximately six hours to sharing the
joy of the traditional festival with the elderly.

We will continue to explore opportunities to contribute
to charitable donations or community activities in the
future, thereby making positive contributions to the
community.
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RiR - HERER®RE

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS — FAREMISIE — L har 2ke
SOCIAL Notes 1, 2 and 6
PROPERTY,
SECURITIES AND
SOCIAL KPIs UNIT | PORTS AND LOGISTICS | FINANCIAL SERVICES KPI Ref.
HEERENER Efy BORMRK NE BHER BREN
ScRRB EESZ
2024 2023 2024 2023
Employment
ER
Total number of employees person 82 91 16 24 | <B1.1>
BETAY AR
By gender Male % 58.54 58.24 50.00 5417
BIERIE P St
Female % 41.46 41,76 50.00 45.83
g
By employment type Monthly Paid % 87.80 94.51 100.00 100.00
RREBERE D Permanent Staff
RHERBET
Monthly Paid Contract Staff % 10.98 5.49 0 0
RA%EHNET
Daily Paid Staff % 1.22 0 0 0
H#ET
By age group Under 30 years old % 0 0 0 0
RERERE D 30U T
30-50 years old % 7317 74.73 37.50 45.83
30E50%
Over 50 years old % 26.83 25.27 62.50 54,17
507 £
By geographical region Mainland China % 100.00 100.00 0 0
wiEE S hE A
Hong Kong % 0 0 100.00 100.00
BB
Total turnover rate of employees % 10.98 39.56 56.25 417 | <B1.2>
BIBRAX
By gender Male % 8.33 356.85 62.50 0
EHRIES Sk
Female % 14.71 4474 50.00 9.09
g
By age group Under 30 years old % N/A N/A N/A N/A
RERANE D 0B T FER i H FER NEH
30-50 years old % 10.00 29.41 83.33 9.09
30E507%
Over 50 years old % 13.64 56.52 40.00 0
50770 &
By geographical region | Mainland China % 10.98 39.56 N/A N/A
s =E b RE R TER TER
Hong Kong % N/A N/A 56.25 417
BB TER TE R
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B - HERERERS

PROPERTY,
SECURITIES AND
SOCIAL KPIs UNIT | PORTS AND LOGISTICS | FINANCIAL SERVICES KPI Ref.
HEEBRENER Efy BORMR NE BHR BEEN
SRERH EE8Z
2024 2023 2024 2023
Health and Safety
REEZ2
Number of work-related fatalities " person 0 0 0 0| <B2.1>
AIfLT A AR
Rate of work-related fatalities "*3 % 0 0 0 0
A A ®: Sl
Number of lost days due to work injury day 0 0 0 0] <B2.2>
RAIGBXNIERH A
Average lost days per case due to work injuries day 0 0 0 0
BRIGEHNTHERRY R
Development and Training
BRRE
Percentage of employees trained " % 100.00 100.00 N/A N/A | <B3.1>
RIBIEA TER TER
By gender Malg "'e4 % 58.54 58.24 N/A N/A
BIERIE D B FER aN it
Female "4 % 41.46 4176 N/A N/A
fr fihize TEA A
By employee level Executive management "4 % 6.10 5.49 N/A N/A
REERAE D THEBABT TEHR @R
Middle management "# % 18.29 14.29 N/A N/A
hRERE AT FER NaH
General staff " % 75.61 80.22 N/A N/A
—fRE I TER A
Average training hours per employee "¢ hour 0.83 0.62 N/A N/A | <B3.2>
BaREENTHZ HE 534 TER @R
By gender Malg "ore# hour 1.00 0.65 N/A N/A
RIERIES B 535 TER TER
Femalg " hour 0.60 0.58 N/A N/A
1 e B 21 FER TER
By employee level Executive management "¢ hour 2.36 2.02 N/A N/A
ZESRAES TRERBABT B 21 FER @R
Middle management " hour 1.89 2.02 N/A N/A
PREE A B K TER | TER
General staff "4 hour 0.45 0.28 N/A N/A
—fk 8 Th 534 TER TER
Supply Chain Management
HEBER
By geographical region Mainland China "o Supplier 28 36 N/A N/A | <B5.1>
RiEES o B i HER TER @R
Hong Kong "#* supplier 0 0 N/A N/A
B e HER TER| THEA
Product Responsibility
EmEH
Number of complaints received case 1 3 0 0| <B6.2>
EFRRFRE RE
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Notes:
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Social KPIs in this data table reflected the data for the reporting periods
from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024 under the 2024 column and from
1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 under the 2023 column respectively.

The Property, Securities and Financial Services Businesses for the
previous reporting period were not included in the ESG scope of the
Group. After excluding the Discontinued Businesses, the Property,
Securities and Financial Services Businesses were included in the ESG
scope for the Reporting Period. For better comparison, the social KPIs of
the Property, Securities and Financial Services Businesses for the
previous reporting period were also disclosed.

The Group has had no work-related fatalities in the past three years.

The Group provided on-the-job training to employees for the Property,
Securities and Financial Services Businesses and no relevant data was
retained for the Reporting Period. Hence, these KPIs were marked as not
applicable (“N/A”) in the table.

The service providers of the Property, Securities and Financial Services
Businesses are not considered as part of our supply chain and therefore
no specific number of suppliers was identified. Therefore, this KPI was
marked as N/A in the table.

The Ports and Logistics Business had no product subject to recall for
safety and health reasons. As a service company for the Property,
Securities and Financial Services Businesses, we did not sell products
subject to recall for safety and health reasons. Therefore, no relevant KPI
was disclosed in the table.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESRBEE

The directors have pleasure in presenting their annual
report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of Blue River Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is an investment holding company.

The activities of its principal subsidiaries and associates
as at 31 March 2024 are set out in Note 48 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review is set out on pages 8 to 27 of this
annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group and appropriations of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2024 are set
out in the consolidated income statement on pages
136 and 137 of this annual report and in the
accompanying notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

No interim dividend for the year ended 31 March 2024
was declared during the year (2023: Nil).

The directors have resolved not to recommend for

shareholders’ approval the payment of any final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2024, revenue from the
Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 50% of the Group’s revenue and
revenue from the largest customer included therein
amounted to approximately 42%. Purchases from the
Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 98% of the Group’s total purchases and
purchases from the largest supplier included therein
amounted to approximately 49%.

As far as the directors are aware, none of the directors
and their close associates within the meaning of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”),
or those shareholders who to the knowledge of the
directors own more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital, has an interest in any of the five largest
customers and/or five largest suppliers of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2024.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group currently maintains a variety of credit
facilities to meet its working capital requirements. As at
31 March 2024, the Group’s total borrowings
amounted to approximately HK$15,977,000, with
approximately HK$15,133,000 repayable on demand
or within one year and approximately HK$844,000
repayable after one year. Cash, bank balances and
deposits as at 31 March 2024 amounted to
approximately HK$20,121,000. The Group’s current
ratio (calculated as total current assets divided by total
current liabilities) was 0.97 and the gearing ratio
(calculated as total borrowings divided by equity
attributable to owners of the Company) was 0.02 as at
31 March 2024.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the issued share capital of the
Company during the year are set out in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”)
has adopted a dividend policy with no pre-determined
dividend distribution ratio. In considering payment of
dividends, there shall be a balance between
maintaining sufficient capital reserves for future growth
of the business of the Group and allowing shareholders
to participate in the Company’s profits.

The Board shall also take into account, among other
things, the following factors when considering the
declaration and payment of dividends:

(@) the actual and expected financial performance of
the Group;

(b) retained profits and distributable reserves of the
Group;

(c) the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio,
return on equity and the applicable financial
covenants that may be imposed by the Group’s
lenders;

(d) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may
be imposed by the Group’s lenders;

(e) the Group’s expected working capital
requirements and future expansion plans;

() general economic conditions, cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that
may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group; and

(9 any other factors that the Board deems
appropriate.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the
Company is also subject to compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations including the laws of
Bermuda and the Company’s bye-laws.

The Board will continually review the dividend policy.
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SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES

Share Award Scheme

(1)

@)

)

Purpose

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company at its special general
meeting held on 3 May 2021 (the “Adoption
Date”), the Company adopted a share award
scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”). The specific
objectives of the Share Award Scheme are (i) to
recognise the contributions by certain eligible
participants and to provide them with incentives in
order to retain them for the continual operation
and development of the Group, particularly in
respect of the principal business of the Group
from time to time; and (i) to enhance the Group’s
competitiveness in attracting and/or retaining
suitable personnel or professionals who are
capable of making contributions to the continual
operation, growth and development of the Group,
particularly in respect of the principal business of
the Group from time to time.

Participants

Eligible participants under the Share Award
Scheme are any employee (whether full time or
part time), executive or officers, directors (including
any executive director, non-executive director and
independent non-executive director) and senior
management, of any member of the Group, who,
in the sole discretion of the Board, has contributed
or may contribute to the continual operation,
growth and development of the Group, particularly
in respect of the principal business of the Group
from time to time.

Total number of shares available for issue
The maximum number of awarded shares that
may be issued pursuant to the Share Award
Scheme would be 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company at the Adoption Date (the “Share
Award Scheme Mandate Limit”), being
110,391,611 shares. The Board may from time to
time at its absolute discretion to grant the
awarded share(s) to the eligible participant(s)
without affecting the operation of the Share Award
Scheme in general and in such number and
subject to such terms and conditions as the Board
may in its absolute discretion determine.
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)

Subject always to the Share Award Scheme
Mandate Limit, a limit equal to 3% of the
Company’s issued share capital as at the date on
which the specific mandate is approved by the
shareholders of the Company at the general
meeting as the maximum number of awarded
shares which can be issued (the “Annual Limit”)
from the date of such general meeting of the
Company to the earliest of (a) the conclusion of
the next annual general meeting of the Company; (b)
the expiration of the period within which the next
annual general meeting of the Company is
required by its bye-laws or any applicable law to
be held; and (c) the revocation or variation of the
approval by members of the Company in general
meeting.

The Board was authorised by the shareholders of
the Company at the annual general meeting held
on 3 September 2021 (the “2021 AGM”) for the
Annual Limit of 33,117,483 shares, being equal to 3%
of the Company’s issued share capital as at the
date of the 2021 AGM.

No share had been granted or allocated under the
Share Award Scheme since the Adoption Date.
The Annual Limit had not been refreshed by the
Company at the annual general meeting held on
30 August 2023, thus the Company is not entitled
to grant any shares under the Share Award
Scheme as at the date of this report. The
Company may not grant share until the
refreshment of the Annual Limit is approved by the
shareholders of the Company at a general
meeting. No service provider sublimit was set
under the Share Award Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each participant
The maximum aggregate number of shares which
can be granted to an eligible participant selected
by the Board to participate in the Share Award
Scheme (the “Selected Grantee”) shall not exceed
1% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time.
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(5) Vesting period and condition(s), if any

The Board is entitled to impose any condition(s) as
it deems appropriate in its absolute discretion with
respect to the vesting of the awarded shares on
the Selected Grantee (including without limitation
the vesting period within which the shares
awarded may be exercised by the Selected
Grantee under the Share Award Scheme, the
vesting period of the shares granted under the
Share Award Scheme.)

(6) Payment and period for acceptance
Selected Grantees are not required to make any
payment to accept an award and the relevant
subscription price will be paid by the Company.

(7) Basis for determining the purchase price of
shares awarded, if any
As no payment is required to be made by the
Selected Grantees, the basis of determining the
purchase price of share awarded in the Share
Award Scheme is not applicable herein.

(8) Remaining life

The Share Award Scheme would be valid and
effective for ten years commencing on the
Adoption Date. The Share Award Scheme shall
terminate on the earlier of the 10" anniversary
date of the Adoption Date or such date of early
termination as determined by the Board provided
that such termination shall not affect any
subsisting rights of the Selected Grantees.

Share Option Scheme

On 10 September 2012, the Company adopted a
share option scheme (the “2012 Share Option
Scheme”) which expired on 9 September 2022. There
were no outstanding share options granted under the
2012 Share Option Scheme as at 31 March 2024.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group did not enter into any transactions which
constituted connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions that were subject to reporting
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions are set out in
Note 46 to the consolidated financial statements.
Those related party transactions did not constitute
connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of
any business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year ended 31 March 2024.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share
Incentive Schemes”, no equity-linked agreements that
will or may result in the Company issuing shares or that
require the Company to enter into any agreements that
will or may result in the Company issuing shares were
entered into by the Company during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than the share incentive schemes disclosed
above, at no time during the year or at the end of the
year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangements to enable the directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

The Company’s reserve available for distribution to
shareholders as at 31 March 2024 amounted to
approximately HK$322,913,000 (2023:
HK$721,052,000).
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up
to the date of this report were:

Executive directors

Kwong Kai Sing, Benny (“Mr Kwong”)

(chairman and managing director)

Au Wai June

Marc Andreas Tschirner (managing director)
(resigned with effect from 1 July 2023)

Sam Nickolas David Hing Cheong (vice chairman)
(resigned with effect from 1 July 2023)

Independent non-executive directors

William Nicholas Giles
Yu Chung Leung (“Mr Yu”)
Lam John Cheung-wah (“Mr Lam”)

In accordance with bye-laws 84(1) and 84(2) of the
Company’s bye-laws, Mr Yu and Mr Lam will retire
from office by rotation and, being eligible, will stand for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The biographical details of the retiring directors will be
set out in a circular, which shall be despatched to
shareholders of the Company around 29 July 2024 to
assist shareholders in making an informed decision on
their re-elections.

Directors (including non-executive directors) are subject
to retirement by rotation requirements under the
Company’s bye-laws, and they are appointed for a
specific term of approximately three years, particulars
of which are set out on page 45 of the Corporate
Governance Report of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Group which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions
of each of the directors and the chief executive of the
Company in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company, as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 352 of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFQO”) or as otherwise notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules, are set out below:

EERESTBRAERKAD - A
EROREZ2EERKXR

R2024F3H31H AARIBTESE K
K TBABRARA 2D &IEB
B FBERESERBEGE S MNPER
By 3521 B T AEF 2 E L MRk
BB E TR R M 8C3H EmEE1T A

ESHRTEFRHINFRETA(RE
TR MARITAEARNR A RE BB

ERGAAERRAR(BRA]) 2 #a
KRBT

Number of shares/underlying shares held

HERG HERGHE
(Note [} 1)
Approximate
Name of director/ Personal Family Corporate Other % of issued
chief executive Capacity interests  interests  interests  interests Total share capital
HE BT
ExBS Bz
THRABHS 3 BAREZ Rk#Ezxz AREz HtEz By BHEIH
(Note ff}7#2)
Mr Kwong Beneficial owner 93,003,200 — — — 93,003,200 8.93%
x4 EXBEAA (Note ff 5% 3)

Notes: Bt &t -

1. All the above interests in the shares and underlying shares of the 1. LM ARABRDRBEERD ZEZHAETFE - R

Company were long positions. None of the directors and the chief
executive of the Company held any short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as at 31 March 2024.

2. As at 31 March 2024, the Company’s total number of issued shares was
1,040,946,114.

3. Such interests held by Mr Kwong comprised 93,003,200 shares.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none
of the directors or the chief executive of the Company
had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register of the
Company required to be kept under section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

As at 31 March 2024, none of the directors of the
Company is interested in any business (apart from the
Group’s businesses) which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly and indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as those disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements, no transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS/OTHER -

PERSONS

As at 31 March 2024, so far as is known to the
directors and the chief executive of the Company, the
interests and short positions of the substantial
shareholders/other persons in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the

register required to be kept under section 336 of the

SFO are as follows:

TERR HitAT ZBEBRK

R2024F3A31H  IARAEE Mix
SITHRABA EBRE Efh AL
RARRAIIRD M AEBRR 5D 5 A 8k
MR EB(E SR MBI E KB E 336K E T
EEzEEMACESERABWT

Number Approximate
of shares/ % of
underlying the issued

Name of shareholder Capacity shares held share capital
BERG HERITRE
REHSERB =27 HEROGHE 2BV BEIL
(Note fffi£1)  (Note ff7£2)
Mr Kitchell Osman Bin (“Mr Kitchell”) Beneficial owner 255,000,000 24.50%
Kitchell Osman Bin 5t 4 ([ Kitchell 5£ 4 1) E& B A (Note i 3)
Ms Lo Ki Yan Karen (“Ms Lo”) Interest of controlled corporation 100,260,000 9.63%
BHALT((ELL]) %185 B # 4 (Note i i 4)
Planetree International Development Limited Interest of controlled corporation 100,260,000 9.63%
(“PIDL”)
BRBERERER LB (BRERER]) X125 B # 2 (Note i i1 4)
Planetree International Limited (“PIL”) Interest of controlled corporation 100,260,000 9.63%
Planetree International Limited ([PIL ) %15 LB 25 (Note M i1 4)
Mr Kwong Beneficial owner 93,003,200 8.93%
B & Bwm %A A (Note fif 7£5)
Oshidori International Holdings Limited (“Oshidori”) Interest of controlled corporation 58,560,000 5.63%
BEEERERAR (THEE] R A2 )% B #E £ (Note [/ 71 6)
Enerchina Investments Limited (“Enerchina”) Interest of controlled corporation 58,560,000 5.63%
Enerchina Investments Limited ([ Enerchina ) %125 Bl #E 2 (Note fff 77 6)
Uptown WW Capital Group Limited Interest of controlled corporation 58,560,000 5.63%
(“UWW Capital Cayman”)
Uptown WW Capital Group Limited %15 A B #E 2 (Note [ 72 6)
(TUWW Capital Cayman |)
Uptown WW Capital Group Limited Interest of controlled corporation 58,560,000 5.63%

(“UWW Capital BVI")
Uptown WW Capital Group Limited
([UWW Capital BVI])

X 42 )% B #E 21 (Note fi1 i 6)
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Number Approximate
of shares/ % of
underlying the issued

Name of shareholder Capacity shares held share capital
BERSG HEBTRE
REHEE L8 27 HEROGHE BB
(Note fff##1)  (Note ff52)
Uptown WW Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporation 58,560,000 5.63%
(“UWW Holdings”)
Uptown WW Holdings Limited %155 B 25 (Note M 7 6)
(TUWW Holdings 1)
Kenson Investment Limited (“Kenson”) Beneficial owner 58,560,000 5.63%
Kenson Investment Limited ([ Kenson ) EXHE A (Note fif:%6)
Notes: Bt i -
1. All the above interests in the shares and underlying shares of the 1. FRARBRORBERND 2RO RITFR -

Company were long positions.

2. As at 31 March 2024, the Company’s total number of issued shares was
1,040,946,114.

3. Such interests held by Mr Kitchell comprised 255,000,000 shares.

4. The 100,260,000 shares of the Company comprised (a) 50,260,000
shares held by a company which was 47.84% owned by PIL; and (b)
50,000,000 shares held by certain wholly owned subsidiaries of PIDL. PIL
was wholly owned by PIDL which was in turn 67% owned by Ms Lo.

5. Such interests held by Mr Kwong comprised 93,003,200 shares.

6. Kenson owned 58,560,000 shares in the Company. Kenson is wholly
owned by UWW Holdings which is wholly owned by UWW Capital BVI.
UWW Capital BVI is wholly owned by UWW Capital Cayman which is
wholly owned by Enerchina and Enerchina is wholly owned by Oshidori.
Accordingly, UWW Holdings, UWW Capital BVI, UWW Capital Cayman,
Enerchina and Oshidori were deemed to be interested in the said
58,560,000 shares held by Kenson.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the
Company had not been notified of any interests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register of the Company
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

2. R2024F3A3IH ARRAZEEHITRMHDBE A
1,040,946, 114 0% -

3. % % mfiKitchell ¢ 4 #5 B 2 # % £ #5 255,000,000 &
B

4. 100,260,000 f% 7 & &) f% 15 B 1E (@) — @ B PIL#E B
47.84% 1 & 2 X B FT #§ B 250,260,000 % A% 15
RoBREREEET2EWEBRARMBEZ
50,000,0008% B 17 - PILA BB ER2E#HE -
MiBRERERAAEL T HEBOT%ER -

5. % %5 R BP Ot A 158 2 M & B 45 93,003,200 A% A% 15

6. Kenson# A 58,560,000 4% 4% A &) % 19 ° Kenson H
UWW Holdings & & # A + M UWW Holdings B8 UWW
Capital BVIZ & # & * UWW Capital BVI 8 F UWW
Capital Cayman & & # & * UWW Capital Cayman g
EnerchinaZ® & #4 + MEnerchinaBI B EE2E
A o At - UWW Holdings * UWW Capital BVI ~ UWW
Capital Cayman * Enerchina % & Z & # 8 AR £l
Kenson#§ A 2 58,560,000 f% i {7 # # 5 # #

Br = P R & Hh - 20244 3 A 31
B ﬁﬂﬁlﬁﬁﬂgﬁpﬁ%ﬁﬁ
(BENMBPEKD)EIGIEETHEREZ
KRB ELEMA 2 AR ARG, 8
Bz ERERIAKE °
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the
independent non-executive directors, an annual
confirmation of his independence. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive
directors are independent in accordance with the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES AND
REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2024, the Group employed a total of
100 (2023: 150) full-time employees, inclusive of the
directors of the Company. Remuneration packages
consisted of salary as well as performance-based
bonus.

Under the Group’s existing remuneration policy, pay
rate of employees are maintained at competitive level
with reference to the merits, qualification and
competence of the employees while promotion and
increments are based on performance of the respective
employees.

The remuneration of the directors of the Company is
decided by the remuneration committee of the
Company, having regard to various factors including
without limitation the prevailing market conditions,
salary paid by comparable companies, duties and
responsibilities of a director, employment conditions
elsewhere and the time committed by the director
concerned.

Further, the Company has implemented share-related
incentive schemes to provide alternative means to
motivate employees and promote their loyalty in line
with the Group’s strategy. Such schemes benefited the
Group’s staff in both Hong Kong and the Mainland.

Details of the remuneration policy of the Company are

set out on page 51 of the Corporate Governance
Report of this annual report.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Information on the Group’s retirement benefit schemes
is set out in Note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under
the Company’s bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders although
there are no restrictions against such rights under the
laws of Bermuda.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities during the year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and
practices are set out on pages 34 to 73 of the
Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company’s performance in various environmental
and social aspects during the year is set out on pages
74 to 109 of the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report of this annual report.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to
the Company and within the knowledge of the directors
of the Company, at least 25% (that is, the prescribed
public float applicable to the Company under the
Listing Rules) of the issued shares in the Company
were held by the public as at the date of this report.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

On 21 March 2024, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with Dawn Rainbow Limited in
relation to the disposal of the entire interest of Blue
River Wuhan Port Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, which indirectly wholly-
owned J#it R4 A H&ELRAER A R (Hubei Minsheng
Liquefied Petroleum Gas Limited*), at a consideration
of HK$1 million. The disposal was completed
simultaneously upon signing of the sale and purchase
agreement.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have

material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the year.
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DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’
INFORMATION PURSUANT TO RULE
13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the
changes in directors’ information subsequent to the
date of the Company’s last interim report and up to the
date to this annual report are set out below:

(1)

Mr Lam has been appointed as a non-executive
director of Lincoln Minerals Limited, a company
incorporated in Australia with limited liability whose
shares are listed on the Australian Securities
Exchange (ASX: LML), with effect from 30
September 2023; and

Mr Yu has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Envision Greenwise
Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability whose shares
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1783), with effect from 12
December 2023. He has also been appointed as
an appointed member of the 7" term Yuen Long
District Council with effect from 1 January 2024.

DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULES
13.20 AND 13.22 OF THE LISTING RULES

(1)

()

Advances to entities

As at 31 March 2024, advances to entities did not
individually exceed 8% under the assets ratio as
defined under Rule 14.07(1) of the Listing Rules.

Financial assistance and guarantees
given to affiliated companies

As at 31 March 2024, the aggregate amount of
the financial assistance provided by the Group to
its affiliated companies (as defined under Chapter
13 of the Listing Rules) did not exceed 8% under
the assets ratio as defined under Rule 14.07(1) of
the Listing Rules. As at 31 March 2024, there was
no guarantee given by the Group for facilities
granted to its affiliated companies.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company’s bye-laws provides that the directors
shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which may incur or sustain by or by reason
of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their
offices, provided that this indemnity shall not extend to
any matter in respect of any negligence, default, fraud
or dishonesty which may attach to any directors.
Directors’ liability insurance is in place to protect the
directors against potential costs and liabilities arising
from claims brought against the directors.

DONATIONS

No charitable donation was made by the Group during
the year (2023: HK$409,000).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no major subsequent events occurred
since the end of the reporting period and up to the
date of this report.
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AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2024 were audited by Crowe (HK)
CPA Limited who shall retire in the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, offer itself for re-
appointment.

A resolution to re-appoint Crowe (HK) CPA Limited as
auditor of the Company and to authorise the directors
of the Company to fix its remuneration will be proposed
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Kwong Kai Sing, Benny
Chairman and Managing Director

Hong Kong, 26 June 2024

* For identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BYRBARE S

Crowe

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

BLUE RIVER HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Blue River Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 136 to 331, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2024, and the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2024, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Impairment assessment on interests in associates
We identified the impairment assessment on interests
in associates as a key audit matter due to the
significance of these investments to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements and significant
judgement is required to estimate the recoverable
amounts of interests in associates. As at 31 March
2024, the carrying amount of interests in associates
amounted to HK$677,586,000 as stated in Note 22 to
the consolidated financial statements, which
representing approximately 69% of the total assets of
the Group.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BAZBMBRES

As disclosed in Note 3(i) to the consolidated financial
statements, interests in associates are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associates, less impairment in the values of individual
investments. As such, the Group is required to assess
at the end of each reporting period whether there is
any indication that the carrying amount of interests in
associates may be impaired. For those associates in
which such indication exists, the Group assessed the
recoverable amounts for impairment, with the
assistance of an independent external valuer appointed
by the management.

The accounting policies and disclosure in relation to
the interests in associates are set out in Notes 3(i), 4,
and 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment on interests in associates included the
following:

e obtaining an understanding of and assessing the
design and implementation of key internal controls
relating to the identifications of impairment
indicators and the assessment of the recoverable
amount of the interests in associates;

e where indicators of impairment have been
identified, assessing the reasonableness of the
recoverable amount of each of the associates and
obtaining an understanding from the management
of their financial position and future prospects;

e evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the external valuer appointed by the
management; and

e understanding the management process for
determining and assessing the reasonableness of
key inputs and assumptions used by management
in their estimation of recoverable amounts of those
interests in associates with impairment indicators.
We also involved our internal valuation expert to
assess the appropriateness of valuation
methodologies, key inputs and assumptions used.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BB REE

Hitb & #

BERRESABEMBENAKERMT-
HERBERFRTAEHNER
BT BEGRA MBS HE &3Pt 3%
A% BRED R & o

BPUEAVBRREFENERLR
EREMEN - B THEMBERE
KA AL E S o

REMNAEAEMBHREAMS  RMAMNE
TEHEEMLERN KMEEREME
HMROEGZAVBRRIRMEERK
BRETPEZNENFEEANT &
UFHFEBERERRA - 5 RPIE
RE TR TAER %E@ﬁﬂﬁﬁé

REgmRBRa - JAPIARE 1 — ° 3
FIBLit I EB R E IR o
EERERBUGEESYBHRRMN
BEfE
BENREZAAEREBETBSIA
TERMNB AV BRELENLRFE
NGIRESE0R 8k s = U
RS EA MR %1’Eu”j§/\ﬁﬁ
FRRBR MEBEERRREGAY
BHREAMBENAIES  AEHFE
MBRRAFEHNRFRERME
HHE A SRR -

EmMEZERAERLDT 2024 F 7R

131



132

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BAZBMBRES

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control
relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

e FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

e  (Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB HREE

e FEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.

e (Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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From the matters communicated with those charged
with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 26 June 2024

Lam Cheung Shing
Practising Certificate Number P03552

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BB REE

HPMBRAEERERR HMEWLR
PGV BRERERIFENREE
FIRH - HAREZZH - RIFARIX
BABRHARBBELEERLAERT
ERBERATN HMARAMELFTER
AREBRHNITRERBEEBRRM
BUHFEENMNEM AEERSH T
AHE BRRMEERBME ST
Wt FFEIA -

EEE (BB S ERAMERLAT
HEDEED
EB 2024 F6 H26H

MK
¥ % 55 = 4R 97 P03552

EmMEZERAERLDT 2024 F 7R

135



136

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

S A b 3£
l%'/% (=) L&ﬁﬁ%‘%
For the year ended 31 March 2024
HZE2024F3ABIHIEFE

2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Kt aF FET FH T

Continuing operations BEKEXER
Revenue WA

Sales and services income 5HE & RIS U A 6 51,468 71,494

Interest income M B A 6 8,702 5,600

Rental income M2 A 6 1,800 —

61,970 77,094

Cost of sales and services rendered 5 & K 12 1 ik 75 59 5 A< (38,186) (58,996)
Gross profit E F 23,784 18,098
Other income H A A 8 149 3,862
Administrative expenses 1THE R (107,703) (115,555)
Distribution and selling expenses DHENIEEER (15,300) (15,220)
Other gains and losses H bWz & B 18 9 (3,308) (63,866)
Impairment loss reversed on TRIEECREBE

financial assets, net B[O 5 %8 10 31,071 3,977
Finance costs & & p A 11 (6,627) (16,656)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR 2 W= 38 59,323 —
Gain on winding up of a subsidiary — B AR EE 2 Wz 37 - 9,470
Fair value changes of investment & &M ¥ 2 A FBE

properties & (9,800) (2,458)
Share of results of associates HhEE N B EE (230,608) 41,483
Share of results of a joint venture  #{h — B & &P X ¥EE (4,642) (4,839)
Loss before taxation Br %4 B &5 1B 13 (263,661) (141,704)
Taxation I8 14 351 (434)
Loss for the year from continuing  #HFEK L E K 2 FE

operations B8 (263,310) (142,138)
Discontinued operations BRIEBEER
Loss for the year from discontinued B 4% |F & & 2% 2 £ 8

operations &5 18 15 - (566,867)
Loss for the year FEEIE (263,310) (709,005)

Blue River Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report



CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
mEWaEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024

B ZE20245F3A31ALLFE

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEE  TA

Loss for the year attributable to: IMTALTEIEFEEEIS:
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEIEF =N
— from continuing operations —REBELEER (265,263) (144,5006)
— from discontinued operations —RE O RIEEEEFK — (460,907)
(265,263) (605,413)
Non-controlling interests JE 175 { #E =
— from continuing operations —REFELCEER 1,953 2,368
— from discontinued operations —REBERIECEER - (105,960)
1,953 (103,592)
(263,310) (709,005)
Notes  HK cents HK cents
K&+ &AL Il
Loss per share REE 17
Basic and diluted EARKRBEEE
— from continuing operations —RERERLEED (25.5) (13.2)
— from discontinued operations —REBERIEECEER - (42.2)
(25.5) (55.4)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these  E % T AZ ZE W K x 2 A K
financial statements. o o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meEHEWRER

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HE2024F3A31AIEFE
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss for the year FEEE (263,310) (709,009)
Other comprehensive expense Hitt2EE X
Items that will not be reclassified to B reE T BRER
profit or loss 5 H
Change in fair value of financial assets 2 AF(EEGEA LM E2E
measured at fair value through other e (M AFEEEE
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), Htezmkzsl) zem
net of tax BEZANFEERE
CiliikA (115,627) (82,360)
Share of other comprehensive expense #{GBt & AT 2 Hith 2 M|
of associates F (2,510) (251)
ltems that may be subsequently ARBEEE D EAEER
reclassified to profit or loss I8 H
Exchange differences arising from MEBBINEBEMEE 2
translation of foreign operations fERE%R (3,079) (69,015)
Reclassification adjustment on disposal EHEM B AT 2 E#H 9 A
of subsidiaries s (32,739) (10,634)
Other comprehensive expense for FEHEMEPARMEZ
the year (153,955) (162,260)
Total comprehensive expense for FEXEHAXERE
the year (417,265) (871,265)

Blue River Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REZERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAET
Total comprehensive (expense) income A T ATEGEEEEE
for the year attributable to: (P ) W= aa% -
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEEIE =N
— from continuing operations —REFEKEER (419,218) (228,583)
— from discontinued operations —REERIEEEET - (523,589
(419,218) (752,172)
Non-controlling interests FEVE AR HE =
— from continuing operations —REFEKEES 1,953 2,368
— from discontinued operations —REERIEREER - (121,461)
1,953 (119,093)
(417,265) (871,265)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

financial statements.

> Y

o

WIMEARSHBEHRE ERY

EmMEZERAERLDT 2024 F 7R

139



140

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BEIR R

As at 31 March 2024
R2024F3H31H

2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B it FET TETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y E - B K R 18 18,491 26,684
Right-of-use assets FREEE 19 6,841 51,670
Investment properties "EYHE 20 53,500 63,300
Intangible assets mLAE 21 1,058 1,156
Interests in associates Bt N B RE R 22 677,586 767,904
Interest in a joint venture —fHeEbERER 23 11,500 14,812
Financial assets measured at FVOCI BAFEEFAEM
FHREZEMEE 24 164,067 202,975
933,043 1,128,501
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories of finished goods HmEE 87 66
Loan receivable JE W E R 25 3,193 —
Amounts due from former subsidiaries FEYCS BRI B A A)
in liquidation Bz 26 1,303 20,865
Trade and other receivables B NEMEBRERR 27 18,315 25,188
Short-term bank deposits HEIRTHER 28 8,621 3,425
Bank balances and cash RITEFLRS 28 11,500 770,811
43,019 820,355
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAEE
Trade and other payables Eo RHEMENERR 29 15,059 38,388
Contract liabilities EH8EE 30 13 1,635
Lease liabilities HE&E 31 5,231 10,053
Amounts due to former subsidiaries FERERER I E AR
in liquidation E ] 26 - 27
Amount due to a non-controlling FERS — B IEERIRR
shareholder A 32 8,891 8,891
Amount due to a joint venture B —FE&EETIA 46(c) 180 —
Taxation payable J& 1~ 4 18 - 1,590
Bank and other borrowings 1T R H AL fE R 33 15,133 532,991
44,507 593,475
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES) ASSETS #E (Af&) & F & (1,488) 226,880
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REERRBEE
LIABILITIES 931,555 1,355,381

Blue River Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEMBERRT
As at 31 March 2024
R2024F3H31H

2024 2023
Notes ~ HK$’000 HK$’000
ff THART TAET

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ARBEE
Bank and other borrowings 1T M E M E 33 844 1,998
Lease liabilities HEBaE 31 4,198 9,581
Deferred tax liabilities BERIERE 34 213 237
5,255 11,816

NET ASSETS BEERE 926,300 1,343,565
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXREK #E
Share capital A% 2 35 104,095 104,095
Reserves F & 829,234 1,248,452
Equity attributable to owners of KAREAE ANZEMG

the Company = 933,329 1,352,547
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR E i (7,029) (8,982)
TOTAL EQUITY MR 926,300 1,343,565

The consolidated financial statements on pages 136 to
331 were approved and authorised for issue by the
Board of Directors on 26 June 2024 and are signed on
its behalf by:

Kwong Kai Sing, Benny
395959

Chairman and Managing Director

FEFRBH

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mERRBHR
For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE2024F3A31AIEFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

KRAEE A (bR
Investment Non-
Share Share  Contributed Capital  revaluation Other Translation  Retained controling Total
capital  premium surplus reserve reserve  reserves reserve profits ~ Sub-total  interests equity
(note j) (note i) (note i) (note iv) (notev)  (note vi)
®E FER
RA BROEE EHAHK EARE SHEHE HhHEE EAZE RBEAN et Ea RREE
(agi)  (Wai)  (Wati)  (WaEv)  (Watv) (K i)
HK$'000 HK$000  HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKP000  HK$000  HK$'000
TEL THn TEr  FEr  TEx  FEx  TExD TEx  FAx  TErT  TEn
At 1 April 2022 R2022F4 18 110,392 544,511 441,566 (95,368)  (605,995) 9,408 106,536 1,648,763 2,159,813 871,349 3,031,162
Exchange differences arising from BWEENEB
translation of foreign operations EEZERZE - - - - - - (83514 - (63514 (16501) (69,015
Reclassification adjustment on HEDRIEREER Y
disposal of discontinued BENHERE
operations (Note 15) (Hii15) - - - - - - (10634) - (10634) - (10634)
Change in fair value of financial RATEEFAEL
assets measured at FVOC, 2ENEZERE
net of tax EZATEEED
(kHek) - - - - (82360) - - - (82360) - (82360)
Share of other comprehensive BE-HBERRZHE
expense of an associate th2EAX - - - - (251) - - - (251) - (251)
Loss for the year FEER - - - - - - - (605413) (605,413) (103,592) (709,008)
Total comprehensive expensefor ~ FE2ER X BE
the year - - - - (86l — (64148 (B05413) (752,172 (119,003 (871,265)
Shares repurchased and cancelled 2 B R i 38 7 R (7
(Note 35) (H15#35) (6,297)  (48,551) - - - - - - (64849 - (04849
Shares repurchase expenses WD RS (47 £35)
(Note 35) - (246) - - - - - - (246) - (246)
Disposal of discontinued operations {14 B 4% || 45 & % 7
(Note 15) (Hii£15) - - - 95,368 - (9,408) - (85,960) —  (761,238) (761,238)
Disposal of financial assets measured i &R A FEEF AL
at FvOCl tEERE SR
B - - - - 62 - - ©) - - -
At 31 March 2023 202363318 104,095 495714 441,566 — (688,544 - 42,388 957,328 1,352,547 (8,982) 1,343,565

Blue River Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERBEHR

For the year ended 31 March 2024

B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

RREEEA RS
Investment Non-
Share Share  Contributed Capital revaluation Other Translation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium surplus reserve reserve  reserves reserve profits ~ Sub-total interests equity
(note i) (notei)  (noteiii)  (noteiv) (notev)  (note vi)
RE FER

R BROEE BB H4EE EfEE RtRE EXRRE REEN N B BRAR
(W) (i) (W) (W) (WE)  (BEv)

HK$'000  HK$'000 ~ HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000 HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

Tén TER Tén TEx TEx TEx TEx TEx TEx TEx TE=n

At 1 Apri 2023 7202354418 104,095 495714 441,566 - (688,544) - 42,388 957,328 1,352,547 (8,982) 1,343,565

Exchange differences arising from RABRINERD

translation of foreign operations EEZEHZES - - = = = = (3,079) = (3,079) = (3,079)
Reclassification adjustment on disposal &N B ARz EH
of subsidiaries (Note 38) AR (H38) - - - - = - (32739 - (32739 - (32739
Change in fair value of financial assets & A FEBEHAEM
measured at FVOCI, net of tax 2EME EREAE
JATEEEY
(NBH &%) - - - - (115627) - - - (115627) - (115627)
Share of other comprehensive expense  # 15 —RIBE 4 A7 2
of an associate E2ERT = = = = (2,510) = = = (2,510) = (2,510)
Loss for the year FEBR = = = = = = - (265263 (265,269) 1,953 (263:310)
Total comprehensive expense for FEPEARTLE
the year = = = - (118137) — (35818 (265263 (419218 1,953  (417,265)
Disposal of financial assets measured &3k A T EE S AEM,
at FVOCl PENEZEREE = = = = 5,011 = = (5911) - - -
Share of equity movement arisngon 45—l & A R TR
equity ransactions of an associate AR BHTE £ 2 EHE
29 - - = = 73 = = (73) - - -
Disposal of financial assets measured ~ EBHENBAFHER
at FVOCI through disposal of ATEEFAEMR
subsidiaries AhHEzEREE - - - - 337,000 = - (337,000) = = -
At 31 March 2024 R2024E3A31H 104,095 495,714 441,566 - (463,697) - 6,570 349,081 933,329 (7,029 926,300
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FERREERR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

Notes:

)

(i)

(i)

(vi)

The application of the share premium account is governed by Section 40
of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

The contributed surplus represents the balance arising from the reduction
of share capital of the Company which took place in prior years.

The capital reserve represented the difference between the fair value and
the carrying amount of the underlying assets and liabilities that were
attributable to the additional interests in subsidiaries acquired by the
Group. The amount was transferred to retained profits upon disposal of
discontinued operations during the prior year.

The investment revaluation reserve represents the changes (and the share
of the associate’s changes) in carrying amount of investments in equity
instruments designated as FVOCI, net of tax, since its initial recognition.

Other reserves mainly represented statutory reserve which was the
appropriation of certain percentages of profit after taxation of subsidiaries
established in the PRC as pursuant to the PRC regulations and share of
other reserves of associates and joint ventures. The amount was
transferred to retained profits upon disposal of discontinued operations
during the prior year.

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising
from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n _\éIﬁlﬁ\;ﬁE%
For the year ended 31 March 2024
B ZE2024F3AG1HIEFE
2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Kt &t FE T FAET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETEH
Loss before taxation B 4 A & 1B
— from continuing operations —REFEREER (263,661) (141,704)
— from discontinued operations —RBEERIEEE
E3 4 15 - (307,495)
(263,661) (449,199)
Adjustments for: FLTFIIE B EITHE
Finance costs Bl & B AN 6,627 66,179
Loss on disposal of property, BRE Y - &
plant and equipment B2 BE 1,260 1,226
Gain on termination of leases RIEBEE 2 s — (7)
Gain on forfeiture of deposit and B E MBS
earnest money received P18 2 W s (8,200) -
Share of results of associates (A E AR EE 230,608 (41,479)
Share of results of a joint venture BE—ReghE
¥ 4,642 4,958
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEESHE 45 18,170
Depreciation of property, plant and I R ERE 2
equipment e 6,294 41,917
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FTHREEEZITE 13,685 30,859
Net unrealised exchange loss REIHE R EIB
-] 962 9,830
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR ZHz=E 38 (59,323) —
Fair value changes of investment WEMERFEE
properties & 9,800 31,568
Bank and other interest income RIT R EMF B U A (149) (1,0595)
Impairment loss on property, plant and ~ #7% « #4 R R E 2
equipment BB R — 61,882
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets  {& FA# & & 2 A&
iR 8,877 —
Gain on winding up of a subsidiary — B RARERZ
Ui 25 37 — (9,470)
Impairment loss (reversed) recognised &R & & & & 4
on financial assets and contract BEZRBEEE
assets, net (FE0) FERFEE (31,071) 24,456
Write-down of stock of properties MERFE 2 RE MR — 115,324
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FEHERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HE20245F3A31ALLFE

2024 2023
Notes ~ HK$’000 HK$'000
ff it TR TAT

Operating cash flows before movements K&t & & & & & & A

in working capital IIREEBREME (79,604) (94,837)
Increase in contract assets B HEEE N - (379,797)
Increase in stock of properties Y%7 B 1 - (8,426)
(Increase) decrease in inventories of BREE g R

finished goods (25) 1,141
Decrease in loan receivables JE B FOR - 20,000
Decrease (increase) in trade and other & 5 & H fib & Y BR 7

receivables B (38 n) 3,840 (411,554)
Increase in amounts due from joint eI & & {3 A

ventures 0 - (4,387)
Decrease in amounts due from joint AR S =

operations/other partners of joint EEE M B HIB

operations Vs = 5,918
Decrease in amounts due to joint BNEEER A&

operations/other partners of joint ERE M B A HIB

operations Vi = (27,240)
Increase in amount due to a joint venture [ — R4 &> ¥ 18

180 — 3,877
Increase (decrease) in trade and other & 5 K H fth fE {~f BR 7K

payables #an O ) 3,204 (277,509
Increase in contract liabilities BB EE N 450 201,937
Net cash used in operations KSR S R (72,135) (970,877)
Income tax paid BEEH (986) (770)

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING KRETHFFARSE
ACTIVITIES =58 (73,121) (971,647)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GFERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HZE2024F3A31BIEFE

2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Kt aF FE T FHET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BEES
Payment for acquisition of property, UG BB YD 2 -~ MW N R B
plant and equipment pANE (8,578) (31,816)
Acquisition of assets through acquisition 3% 38 I B — i1 B 2 =
of a subsidiary WEBE E 36 — (65,000)
Additions to investment properties B W) 380 - (1,542)
Contribution to a joint venture H—REeLhEEE (1,150) (1,900)
Contribution to associates HEERNAIEE (142,800) (504,704)
Net cash inflow from disposal of HEMBARI RS
subsidiaries RAFEE 38 4,882 16,503
Net cash outflow from disposal of HECRIEREER
discontinued operations 2R & FRR 15 - (176,519)
Bank and other interest income received B U %817 & H 4 5 &
WA 149 1,055
Additions to short-term loan receivables 75 & JE i 42 B & - (2,000)
Proceeds from disposal of property, BR B W - M SRR
plant and equipment Fr 15 3R 345 1,028
Placement of pledged bank deposits FriEe il ?‘? RITHE N - (68,348)
Release of pledged bank deposits FBEEFRITER — 45,423
Distributions from former subsidiaries in % FRIMMEB AR Z
liquidation Pl 50,673 180,290
Distributions from associates 9% ENAZ DIk — 422,383
Proceeds from disposal of financial HEZEAFEER
assets measured at FVOCI HEzmmka Z T 'l
BEMRMEBHA 7,757 22,294
Purchases of financial assets measured % B 12 A F B TE
at FVOCI E@E_EHQ Zirﬂ
BE (148,854) (59,381)
Advance to joint operations/other aAa e %%ﬁ/ BE
partners of joint operations ,H\ fth R £ # 3 — (14,850)
Repayment from joint operations/other & & %75,/ & % ¥
partners of joint operations HMBHEER — 81,770
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REEZHFRARS
ACTIVITIES ek (232,576)  (155,314)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

nv_\éiiﬁiﬁéﬁ
For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

2024 2023
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
Kt aF FET FH T
FINANCING ACTIVITIES & T B
Repayment of bank and other BERITREMBER
borrowings (588,525) (1,709,581)
Interest paid 2 E (4,133) (66,367)
Payment of lease liabilities XNHEEAE (12,632) (32,575)
New bank and other borrowings raised %7 1& 8 17 & H b {& 7 157,814 2,548,787
Payment for repurchase of ordinary e TmR TR
shares - (55,094)
Advance from joint operations/other BREER BEER
partners of joint operations H R — 367,886
Repayment to joint operations/other naeER/ 8%
partners of joint operations BEMBHENK - (92,270)
NET CASH (USED IN) GENERATED R ESE® (FTA) Fid
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES REFE (447,476) 960,786
NET DECREASE IN CASHANDCASH R&E&REBE S ZH
EQUIVALENTS EHEHRDFE (753,173) (166,175)
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE S\ ERN S &
RATE CHANGES (942) (7,979)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ReREREEE
BROUGHT FORWARD 18 § & Al 774,236 948,390
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ReREREEE
CARRIED FORWARD HE#HE 20,121 774,236
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF RERERESEESE
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BESRD M
Short-term bank deposits with maturity Z|HIB LA =@ A >
of less than three months REIRITHER 8,621 3,425
Bank balances and cash RITHEF MR E 11,500 770,811
20,121 774,236

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL

Blue River Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an
exempted company incorporated in Bermuda with
limited liability. Its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office
and the principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information” section to the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”), which is
the same as the functional currency of the
Company.

The Company is an investment holding company.
The Company and its subsidiaries (together the
“Group”) is principally engaged in, inter alia, gas
distribution and logistics operation in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”), as well as property
investment, securities trading and investment, and
provision of financing related services. The
activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
and associates are set out in Note 48.

The Group was also engaged in providing
comprehensive engineering and property-related
services through Paul Y. Engineering Group
Limited (“Paul Y. Engineering”) and land and
property development and investment in the PRC
which were discontinued during the prior year.

e PR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B ZE2024F3A31HIEFE

—REH
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NE ([BERPT]) T o RAT 2
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HAME(HE ) ETRREER
MREE UWRBEHERE &5
RPME - WIRHREHEBER
e RNRAZEEWEB AR NEZE
DA Z X FHIBEHINNHGE48
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGE IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY

(@) The Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) for the first time in the current
year:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
Amendments to  Disclosure of Accounting
HKAS 1 and Policies
HKFRS Practice

Statement 2

Amendments to  Definition of Accounting
HKAS 8 Estimates

Amendments to  Deferred Tax related to

HKAS 12 Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction
Amendments to  International Tax Reform
HKAS 12 — Pillar Two Model
Rules

The application of the new and amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGE IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)

(b) The Group has not early applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities
HKAS 1 as Current or
Non-current’
Amendments to  Non-current Liabilities with
HKAS 1 Covenants'
Amendments to  Supplier Finance
HKAS 7 and Arrangements’
HKFRS 7

Amendments to  Lack of Exchangeability?
HKAS 21
Amendments to  Sale or Contribution of
HKFRS 10 and  Assets between an
HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture®

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale
HKFRS 16 and Leaseback’

HK Interpretation Presentation of Financial
5 (Revised) Statements —
Classification by the
Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a
Repayment on
Demand Clause'

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to

be determined.

The directors of the Company anticipated
that the application of all amendments to
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGE IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)

(©)

Change in accounting policy on offsetting
arrangement in long service payment in Hong
Kong:

In June 2022, the Hong Kong Government
enacted the Employment and Retirement
Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the
“Amendment Ordinance”) which will be
effective from 1 May 2025 (the “Transition
Date”). Under the Amendment Ordinance,
any accrued benefits attributable to the
employer’s mandatory contributions under
mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF
Benefits”) of an entity would no longer be
eligible to offset against its obligations on
long service payment (“LSP”) for the portion
of the LSP accrued on or after the Transition
Date. There is also a change in the calculation
basis of last monthly wage for the portion of
the LSP accrued before the Transition Date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGE IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)

(©)

Change in accounting policy on offsetting
arrangement in long service payment in Hong
Kong: (Continued)

Prior to 1 April 2023, the Group applied
practical expedient in HKAS 19 paragraph
93(b) (the “practical expedient”) to account
for the offsetable MPF Benefits as deemed
employee contributions to reduce the current
service cost in the period in which the related
services were rendered. In July 2023, the
HKICPA published “Accounting implications
of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong” (the “Guidance”)
which provides clarified and detailed
guidance on the accounting considerations
relating to the abolition of the offsetting
mechanism. The Guidance clarified that
following the enactment of the Amendment
Ordinance, LSP is no longer a simple type of
contributory plans to which the practical
expedient had been intended to apply. By
following the Guidance, the Group has
therefore changed its accounting policy and
ceased to apply the practical expedient
and reattribute the deemed employee
contributions on a straight-line basis from the
date when services by employees first lead to
their benefits in terms of the LSP legislation in
accordance with HKAS 19 paragraph 93(a).
This change in accounting policy upon the
cessation in applying the practical expedient
has resulted in a catch-up adjustment for
past service cost and a corresponding
change in the Group’s LSP obligations in the
year of enactment of the Amendment
Ordinance (i.e. year ended 31 March 2023).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGE IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)

(c) Change in accounting policy on offsetting
arrangement in long service payment in Hong
Kong: (Continued)

The abovementioned change in accounting
policy does not have any material impact on
the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements and
therefore the Group did not restate the
comparative figures for the consolidated
financial statements.

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

The Group incurred a loss of HK$263,310,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2024 and, as of that
date, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by HK$1,488,000. For the purpose
of assessing the appropriateness of the use of the
going concern basis for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, the
management has prepared a cash flow forecast
for a period of not less than 12 months from 31
March 2024 (“Forecast”). When preparing the
Forecast, management has given careful
consideration to the future liquidity and
performance of the Group and its available
sources of financing in assessing whether the
Group will have sufficient financial resources to
continue as a going concern. After review of the
Forecast, the directors of the Company have a
reasonable expectation that the Group has
sufficient working capital, including the credit
facilities available, to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly,
the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to
write down the carrying values of the Group’s
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for
any further liabilities which might arise, and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these adjustments
have not been reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

3.

REMBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

EESHREX®@m

HE2024FE3A31BILFE A&
$% 15 /&5 18.263,310,0007/8 7T ° M
HEZAB ASEEMNRBEERD
H 7% 8 & & 1,488,00078 TC © A T
EEHRARBBEKCEREEREGRAEY
BHRENEESE BEEERETH
20243 A31H &£ T 4 K121@ A
ZEeREFER TR - ERE
AR EEEFHEERETASEE
RERBREEFES - ARAT AR
BMERE NAHAEBERETER
AP ERRFELE - KFH
TER%  ARRIESAEEHASE
EExREMmEeEE:(BENA
CEREE)AEAENBEROKRKE
B A REV MR DK
HELEEERE -

fisd AN S B R B S - RIATREZR
FHRHE  $SAKREEEMNKREE
WORZEE W E SR RAJEEL
MEmE - S REREEE 1K
ERBDEENFRDEREEH D
BRRDHEENMRBEE ZFH
BIREIAREGEAUHRERTP
Bk o

EmMEZERAERLDT 2024 F 7R

1565



156

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for
certain financial instruments and investment
properties which are measured at fair values at the
end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below. Historical cost
is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technigue. In estimating the fair
value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair
value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except
for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based
Payment”, leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases”, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in
HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described
as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

The material accounting policies are set out below.

(a)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of the
Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;
e is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the

investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect
its returns.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it
controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements
of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when
the Group obtains control over the subsidiary
and ceases when the Group loses control of
the subsidiary. Specifically, income and
expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated income statement from the
date the Group gains control until the date
when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to
the financial statements of subsidiaries to
bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EESHEw
(CONTINUED)

(a) mEEEm

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are
presented separately from the Group’s equity
therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes
in the relative interests on the subsidiaries.

Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted,
and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in
existing subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and
non-controlling interests (if any) are
derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (i)
the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
“Financial Instruments” or, when applicable,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment
in an associate or a joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EESHEw
(CONTINUED)

(b) Business combinations

(b) %56t

A business is an integrated set of activities
and assets which includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
acquired processes are considered
substantive if they are critical to the ability to
continue producing outputs, including an
organised workforce with the necessary skills,
knowledge, or experience to perform the
related processes or they significantly
contribute to the ability to continue producing
outputs and are considered unique or scarce
or cannot be replaced without significant
cost, effort, or delay in the ability to continue
producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for
using the acquisition method. The
consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which
is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-
date fair values of the assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed are
recognised at their fair values, with certain
exemptions.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b) Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the
sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if
any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as
at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment,
the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any),
the excess is recognised immediately in profit
or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are initially measured at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets or at fair value.

When a business combination is achieved in
stages, the Group’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date
when the Group obtains control), and the
resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognized in
profit or loss or other comprehensive income,
as appropriate. Amounts arising from
interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been
recognized in other comprehensive income
and measured under HKFRS 9 would be
accounted for on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had disposed directly
of the previously held equity interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

Business combinations (Continued)

If the initial accounting for a business
combination is incomplete by the end of the
reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional
amounts are adjusted retrospectively during
the measurement period (which cannot
exceed one year from the acquisition date),
and additional assets or liabilities are
recognized, to reflect new information
obtained about facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date that, if known,
would have affected the amounts recognized
at that date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a
business is carried at cost as established at
the date of acquisition of the business less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing,
goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, which
represents the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(c) Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or
more frequently when there is indication that
the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the
end of that reporting period. If the recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal) is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwiill
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating
units). Any impairment loss for goodwill is
recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating
unit or any of the cash-generating unit within
the group of cash generating units, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in
the determination of the amount of profit or
loss on disposal. When the Group disposes
of an operation within the cash-generating
unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group
of cash-generating units), the amount of
goodwill disposed of is measured on the
basis of the relative values of the operation (or
the cash generating unit) disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit (or the
group of cash generating units) retained.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d) Acquisition of a subsidiary not

(e)

constituting a business

When the Group acquires a group of assets
and liabilities that do not constitute a
business, the Group identifies and recognises
the individual identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase
price first to financial assets/financial liabilities
at the respective fair values, the remaining
balance of the purchase price is then
allocated to the other identifiable assets and
liabilities on the basis of their relative fair
values at the date of purchase. Such a
transaction does not give rise to goodwill or
bargain purchase gain.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including
buildings held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than
construction in progress as described below)
are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

When the Group makes payments for
ownership interests of properties which
include both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair
values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land is
presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position
except for those that are classified and
accounted for as investment properties under
the fair value model. When the consideration
cannot be allocated reliably between non-
lease building element and undivided interest
in the underlying leasehold land, the entire
properties are classified as property, plant
and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off
the cost of items of property, plant and
equipment (other than construction in
progress) less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted
for on a prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EESHEw
(CONTINUED)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(e) W2 - MW K=& um

Construction in progress includes property,
plant and equipment in the course of
construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes. Construction in
progress is carried at cost less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include
any costs directly attributable to bringing the
asset to the location and condition necessary
for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy. Construction in progress is classified
to the appropriate categories of property,
plant and equipment when completed and
ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property
assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to
earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties include land held for
undetermined future use, which is regarded
as held for capital appreciation purpose, and
land under development for future use as
investment property.

Investment properties are initially measured at
cost, including any directly attributable
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair
values, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or
accrued operating lease income. Gains or
losses arising from changes in the fair value
of investment property are included in profit
or loss for the period in which they arise.

If a property becomes an investment property
because its use has changed as evidenced
by end of owner-occupation, any difference
between the carrying amount and the fair
value of that item at the date of transfer is
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in property revaluation
reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement
of the property, the relevant revaluation
reserve will be transferred directly to retained
profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f)

Investment properties (Continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no
future economic benefits are expected from
its disposal. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in profit or loss in the period
in which the property is derecognised.

An investment property carried at fair value is
transferred to properties for sales when there
is a change in use evidenced by
commencement of development with a view
to sale of the relevant properties. The fair
value of the property at the date of transfer is
the deemed cost of the property for its
subsequent accounting in accordance with
HKAS 2.

Land under development for rentals and/or
capital appreciation as investment properties
are recognised and classified as investment
properties upon the commencement of land
leveling process after the intended purpose of
the land development can be determined and
transferred from project under development.
Construction costs incurred for development
are capitalised as part of the carrying amount
of the land under development. Land under
development is measured at fair value at the
end of the reporting period. Any difference
between the fair value of the land under
development and its carrying amount is
recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(9)

(h)

Project under development

Project under development are carried in the
consolidated financial statements at cost less
any identified impairment loss. Cost of project
under development includes, where
appropriate, relevant development costs and
borrowing cost capitalised. No depreciation
is provided for project under development.

Project under development are transferred at
the carrying value to stock of properties, plant
and equipment or investment properties, as
appropriate, when the intended purpose of
the land development can be determined
upon commencement of land leveling
Process.

Stock of properties

Stock of completed properties is stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value and
stock of properties under development for
sale is stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value less anticipated costs to
complete. Cost of stock of properties is
calculated using the weighted average cost
method. Net realizable value represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business less estimated costs to
completion (if any) and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale. Net realisable
value is determined by reference to sale
proceeds received after the end of the
reporting period, or, if not yet sold after the
end of the reporting period, by management
estimates based on prevailing market
condition. The relevant costs include
acquisition costs, development expenditure,
borrowing costs capitalised and other direct
costs attributable to such properties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h) Stock of properties (Continued)

(i)

Properties under development for sale are
transferred to completed properties held for
sale upon completion.

Investments in associates and joint
ventures

An associate is an entity over which the
Group has significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets of
the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require
unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i)

Investments in associates and joint
ventures (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of
associates and joint ventures are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting,
except when the investment, or a portion
thereof, is classified as held for sale, in which
case it is or the portion so classified is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations. Any retained
portion of an investment in an associate or a
joint venture that has not been classified as
held for sale continues to be accounted for
using the equity method. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate or a
joint venture is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at
cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate or
joint venture. Changes in net assets of the
associate or joint venture other than profit or
loss and other comprehensive income are
not accounted for unless such changes
resulted in changes in ownership interest held
by the Group. When the Group’s share of
losses of an associate or a joint venture
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate
or joint venture (which includes any long-term
interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate or
joint venture), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i)

Investments in associates and joint
ventures (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint
venture is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate
or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of
the investment over the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an
objective evidence that the interest in an
associate or a joint venture may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of
Assets” as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use
and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset,
including goodwill, that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of
Assets” to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i)

Investments in associates and joint
ventures (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant
influence over an associate or joint control
over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a
disposal of the entire interest in the investee
with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate or joint
venture and the retained interest is a financial
asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the
Group measures the retained interest at fair
value at that date and the fair value is
regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the associate or joint venture and the fair
value of any retained interest and any
proceeds from disposing of the relevant
interest in the associate or joint venture is
included in the determination of the gain or
loss on disposal of the associate or joint
venture. In addition, the Group accounts for
all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that
associate or joint venture on the same basis
as would be required if that associate or joint
venture had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income by that associate or joint venture
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the
Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity
to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal or partial disposal
of the relevant associate or joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i)

Investments in associates and joint
ventures (Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity
method when an investment in an associate
becomes an investment in a joint venture or
an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no
remeasurement to fair value upon such
changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership
interest in an associate or a joint venture but
the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or
loss the proportion of the gain or loss that
had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that
reduction in ownership interest if that gain or
loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an
associate or a joint venture of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint
venture are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate or joint
venture that are not related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

@)

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement
whereby the parties that have joint control of
the arrangement have rights to the assets,
and obligations for the liabilities, relating to
the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require
unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control. The Group accounts for the assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to
its interest in a joint operation in accordance
with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

When a group entity transacts with a joint
operation in which a group entity is a joint
operator (such as a sale or contribution of
assets), the Group is considered to be
conducting the transaction with the other
parties to the joint operation, and gains and
losses resulting from the transactions are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of
other parties’ interests in the joint operation.
When a group entity transacts with a joint
operation in which a group entity is a joint
operator (such as a purchase of assets), the
Group does not recognise its share of the
gains and losses until it resells those assets
to a third party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EESHEw
(CONTINUED)

(k) Non-current assets held for sale and

k) FEHEZHFRBEER

discontinued operations ERIEREXER
Non-current assets held for sale BIEHEZHREEE

Non-current assets and disposal groups are
classified as held for sale if their carrying
amount will be recovered principally through
a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use. This condition is regarded as
met only when the asset (or disposal group)
is available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual
and customary for sales of such asset (or
disposal group) and its sale is highly
probable. Management must be committed
to the sale, which should be expected to
qualify for recognition as a completed sale
within one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan
involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of
the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
classified as held for sale when the criteria
described above are met, regardless of
whether the Group will retain a non-
controlling interest in the relevant subsidiary
after the sale.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan
involving disposal of an investment, or a
portion of an investment, in an associate or
joint venture, the investment or the portion of
the investment that will be disposed of is
classified as held for sale when the criteria
described above are met, and the Group
discontinues the use of the equity method in
relation to the portion that is classified as held
for sale from the time when the investment (or
a portion of the investment) is classified as
held for sale.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k) Non-current assets held for sale and

discontinued operations (Continued)

Non-current assets held for sale (Continued)
Non-current assets (and disposal groups)
classified as held for sale are measured at the
lower of their previous carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell, except for financial
assets within the scope of HKFRS 9 which
continue to be measured in accordance with
the accounting policies as set out in
respective sections.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of
the Group’s business, the operations and
cash flows of which can be clearly
distinguished from the rest of the Group and
which represents a separate major line of
business or geographical area of operations,
or is part of a single co-ordinated plan to
dispose of a separate major line of business
or geographical area of operations, or is a
subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to
resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation
occurs upon disposal or when the operation
meets the criteria to be classified as held for
sale (see the accounting policy in respect of
non-current assets held for sale above), if
earlier. It also occurs if the operation is
abandoned.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k) Non-current assets held for sale and

0

discontinued operations (Continued)

Discontinued operations (Continued)
Where an operation is classified as
discontinued, a single amount is presented
on the face of the statement of profit or loss,
which comprises:

- the post-tax profit or loss of the
discontinued operation; and

—  the post-tax gain or loss recognised on
the measurement to fair value less costs
to sell, or on the disposal, of the assets
or disposal group(s) constituting the
discontinued operation.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination are recognised separately from
goodwill and are initially recognised at their
fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible
assets acquired in a business combination
with finite useful lives are reported at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognised
over their estimated useful lives. Alternatively,
intangible assets acquired in a business
combination with indefinite useful lives are
carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses (see the
accounting policy in respect of impairment
losses on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets
below).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

0

Intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets acquired separately
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that
are acquired separately are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation
for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognised over their estimated useful lives.
The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on
a prospective basis. Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less any
subsequently accumulated impairment losses
(see the accounting policy in respect of
impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets below).

An intangible asset is derecognised on
disposal, or when no future economic
benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gain or loss arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset is measured as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss in the period when
the asset is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(m) Provisions

(n)

Provisions are recognised when the Group
has a present obligation (legal or constructive)
as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the
best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.
When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of
the time value of money is material).

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value except for trade
receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers”. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL") are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVPL
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE N BHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(n) Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating
interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts and payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form
an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net

carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest/dividend income which are derived
from the Group’s ordinary course of business

are presented as revenue.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on
a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or

convention in the market place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.
(CONTINUED)

EESHREX®@m

n) €@ I A

(n) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent
measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at
amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is to
collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at
FVOCI:

e the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is
achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently
measured at FVPL, except that at the date of
initial recognition of a financial asset, the
Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive income if
that equity investment is neither held for
trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business
Combinations” applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent
measurement of financial assets (Continued)
A financial asset is held for trading if:

(i)

it has been acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a
portfolio of identified financial instruments
that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial
assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost and debt instruments
subsequently measured at FVOCI.
Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired.
For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that
the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent

measurement of financial assets (Continued)

(i)  Equity instruments designated as at
FVOCI
Investments in equity instruments at
FVOCI are subsequently measured at
fair value with gains and losses arising
from changes in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve; and are not subject
to impairment assessment. The
cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal
of the equity investments, and will be
transferred to retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in
equity instruments are recognised in
profit or loss when the Group’s right to
receive the dividends is established,
unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the
other income in profit or loss.

(i) Financial assets at FVPL
Financial assets that do not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised
cost or FVOCI or designated as FVOCI
are measured at FVPL.

Financial assets at FVPL are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting
period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend or interest earned
on the financial asset held for trading.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE N BHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that
are denominated in a foreign currency is
determined in that foreign currency and
translated at the spot rate at the end of each
reporting period. Specifically:

e For financial assets measured at
amortised cost that are not part of a
designated hedging relationship,
exchange differences are recognised in
profit or loss in the “Other gains and
losses” line item as part of the net
exchange gain/(loss);

e For financial assets measured at FVPL
that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship, exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss in the “Other
gains and losses” line item as part of the
net gain/(loss) from changes in fair value
of financial assets measured at FVPL;

e For equity instruments measured at
FVOCI, exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive
income in the investment revaluation
reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EESHEw
(CONTINUED)

(n) Financial instruments (Continued)

n) €@ I A

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment
under expected credit loss (‘ECL”) model on
financial assets (including amounts due from
former subsidiaries in liquidation, associates
and joint ventures, joint operations/other
partners of joint operations, trade and other
receivables, loan receivables, pledged bank
deposits, short-term bank deposits and bank
balances) and financial guarantee contracts
which are subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will
result from all possible default events over the
expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”)
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that
are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessments are done based
on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for
trade receivables. The ECL on these assets
are assessed individually for debtors with
significant and credit-impaired balances and/
or collectively with appropriate groupings by
common risk characteristics.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE N BHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(n) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default

occurring since initial recognition.

()  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

3.

EESHREX®@m

n) €@ I A

EREE (H)

=B E ERE @
MAABEHMITAMS  A&HE
AAEZEERERSE 12/
ABBMEEEBR RIS
R R 25 B R B K8 g
e ERBRT  AEEEE
ReHBRYEEEE - FEHR
CREREREHEHEEEBE
DERBVLHERIAREE
ERZAIBEESERA SN
W& 3 0 T T o

() 15 E & A b5 00
At EERR B VT R
ARA B KIEENE - K
SRR ITARNR
THHBELEEO ZER SR
TR T ARV HER BN
BHEEN AR EIEY
AHEE S AEBEEEA
BLRASEZEEREME
o ermatgh B A
MHEABRZKARE N
BRI RS Z AT BEME & #Y



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

0

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

e an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk;

e existing or forecast adverse
changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant
adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

0

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that
the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

For financial guarantee contracts, the
date that the Group becomes a party to
the irrevocable commitment is
considered to be the date of initial
recognition for the purposes of assessing
the impairment. In assessing whether
there has been a significant increase in
the credit risk since initial recognition of
financial guarantee contracts, the Group
considers the changes in the risk that
the specified debtor will default on the
contract.

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure
that the criteria are capable of identifying
significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the
Group considers an event of default
occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following
events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a
default or past due event;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

(Continued)

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset
when there is information indicating that
the counterparty is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when
the counterparty has been placed under
liguidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-
off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.
(CONTINUED)

EEGHTBREm@m
(n) Financial instruments (Continued) n) €@ I Eum

EREE (H)
TREERE®R

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of
the probability of default, loss given
default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at
default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and
forward-looking information. Estimation
of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference
between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition. For a lease receivable,
the cash flows used for determining the
ECL is consistent with the cash flows
used in measuring the lease receivable
in accordance with HKFRS 16.

For a financial guarantee contract, the
Group is required to make payments
only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of
the instrument that is guaranteed.
Accordingly, the ECL is the present
value of the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss
that it incurs less any amounts that the
Group expects to receive from the
holder, the debtor or any other party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE N BHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(n) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

(Continued)

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts
for which the effective interest rate
cannot be determined, the Group will
apply a discount rate that reflects the
current market assessment of the time
value of money and the risks that are
specific to the cash flows but only if, and
to the extent that, the risks are taken
into account by adjusting the discount
rate instead of adjusting the cash
shortfalls being discounted.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables
are considered on a collective basis
taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit
information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group
takes into consideration the following
characteristics when formulating the
grouping :

Nature of financial instruments;
e  Past-due status;

e Nature, size and industry of debtors;
and

e External credit ratings where
available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.
(CONTINUED)

EESHREX®@m

n) €@ I A

(n) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued) THEE#)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) EREERE @

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL () FEHEEERZITERE
(Continued) 7R ()

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents
of each group continue to share similar
credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on
the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the
loss allowances are recognised at the
higher of the amount of the loss
allowance determined in accordance
with HKFRS 9 and the amount initially
recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised
over the guarantee period.

The Group recognises an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amounts, with the exception of
trade and other receivables, contract
assets, amounts due from former
subsidiaries in liquidation, amounts due
from associates, amounts due from joint
ventures, amounts due from joint
operations/other partners of joint
operations and loan receivables where
the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance
account.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset
only when the contractual rights to the cash
flows from the asset expire, or when it
transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset
and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset
measured at amortised cost, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity
instrument which the Group has elected on
initial recognition to measure at FVOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but
is transferred to retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EESHEw
(CONTINUED)

(n) Financial instruments (Continued)

n) €@ I A

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of
an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recognised at the proceeds received, net
of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including trade and other
payables, amounts due to former subsidiaries
in liquidation, amount due to a non-controlling
shareholder, amount due to a joint venture,
and bank and other borrowings) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in
a foreign currency and are measured at
amortised cost at the end of each reporting
period, the foreign exchange gains and losses
are determined based on the amortised cost
of the instruments. These foreign exchange
gains and losses are recognised in the “Other
gains and losses” line item in profit or loss as
part of net exchange gain/(loss) for financial
liabilities that are not part of a designated
hedging relationship.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n)

(o)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Offsetting a financial asset and a
financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are
offset and the net amount presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position
when, and only when, the Group currently
has a legally enforceable right to set off the
recognized amounts; and intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or
after the date of initial application or arising
from business combination, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 “Leases” at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the
terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EESHEw
(CONTINUED)

(0) Leases (Continued) (o) HE®@m

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to
components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease
or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component on the basis of the
relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components, including
contract for acquisition of ownership interests
of a property which includes both leasehold
land and non-lease building components,
unless such allocation cannot be made
reliably.

Non-lease components are separated from
lease component and are accounted for by
applying other applicable standards.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to leases of assets
that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. Lease payments
on short-term leases are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE N BHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(o) Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

Except for short-term leases, the Group
recognises right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e. the
date the underlying asset is available for use).
Except for those that are classified as
investment properties and measured under
fair value model, right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of
the lease liability;

e any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the
Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by
the Group in dismantling and removing
the underlying assets, restoring the site
on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of
the lease.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

3.

EESHREX®@m

(o) & )

KEBERAREA (#)
FERHEEE

BREBAEEN AEERHEE
FMia < B (BNAERE & =]
AzB)EREREEE K
ZEWEOBEABEAFEE
BAFHEZREWEIN FH
BEEUNKANREEMRE
meEXBERETE WM
EaBEZEMAEFRGTEED

o

B

EREEEZIKRANBE:

s HMEBBZYFHESR
B

o RHMBHKZAELZ
EREENFK BERE
WHEHEEE:

s AREBEAZEMUVBE
NN

o AKEBERIRLKERH
BE BERMEBEEME
SR ERMEBEEEZM
B R B AR BT AR E 2
WU EE A 2 fh RS



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EESHEw
(CONTINUED)

(0) Leases (Continued) (o) HE®@m

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)
Right-of-use assets in which the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from
commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that
do not meet the definition of investment
property as a separate line item in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
The right-of-use assets that meet the
definition of investment property are
presented within investment properties.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are
accounted for under HKFRS 9 and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the
cost of right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE N BHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(o) Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the
Group recognises and measures the lease
liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group
uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable;

e variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, initially measured
using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

e amounts expected to be payable by the
Group under residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option if
the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise the option; and

e payments of penalties for terminating a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate the
lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities
are adjusted by interest accretion and lease
payments.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

3.

EESHREX®@m

(o) & )

KEBERAREA (#)
HEEE

NEERBBH AEEIKRZ
AR ZHEMNKRERR
NMAEHEAE REFEHE
NRBRER  WHEHERS ZF
KHEEBETE AASBEFHME
ERBBHZEEERAE

E
ago

HENRERE

e BEEMNR(BHREEMZ
B 7 A 3K R AE {7 FE W

EEE:

o BFREHBEAAMERMELZA
BEHENK  FERAR
%A B HI 2 5 8Osk B R 51

82

o AKBERBERZIFIRE
BEFEHEN 228

e BEEERZITEEMH
AEBEABBEITEZE
2R

STl
(fie 76 HA I Bk AR &2 [ 17
BEERIEEES) -

e WIFTHEMXKMZE

NHEERBEMNR HEAE
A RIE R R E ML

GER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EESHEw
(CONTINUED)

(0) Leases (Continued) (o) HE®@m

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification
as a separate lease if;

e the maodification increases the scope of
the lease by adding the right to use one
or more underlying assets; and

e the consideration for the leases
increases by an amount commensurate
with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to
reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted
for as a separate lease, the Group
remeasures the lease liability, less any lease
incentives receivable based on the lease term
of the modified lease by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement
of lease liabilities by making corresponding
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
asset. When the modified contract contains a
lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.
The Group presents lease liabilities as a
separate line item in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(o) Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of
leases

Leases are classified as finance leases
whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset. Other
than investment properties measured under
fair value model, such cost are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Allocation of consideration to
components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and
non-lease components, the Group applies
HKFRS 15 to allocate consideration in a
contract to lease and non-lease components.
Non-lease components are separated from
lease component on the basis of their relative
stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are
accounted for under HKFRS 9 and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments from lessees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

()

()

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a modification to an
operating lease as a new lease from the
effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments
relating to the original lease as part of the
lease payments for the new lease.

Revenue from contracts with
customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying
the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a goods
or service (or a bundle of goods or services)
that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue
is recognised over time by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by
the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

REMBRRME
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(p) Revenue from contracts with

customers (Continued)

e the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not
create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of
the distinct goods or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right
to consideration in exchange for goods or
services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is
assessed for impairment in accordance with
HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents
the Group’s unconditional right to consideration,
i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s
obligation to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration
is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability
relating to the same contract are accounted
for and presented on a net basis.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

3.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

EESHREX®@m

p) REEFEFEHZHWA @

s AREBEZEHNELNIESS
—HEE G MZBEBER
AEBRAOAKATFP &

Bk

s AERBEZEHNAURELR
AEBEERARZE

E -BAKEHLZSE

—
70

X B #) 2 < R BB A] 5k

HITZHER o

BRI WAREPESHERNE

17

(SN ©

m ok fik 155 12 1) A 2 B T T

BHNEERASERBLERA

SECEEERP2EME

=

AR 7% T U2 B A (B 2 #E A (A 3F
BT EREBEFEM B R
EEAEOFRETRER S
BEmS  BREHBEERNEE
ERFBRARE RS AT
ZHREBIRAXNZARFR

Kl —BRERE -

FHABREAKRERNCRAT
PUEBAE (KD 2Bz KE
TR MARETEFBEER

SR 2 BAE o
HE—-AQHBEZEH:?
MEHBBENEFEELE
RN 25 e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EESHEw
(CONTINUED)

(p) Revenue from contracts with

p) REEFEFEHZHWA @

customers (Continued)

Contracts with multiple performance
obligations (including allocation of
transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one
performance obligation, the Group allocates
the transaction price to each performance
obligation on a relative stand-alone selling
price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct
goods or service underlying each
performance obligation is determined at
contract inception. It represents the price at
which the Group would sell a promised
goods or service separately to a customer. If
a stand-alone selling price is not directly
observable, the Group estimates it using
appropriate technigues such that the
transaction price ultimately allocated to any
performance obligation reflects the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to
be entitled in exchange for transferring the
promised goods or services to the customer.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(p) Revenue from contracts with

customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition:
measurement of progress toward
complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Input method (for income from
construction contracts and property
development management services)

The progress towards complete satisfaction
of a performance obligation is measured
based on input method, which is to recognise
revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or
inputs to the satisfaction of a performance
obligation relative to the total expected inputs
to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’s
performance in transferring control of goods
or services.

Output method (for income from port
related services)

The progress towards complete satisfaction
of a performance obligation is measured
based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct
measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date
relative to the remaining goods or services
promised under the contract, that best depict
the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EESHEw
(CONTINUED)

p) REEFEFEHZHWA @

(p) Revenue from contracts with

customers (Continued)

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable
consideration in relation to the variation works
and claims for prolongation, the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to
which it will be entitled using either (a) the
expected value method or (b) the most likely
amount, depending on which method better
predicts the amount of consideration to
which the Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable
consideration is included in the transaction
price only to the extent that it is highly
probable that such an inclusion will not result
in a significant revenue reversal in the future
when the uncertainty associated with the
variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the
Group updates the estimated transaction
price (including updating its assessment of
whether an estimate of variable consideration
is constrained) to represent faithfully the
circumstances present at the end of the
reporting period and the changes in
circumstances during the reporting period.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(p) Revenue from contracts with

customers (Continued)

Existence of significant financing
component

In determining the transaction price, the
Group adjusts the promised amount of
consideration for the effects of the time value
of money if the timing of payments agreed
(either explicitly or implicitly) provides the
customer or the Group with a significant
benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer. In those
circumstances, the contract contains a
significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of
whether the promise of financing is explicitly
stated in the contract or implied by the
payment terms agreed to by the parties to
the contract.

For contracts where the period between
payment and transfer of the associated
goods or services is less than one year, the
Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the transaction price for any
significant financing component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EESHEw
(CONTINUED)

p) REEFEFEHZHWA @

(p) Revenue from contracts with

customers (Continued)

Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in
its construction contracts. The Group first
assesses whether these costs qualify for
recognition as an asset in terms of other
relevant standards, failing which it recognises
an asset for these costs only if they meet all
of the following criteria:

e the costs relate directly to a contract or
to an anticipated contract that the Group
can specifically identify;

e the costs generate or enhance resources
of the Group that will be used in
satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future;
and

e the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset so recognised is subsequently
amortised to profit or loss on a systematic
basis that is consistent with the transfer to
the customer of the goods or services to
which the assets relate. The asset is subject
to impairment review.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(p) Revenue from contracts with

customers (Continued)

Performance obligations for contracts
with customers

Income from construction contracts and
property development management
services

The Group provides management contracting
services and property development
management services to customers. Revenue
from such services is recognised as a
performance obligation satisfied over time
using input method as the Group’s
performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group
performs.

The Group’s certain construction contracts
include payment schedules which require
stage payments over the construction period
once certain specified milestones are
reached. In addition, the Group requires
certain customers to provide upfront deposits
or advance payments for construction works,
this will give rise to contract liabilities at the
start of a contract, until the revenue
recognised on the specific contract exceeds
the amount received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EESHEw
(CONTINUED)

p) REEFEFEHZHWA @

(p) Revenue from contracts with

customers (Continued)

Performance obligations for contracts
with customers (Continued)

Income from construction contracts and
property development management
services (Continued)

A contract asset, net of contract liability
related to the same contract, is recognised
over the period in which the construction
services are performed representing the
Group’s right to consideration for the services
performed because the rights are conditioned
on the Group’s future performance in
achieving specified milestones or the value of
construction work has been agreed with the
customers. The contract assets are
transferred to trade debtors when the rights
become unconditional, which is typically at
the time the Group obtains the certification of
the completed construction works from the
customers.

Retention held by customers, prior to
expiration of defect liability period, are
classified as contract assets or liabilities,
which ranges from one to two years from the
date of the practical completion of the
construction. The relevant amount is
reclassified to trade debtors when the defect
liability period expires. The defect liability
period serves as an assurance that the
construction services performed comply with
agreed upon specifications and such
assurance cannot be purchased separately.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(p) Revenue from contracts with

customers (Continued)

Performance obligations for contracts
with customers (Continued)

Income from port related services
Income from port related services is
recognised over time in which the benefits of
the services are received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer as the Group
performs. Revenue is recognised based on
the price specified in the contract, net of the
estimated volume discounts. Accumulated
experience is used to estimate and provide
for the discounts using the expected value
approach, and revenue is only recognised to
the extent that it is highly probable that a
significant reversal will not occur. A contract
liability is recognised for advance from
customers with contracts while a refund
liability is recognised for volume discount, if
any.

Sale of LPG and CNG products

Revenue from distribution of LPG and CNG is
recognised when the goods are delivered
and titles have passed. A contract liability is
recognised for advance from customers with
contracts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(p)

(q)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Performance obligations for contracts
with customers (Continued)

Revenue from sale of properties

Revenue from sale of properties developed
for sale is recognised upon the execution of
binding sales agreements and delivery of the
properties according to the contract, which is
the point in time when the customer has the
ability to direct the use of the property and
obtain substantially all of the remaining
benefits of the property. A contract liability is
recognised for advance from customers with
contracts.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such
time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Any specific
borrowing that remain outstanding after the
related asset is ready for its intended use or
sale is included in the general borrowing pool
for calculation of capitalised rate on general
borrowings. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(r)

Impairment losses on property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that
these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets are estimated individually.
When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(r)

Impairment losses on property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets (Continued)

In addition, the Group assesses whether
there is indication that corporate assets may
be impaired. If such indication exists,
corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash-generating units, when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be identified, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
are tested for impairment at least annually,
and whenever there is an indication that they
may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or cash-generating unit) for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(r)

Impairment losses on property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a
cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-
generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying
amounts of the corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets allocated to that group of
cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating
units. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. The carrying amount of an
asset is not reduced below the highest of its
fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash
generating units. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(r)

(s)

(t)

Impairment losses on property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or
cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (or cash-
generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefit schemes including Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes and state-managed
retirement benefit schemes are recognised as
an expense or capitalised in contracts in
progress, where appropriate, when
employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term
employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised
at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost
of an asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(t)

(u)

Short-term and other long-term
employee benefits (Continued)

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing
to employees (such as wages and salaries,
annual leave and sick leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-
term employee benefits are measured at the
present value of the estimated future cash
outflows expected to be made by the Group
in respect of services provided by employees
up to the reporting date. Any changes in the
liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting from
service cost, interest and remeasurements
are recognised in profit or loss except to the
extent that another HKFRS requires or
permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset.

Taxation

Income tax for the year comprises current tax
and movements in deferred tax assets and
liabilities. Income tax is recognised in the
consolidated income statement except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case it is recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on
the taxable income for the year, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EESHEw
(CONTINUED)

m)ﬁﬁﬁ>

(u) Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding
tax base used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax loses and unused tax credits
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are generally recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and do not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences (provided they are not part of a
business combination). Deferred tax is not
recognised for those related to income taxes
arising from tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted to implement the Pillar Two Model
Rules published by the Organisation for
Economic Co-operation and Development.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(u) Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, and interests
in associates and joint ventures, except
where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities separately in
relation to its lease liabilities and right-of-use
assets.

Where investment properties are carried at
their fair value, the amount of deferred tax
recognised is measured using the tax rates
that would apply on sale of those assets at
their carrying value at the end of the reporting
period unless the properties are depreciable
and are held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the properties
over time, rather than through sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(u) Taxation (Continued)

(v)

In all other cases, the amount of deferred tax
recognised is measured based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement
of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset
is reviewed at the end of each reporting
period and is reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax
benefits to be utilised. Any such reduction is
reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in
currencies other than the functional currency
of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.

REMBRRME
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B FE20245F3A31ALLFE
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(v) Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the
settlement of monetary items, and on the
retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the
consolidated financial statements, the assets
and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong
dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and
expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
that period, in which case the exchange rates
at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve (attributed to non-
controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in a joint arrangement or an associate
that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest becomes a financial asset),
all of the exchange differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EESHEw
(CONTINUED)

(v) Foreign currencies (Continued)

(v) &)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of
a subsidiary that does not result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to
non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (i.e. partial disposal of
associates or joint arrangements that do not
result in the Group losing significant influence
or joint control), the proportionate share of
the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on
identifiable assets acquired arising on an
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated
as assets and liabilities of that foreign
operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising
are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting
policies, which are described in Note 3, the
directors of the Company are required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT 4.
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

FTEGHTHERAEE MG
ZEERF @

Key sources of estimation uncertainty FTREMFTZEERR @
(Continued)

(a) Impairment assessment of interests in
associates

(a) RBEE LAz 2B EFE

The Group assesses whether there are any
indicators of impairment for interests in
associates at the end of each reporting
period. An impairment exists when the
carrying value of the interest in associates
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the
higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use. The calculation of
recoverable amount requires significant
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judgements by management on key internal ANHNE o MARKREHEHER
inputs and external market conditions. |If & BEEEO YO £ 5EETT
future events do not correspond to the 5] MLl BEE RN E B /&
assumptions, the recoverable amount will SBEESYBAIELATE -

need to be revised, and this may have impact
on the Group’s operating performance or
financial position.
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HE20245F3A31ALLFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(Continued)

(b) Fair value measurements and valuation

processes
Some of the Group’s assets are measured at
fair value for financial reporting purposes. In
estimating the fair value of an asset, the
Group uses market-observable data to the
extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are
not available, the Group engages an
independent qualified professional valuer to
perform the valuation. Management of the
Company works closely with the valuer to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs to the model.

The Group uses valuation techniques that
include inputs which are not based on
observable market data to estimate the fair
value of certain types of financial instruments
and investment properties. Notes 20, 24 and
39(c) provide detailed information about the
valuation techniques, inputs and key
assumptions used in the determination of the
fair value of various assets.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

4,

£
Z

EeHERAEEME
FERE @

THEEMET 2 EERIF @

(b)

ARFEETAERGEREF

W BREMS AKEET
BEDNEAFEEFE - NME
AFEECAFEER AKE
{8 M H Al B T 35 A 8
2R o W BRI E — Rl A
BB AREEZEBIUGE
REXMGEMETHE - AR
RIEEEREEMEBNAE"
AAREFEY EE ZHER
oy Kt A B -

AEBFEABIEWIEERA
BEMBHEE B AREZ
mERMN GrirE TEA SR
TARKEMEZAFEE-
B 5520 24 X% 390)& B A
ETrTZBEEERAFEAZM
ERl BABBEERETERR
ZEEIE o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT 4.
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

FTEGHTHERAEE MG
ZEERF @

Key sources of estimation uncertainty FTREMFTZEERR @
(Continued)

(c) Impairment assessment of property, (c)

V¥ BERRE EHEE

plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets

Determining whether property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets are impaired requires an estimation of
the recoverable amount of the cash
generating units (or group of cash-generating
units) to which property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets have
been allocated. The value in use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating units (or group of cash-generating
units) and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, or
change in facts and circumstances of which
results in downward revision of future cash
flows or upward revision of discount rate, a
material impairment loss may arise. Details of
the property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets and the
impairment assessment are disclosed in
Notes 18, 19 and 21.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT 4, T EE
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION ZEE
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

SHHE R AR E ML
R ()

THEEMET 2 EERIF @

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(d) Provision of ECL for financial assets

(d BBHEXLAEZTHEE

measured at amortised costs

The assessment of ECL is based on historical
observed default rates and adjusted by
forward-looking information that is reasonable
and supportable available without undue
costs or effort. At every reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-
looking information are considered. The
provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL on
the Group’s financial assets is disclosed in
Note 39(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group estimates ECL for financial assets
which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9. Except for financial assets with
significant outstanding balances or credit-
impaired which are individually assessed for
ECL, the Group collectively assesses the ECL
of financial assets, including trade receivables
which consist of debtors with common risk
characteristics.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT 4.
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

FTEGHTHERAEE MG
ZEERF @

Key sources of estimation uncertainty FTREMFTZEERR @
(Continued)

(e) Construction contracts

(e) BESH

The Group recognises contract revenue and
profit of a construction contract according to
the management’s estimation of the total
outcome of the project as well as the
progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation measured based on
input method. Notwithstanding that
management reviews and revises the
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estimates of both contract revenue and costs Broat B2onl s =2 R sk 1K N 5t
for the construction contract as the contract B Mg ELe R 2 A
progresses, the actual outcome of the N g ) o

contract in terms of its total revenue and

costs may be higher or lower than the

estimates and this will affect the revenue and

profit recognised.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it
will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from
the prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of the
borrowings disclosed in Note 33, net of cash and
cash equivalents, and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital and reserves.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has cash, bank
balances and deposits of approximately
HK$20,121,000 (2023: HK$774,236,000) and
bank and other borrowings of approximately
HK$15,977,000 (2023: HK$534,989,000). The
Group did not have net debt as at 31 March 2024
and 2023. The decrease in the cash position was
mainly attributable to the use of cash for
repayment of borrowings.

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure periodically. As part of this review, the
directors consider the cost of capital and their
associated risks thereto. The Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues as well as the issue
of new debt or the redemption of existing debits.
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REVENUE 6. WA
Revenue from continuing operations is analysed KEFHEKEEBIZWAZDN
as follows: mn
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Continuing operations BEREXER
Sales and services income: HE RRBEWA :
Income from port related services 78 O 18 8 AR 7% A 2,625 2,431
Sale of LPG and CNG products HER/ABRKRESE
RINRE 48,843 69,063
51,468 71,494
Interest income: B A :
Interest income from loan receivables fEUL & 3 > | B Uk A 8,702 5,600
Rental income: el A :
Rental income from investment K"EMFEZHE WA
properties 1,800 —
61,970 77,094

Revenue from contracts with customers includes (i)
income from port related services that are
recognised over time and (ii) revenue from sale of
LPG and CNG products that are recognised at a

point in time.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The operating segments of the Group are
determined based on information reported to
executive directors, the Group’s chief operating
decision makers, for the purposes of resources
allocation and performance assessment. The
information focuses more specifically on the
strategic operation and development of each
business unit and its performance is evaluated
through organizing business units with similar
economic characteristics into an operating
segment.

As disclosed in Note 15, the comprehensive
engineering and property-related services
provided through Paul Y. Engineering and the land
and property development and investment in the
PRC were classified as discontinued operations of
the Group and their operating results were
presented separately from the continuing
operations of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2023.

In assessing the performance of the operating
segments, certain non-operating items which
were not directly related to the segment’s
operating performance would not be taken into
account. Accordingly, (i) corporate and other
expenses which are not directly related to the
performance of the operating segments; (i) net
exchange gain/loss which are mainly arising from
intra-company loans; (i) gain on forfeiture of
deposit and earnest money received arising from
corporate exercise; (iv) distributions from liquidated
subsidiaries and impairment allowance
recognised/reversed on amounts due from the
liquidated subsidiaries which had ceased
operation; and (v) finance costs driven by the
Group’s financing decisions were adjusted out
from the profit/loss before tax in arriving at the
segment results.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The operating and reportable segments are as
follows:

Continuing operations

Ports and — Ports development, operation
logistics of ports, LPG, CNG and
liquefied natural gas (“LNG”)
distribution and logistics
businesses
Property — Investment and leasing of
real estate properties (other
than in the PRC)
Securities — Investment and trading of
securities
Financial — Provision of loan financing,
services financial related services

and cash management

Discontinued operations
Engineering — Building construction, civil
engineering, property
development management,
project management and
facilities management
services
PRC property — Development, investment, sale
and leasing of real estate
properties, developed land,
land under development and
projects under development
in the PRC

7.

REMBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7.

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue
and results by operating and reportable segment:

For the year ended 31 March 2024

Continuing operations

7 8 & B o)
PBRARESE

ATNBAEEREERAIRED
MBI D ZWAREEDH

BZE2024F3A31HLEEE

Discontinued operations

FEREER DRIEREER
Segment
Ports and Financial PRC total and
logistics  Property Securities services Sub-total Engineering property — Sub-total consolidated
#0 A A
&R L/ BF LRRY Nt I8 HEY#E Nt R&E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$000 HK$'000
TEr TEx TFEx TEx THEx TEr THEn TET TER
Revenue WA 51,468 1,800 - 8,702 61,970 - - - 61,970
Segment results* EIES 30,715 (31,636 (12) (204,481) (205,414) - - - (205,414)
Corporate and other expenses ¥ R E M X (89,560) - (89,560)
Net exchange loss EXEBRTER (1,371) - (1,371)
Gain on forfeiture of depositand R Wiz & Rl B¢
eamnest money received Bz 8,200 = 8,200
Impairment loss reversed on & U5 & 1 AT B B
amounts due from former ARFEZAE
subsidiaries in liquidation EREM 31,111 - 31,111
Finance costs BERKK (6,627) - (6,627)
Loss before taxation BEAER (263,661) - (263,661)
Taxation aE| 351 - 351
Loss for the year FEER (263,310) - (263,310)

Blue River Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024

EZE2024F3 31 HIEFE
7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7. 7EER @
Segment revenue and results (Continued) pal LGN E S 1C )
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue UTAAEERKERARE D
and results by operating and reportable segment: 2|5 7 A REEDT
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BIE£2023F3A31HILLFE
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
RELEER BRIEREER
Segment
Ports and Financial PRC total and
logistics ~ Property ~Securiies  services  Sub-total  Engineering  property  Sub-total  consolidated
#0 GEEE
EWR ES &5 LRERB NE I8 HhENZE NE Riza

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$O00 HKEO00 — HK$'000 HKF000  HKEO00  HK$'000
TET  TET  TET TAT TExR TEL TERT  TERL TEL

Revenue WA 71,494 - - 5600 77,094 5269544 7874 5277418 5354512
Segment results* NEEE (65,529)  (6,331) 651 41,414 (29,795)  (383,299) (153,657)  (536,956) (566,751)
Corporate and other expenses ¥ R E X (89,362) - (89,362)
Net exchange loss EXEBRTR (9,268) ©) 9,277)
Impairment loss reversed on [ Y% & AT BT /B
amounts due from former RAIRBEZRE
subsidiaries in liquidation EBEM 3,377 - 3,377
Finance costs BERK (16,656) (49,523) (66,179)
Loss before taxation BRAER (141,704) (586,488) (728,192)
Taxation HIE (434) 19,621 19,187
Loss for the year FEEE (142,138) (566,867) (709,005)
* For the year ended 31 March 2024, gain on disposal of * HZE2024FE3A31ALEE  LEHWB AT
subsidiaries of approximately HK$59,323,000 (2023: Nil) has been 9 U 25 4959,323,0003% 7T (2023 : &) B 5
recognised in the ports and logistics segment. ORYTRDEERALE -
For the year ended 31 March 2023, (i) loss on deemed disposal of HZE2023FE3A3IBIEFEE  ((BIELER
Paul Y. Engineering of approximately HK$317,103,000 (2024: Nil) W EE 4317,103,0005 7T (2024 - &)
has been recognised in the engineering segment and (i) gain on ERIROHBERAR  RijEEERIEE
disposal of discontinued operation of approximately A 2k 25 938,110,000 7T (2024 + 4 )
HK$38,110,000 (2024: Nil) has been recognised in the PRC R Ry D IREDZALRE -

property segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets
and liabilities by operating and reportable
segment:

As at 31 March 2024

7. DEHER @
PTHEERARE

ATNBAEEREERAIRED
MEI D 2 BERBED T

R202453A31H

Segment
Ports and Financial total and
logistics Property  Securities services consolidated
;:Jm AHEE
RAOR S #F SERE k&
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TER TER TER TER TER
ASSETS iE
Segment assets NEEE 47,843 73,981 131,285 692,847 945,956
Unallocated assets* A A FEEE* 30,106
Consolidated total 47 A BEE
assets 976,062
LIABILITIES 8
Segment liabiities D EE & 6,557 10,146 - 34 16,737
Unallocated liabilities* kD& &* 33,025
Consolidated total A BEE
liabilities 49,762
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)
As at 31 March 2023

FE N BHRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

7. 7EER @
THEEREE W@
202343831 H

Segment
Ports and Financial total and
logistics Property  Securities services  consolidated
A0 nEaE
&b mE HE  LRRE RiRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET THT TET TET
ASSETS BE
Segment assets NHEE 169,540 107,683 90,185 754,090 1,121,498
Unallocated assets* K p B EE* 827,358
Consolidated total A B EE
assets 1,948,856
LIABILITIES af
Segment liabiities D EE & 30,758 24,129 12 295 55,194
Unallocated liabilities* kDB & &* 550,097
Consolidated total G A®BEE
liabilities

Unallocated assets include cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$6,959,000 (2023: HK$757,475,000) and
amounts due from former subsidiaries in liquidation of
approximately HK$1,303,000 (2023: HK$20,865,000), while the
unallocated liabilities include bank and other borrowings of
approximately HK$15,977,000 (2023: HK$528,139,000) and
amounts due to former subsidiaries in liquidation of nil (2023:
HK$27,000).

605,291

AOPREERRRESEEBETLERED
6,959,000 7 7T (2023 : 757,475,000 & 7T ) &
FE W 45 R AT B B A B 5K I8 49 1,303,000 &
7t (2023 : 20,865,000 B JT) * MA D E B &
Bl 5 8 17 & E b f& K 49 15,977,000 7 7T
(2023 : 528,139,000 7 JT) K fE {5 /5 & & A1
BB A &) 578 B Z (2023 : 27,0008 7T) °

EmMEZERAERLDT 2024 F 7R
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

Segment assets and liabilities comprise assets
and liabilities of the operating subsidiaries, as well
as certain interests in associates and investments
in equity instruments that are engaged in relevant
segmental businesses. Accordingly, segment
assets exclude corporate assets which are mainly
certain bank balances and cash, interest in a joint
venture, right-of-use assets and other receivables,
and segment liabilities exclude corporate liabilities
which are mainly certain bank and other
borrowings, other payables and lease liabilities.

For the purpose of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance, deferred
tax liabilities are allocated to segment liabilities but
the related deferred tax credit/charge are not
reported to the executive directors of the
Company as part of segment results.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7. 2EE R @)

Other information HaEgw
The following is an analysis of the Group’s other WTBAREEKREE RAImRED
information by operating and reportable segment: ME| S 7 HmER SN -
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BIE202453A31HILLFE
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
FRERSERK BALAEEK
Segment
Ports and Financial PRC total and
logistics  Property Securities services Unallocated Sub-total Engineering property Sub-total consolidated
R ABAH

R 0% 5 SREHK AR A IR wEME N R&&
HK$000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$000  HK$000 HK$'000  HKS'000 HK$000 HK$'000  HK$'000
Tén TEx TEx FEx Tz TEx  TEx TEx TEx ThR

Amounts included in the TAPBEES

measure of segment ABEE/

results or segment assets/ ~ BEHEY

liabilities: HE:
Additions to non-current assets £ B JER BN 4 &

other than financial (RBIARM

instruments 5,160 - — 142,800 3,642 151,602 - - - 151,602
Amortisation of intangible assets {7/ 4 &= 4§ (45) - - - = (45) = = = (45)
Depreciation of property, plant )% + 5 k& &

and equipment nE (5,087) - - - (1,207)  (6,294) - - - (6,294)
Depreciation of right-of-use ERREENE

assefs (3.224) - - —  (0461) (13685) - - - (13689)
Impairment loss recognised on ~ EM & Z 2 i

loan receivables BE®ER (40) = = = = (40) - - - (40)
Impairment loss reversed on ~ JE B & ATl B

amounts due from former RRFBEZAE

subsidiaries in liquidation BEEE - - - = 31,111 31,111 = - - 311
Loss on disposal of property, — REWE - EH L

plant and equipment SEzER (510) = = = (750)  (1,260) = = = (1,260)
Impairment loss on right-of-use  FBEEE

assets ZREEE - - - - (8,877)  (8,877) = = = (8,877)
Fair value changes of investment X & #1% 7 AT

properties EBZ - (9,800) = = - (9,800 - - - (9,800)
Bank and other interest income 17 & E 7] &

A 144 - - - 5 149 - - - 149
Share of results of associates B {E B4 N E %4 - (23,160 - (207,448) - (230,608) = = - (230,608)
Share of results of a joint venture #1{f —HAZ %
EE - - - - (4,642) (4,642 - - = (4,642)

Interests in associates B2 N FER - 20147 - 657,439 - 677,586 - - - 677,586
Interest in a joint venture —HeEbEER - = = = 11,500 11,500 - - - 11,500
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

Blue River Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Other information (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Continuing operations

7.

7 EE R @

HiER @

BZE2023F3A31HLEE

Discontinued operations

BELEEE BRIEEEER
Segment
Ports and Financial PRC total and
logistics ~ Property ~ Securities  services  Unallocated ~ Sub-total  Engineering  property  Sub-total  consolidated
pAn| AaE
&b ES 5 SRR% AOE et I FENE Pt LA
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET ThArL  TAT TExn TET TAT THT ThAT THEx THET
Amounts included in the AL BEED
measure of segment ABEE/
results or segment assets/ EBEHER
liabilities: HE:
Additions to non-current assets 2RI L E
other than financial (RBIARM
instruments 13,403 110,258 — 460,204 24,220 608,085 18,739 2,385 21,124 629,209
Amortisation of intangible assets 4 1/ & = # 55 (46) - = = = (46) (18,083) (41)  (18,124) (18,170)
Depreciation of property, plant %1% « #5 R & &
and equipment bl (2,703) - - - (1,104)  (3,807) (23,355)  (14,755)  (38,110) (41,917)
Depreciation of right-of-use CRREENE
assels (2,635  (405) - — {0115 (13155 (17,0400 (664 (17,704 (30859
Impairment loss reversed on ~ [EWE H 7 FE
loan receivables BEEE - - - 600 - 600 - - - 600
Impairment loss recognised on & 5 Jx £ ff & Ut
trade and other receivables, ERRERR
net R EE - - - - - - (27,484) (949)  (28,433) (28,433)
Impairment loss reversedon ~ JEUE R AT B
amounts due from former INGIE S
subsidiaries in liquidation HEBREE - - - - 3377 3317 - - - 3377
Write-down of stock of ) %T EZRME
properties W - - - - - - — (115324) (115324)  (115,324)
Loss on disposal of property, B EWE - #H &
plant and equipment HEBR (172) - - - - (172) (900) (154)  (1,054) (1,226)
Impairment loss on property,  ¥1% - 4 R R
plant and equipment ZREER (54,426) - - - - (54,420) - (7,456)  (7,456) (61,882
Fair value changes of investment £ & 9% 7 A
properties BEED - 459) - - - (2459 - 9110) (29110  (31569)
Bank and other interestincome 77 R E 1 5 &
WA 141 2 - - 56 199 790 66 856 1,055
Share of results of associates ~ B{EBE N A EE - (1199) — 42676 — 41483 ®) - ®) 41,475
Share of results of joint ventures B (54 SN E ¥4 - - - - (4,839) (4,839 (119) - (119) (4,958)
Gain (loss) on disposal of HECKRIEEEE
discontinued operations BzhE (BE) - - - - - - (317,109 38110 (278993  (278,993)
Interests in associates AN FES — 43307 — 724597 — 767,904 - - - 767,904
Interest in a joint venture —HAshERER - - - - 14,812 14,812 - - - 14,812




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7. 7HER @

Geographical information i & & K

The Group’s operations are mainly located in REBZEBKFTEUREBS(RE
Hong Kong (place of domicile), Macau and the )  BFEANRFE(TEEERE B
PRC (excluding Hong Kong and Macau). Fg) e

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue T AEREBRIZHE TS (BIERT
by geographical market based on geographical REREEIRKEMER RIEH
location where construction works or other goods/ &) & D Z2WADH -

services are provided:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET TET

Continuing operations BEREER
Hong Kong &5 10,502 5,600
The PRC a2 51,468 71,494
61,970 77,094
Discontinued operations DARIEREER
Hong Kong &5 — 5,168,560
The PRC = — 7,874
Macau b - 64,622
Others Hh — 36,362
—  5277,418

61,970 5,354,612
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Geographical information (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the carrying amount
of non-current assets excluding financial
instruments, based on the geographical location
of assets:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

7 EE R @
i & & B oa)

UTAREEMESES D25k
RBEE(TEEERIA)BE
EH

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
TRET THET

Hong Kong BB 744,668 860,401
The PRC = 24,308 65,125

768,976 925,526
Information about major customers FERFZ2EH

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the largest
customer, which is under the ports and logistics
segment, contributed to the revenue of
approximately HK$26,318,000 (2023: HK$38,995,000)
which individually contributed more than 10% of
total revenue from the continuing operations of the
Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the three
largest customers contributed to the revenue of
approximately HK$1,201,897,000, HK$765,954,000
and HK$654,553,000, respectively, which
individually contributed more than 10% of total
revenue (included revenue from the discontinued
operations) of the Group. All these customers
were under the discontinued engineering segment.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

8. OTHER INCOME 8. Hfi A
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#& T FET
Continuing operations BEREER
Bank and other interest income R1T M EH A F B U A 149 199

Dividend income from financial assets & A E (B EZE A H 42 H

measured at FVOCI

Wt 2 &R EEZBE

A - 3,663
149 3,862

9. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 9. Htlks= R E 8
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT TET

Continuing operations
Net exchange loss

FECEXER
PE 5 B9 18 AR (1,371) (9,268)

Impairment loss on property, plant W% M N R 2 ORVE

and equipment (Note 18) B 18 (M et 18) - (54,426)
Impairment loss on right-of-use TRAEEEZRERBSE

assets (note) (K3t) (8,877) —
Gain on forfeiture of deposit and B M B ® TR

earnest money received Z Wz 8,200 —

Loss on disposal of property, plant BRE Y E - M N R

and equipment

Z B8 (1,260) (172)

(3,308) (63,866)

note: The amount represents the full impairment loss on certain right-of- Kt S mERETR AT R AEN T B
use assets relating to the non-cancellable lease terms of offices HEHEREENTREEESEN2ERES
and motor vehicles of which their carrying amounts were 8 EEEMEBEWE AEEIE o

considered unrecoverable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

10. IMPAIRMENT LOSS REVERSED ON 10. ERMEEZREFEREF
FINANCIAL ASSETS, NET i

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT TAET

Continuing operations BFEREXR
Impairment loss (recognised) reversed J& Ui & 7k 2 R B & 18
on loan receivables (FERR) B [T (40) 600
Impairment loss reversed on amounts & Ui ;& & & BT [ B A 7]
due from former subsidiaries in FIBZ R EE B
liquidation 31,111 3,377
31,071 3,977
Details of the impairment assessment are set out B B 515 = R B 5E39(b)
in Note 39(b).
11. FINANCE COSTS 11. @& B A
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERX FH T
Continuing operations BFEREXER
Interest on bank borrowings MITERZ T E 66 810
Interest on other borrowings H &2 F A 5,646 14,992
Imputed interest on lease liabilities THEABZHEEMNE 915 854

6,627 16,656
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to each of
the seven (2023: nine) directors are as
follows:

None of the directors has waived any
emoluments during the year (2023: Nil).

e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

12 E5 BESTRAERESR
[k

(a) EEREETHRAEME

2t ek B+ 45 (2023 1 L 4&)
BEEZAZHENT

FRAMETHNEETREMLH
B 4 (2023 : #&) o

Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other Discretionary scheme
Name of director EEng Fees benefits bonus contribution Total
FER EREF
wne HtEw MERA  TEHEN &t
HK$000  HK$000 HK$’000 HK$000  HK$000
TERT TERT THER TERT THERT
2024 2024
Executive directors HiTES
Kwong Kai Sing, Benny (note i)~ BBRSAR (47 2i) = 3,000 = 9 3,009
Au Wai June & - 725 - 18 743
Marc Andreas Tschimer (note i)~ Marc Andreas
Tschimer (17t ii) - 375 - 5 380
Sam Nickolas David Hing Cheong it B % (# i)
(note i) - 375 - 5 380
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Wiliam Nicholas Giles William Nicholas Giles 240 - - - 240
Yu Chung Leung (note iv) RIPR (M iziv) 250 - - - 250
Lam John Cheung-wah (notev) B & % (ff 3 v) 250 - - - 250
740 4,475 - 37 5,252

EMZERAERAT 2024 58 247



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE N BHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive’s

BAEBREES

() EERESTHAEME

emoluments (Continued) (#&)
Retirement
Salaries and benefit
other  Discretionary scheme
Name of director ESHA Fees benefits bonus  contribution Total
R RIRAE 7
e HuEd Mg FEHER A&t
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FTET THET FTET FET
2023 2023
Executive directors BTES
Kwong Kai Sing, Benny (note ) BBETAK (47 5i) — 3,000 250 18 3,268
Au Wai June FIEE - 900 75 18 993
Marc Andreas Tschimer (note i)~ Marc Andreas
Tschirer (# 72 i) - 1,500 - 18 1,518
Sam Nickolas David Hing Cheong 37t 8 % (&7 iii)
(note i) - 1,500 — 18 1,518
Independent non-executive BIYEHTES
directors
William Nicholas Giles William Nicholas Giles 240 — - — 240
Yu Chung Leung (note iv) KRR (A iFiv) 167 - - - 167
Lam John Cheung-wah (notev) & &2 (fifv) 167 — - — 167
Leung Chung Ki (note vi) RINE (B iFvi) 80 - - - 80
Ma Ka Ki (note vii) S Fvi) 120 - - - 120
774 6,900 325 72 8,071
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
emoluments (Continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown
above are for their services in connection with
management of the affairs of the Company
and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above are for their
services as directors of the Company.

notes:

(i) Kwong Kai Sing, Benny was appointed as managing
director (which is equivalent to the chief executive of the
Company) on 1 July 2023.

(ii) Marc Andreas Tschirner resigned as executive director and
managing director on 1 July 2023.

(iii) Sam Nickolas David Hing Cheong resigned as executive
director and vice chairman on 1 July 2023.

(iv) Yu Chung Leung was appointed as independent non-
executive director on 1 August 2022.

(v) Lam John Cheung-wah was appointed as independent
non-executive director on 1 August 2022.

(Vi) Leung Chung Ki resigned as independent non-executive
director on 1 August 2022.

(vil  Ma Ka Ki resigned as independent non-executive director
on 28 September 2022.

-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EBEE E‘— SITHAEREES
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS & &
(CONTINUED)
(b) Employees’ emoluments b) EEEME

AEBRAFERAE RS H
A,sa@ﬁ.? % (2023 1 — &) A
ANREE EMMeHBIER L
X ftFE12(0) ©

The five highest paid individuals in the Group
for the year included one (2023: one) director
of the Company, details of whose
emoluments are set out in Note 12(a) above.

The aggregate emoluments of the remaining EHHEBEAEEFHEE 2 W%

four (2023: four) highest paid individuals, who (2023 : Y %)a— FABZH
are employees of the Group, are as follows: T -

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’'000

TET THET

Salaries and other benefits e hEMmETR 10,221 18,676
Discretionary bonus ) 15 7€ 4T — -

Retirement benefit scheme RIKAE R ET I K
contributions 69 524
10,290 19,200

Their emoluments were within the following bands: WEZHMEHEB W -

Number of employees

BEAH

2024 2023

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 % 7t & 1,500,000/ T 1 —
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7T % 2,000,000 7T 2 -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 /& 7T £ 2,500,000 7T - 1
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 % 7T £ 5,500,000/ 7T 1 2
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 6,000,001/ 7T £ 6,500,000 % 7T - 1
4 4

During both years, no emoluments were paid
by the Group to the five highest paid
individuals and directors as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

REMBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

13. BRBIAIE 18

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TET
Continuing operations BEREER
Loss before taxation has been arrived R ERIE B2 % -
at after charging:
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEIE 45 46
Auditor’s remuneration % B85 A BN &
— Audit services — ZE R 1,730 2,280
— Non-audit services — EZBURTE 739 1,629
Cost of inventories and services BREBEBRZ2FEMRE
recognised as an expense B 7N 38,186 58,996
Depreciation of property, plant MWW EREREZTE
and equipment 6,294 3,807
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEEZTE
(note (a)) (K1t (a) 13,685 13,155
Staff costs (note (b)) B TR (K3 p) 49,825 64,889
Expenses related to short-term leases B % BT E R K BE
and leases of low-value assets EEMECEHA 4,691 5,315
and after crediting: W EEA
Rental income from investment REMEZHSWA -
properties, net of direct operating HhEERZ2EER
expenses (note (c)) (Ktit(c) 1,672 (184)
Government grants recognised B T SR BT il BA
(note (d)) (K& () — 882

EmMEZERAERLDT 2024 F 7R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

13. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (CONTINUED)

notes:

(@)

13. BR B AT &5 18 ()

Bfat -
Depreciation of right-of-use assets @ FHEEEZINE
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Amount provided for the year in respect of: FEREERE
— Leasehold land —MELTH 1,306 1,343
— Land and buildings — T RIEF 11,818 11,293
— Motor vehicles — /8 561 519
13,685 18,155
Staff costs ) BIKE
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Directors’ emoluments (Note 12(a)) EE2WE (HiE12(@) 5,252 8,071
Other staff costs: Hih 8 TR :
Salaries and other benefits (including bonus) R EMER (RIEILL) 42,113 54,296
Retirement benefit scheme contributions R FIFT B 3K 2,460 2,522
49,825 64,889
Rental income from investment properties, net of direct operating () KEYWEZHERA MK EELSESER
expenses
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT
Rental income from investment properties WEMEZHESWA 1,800 -
Less: Direct operating expenses from leasing of i : R EMHE R EEL 2
investment properties EEZEEER (128) (184)
1,672 (184)
The government grants mainly represent the government cash ©) BRI EZEASRRAEMU A - D8 KEHE

subsidies on staff and operating cost which are recognised in other
income, distribution and selling expenses and administrative
expenses, respectively. There are no unfulfiled conditions or other
contingencies attached to the receipt of the government subsidies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE N BHRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

14. TAXATION 14, F 18
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Continuing operations BEREER
Taxation comprises tax (credit) TRIBEIEATRIE (B A)
charge below: X
Taxation arising in the PRC KA ES 2R
Current year KFEE 528 446
Overprovision in prior years RBEFEHEERE (868) —
(340) 446
Deferred taxation arising in the PRC A B & 4 7 iE IE § 18
(Note 34) (Kt #34) (11) (12)
(351) 434

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime in
Hong Kong, the first HK$2 million of profits of the
qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.
The profits of group entities not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to
be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. No provision for
Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the
Group has no estimated assessable profits for
both years. The tax rate for the Group’s
subsidiaries in the PRC is 25% for both years.

BEEEMAHFEHEGE
EEREEETRME200E BT
i F i 32 5 R 8.25% i - 1 R 4B
2008 % T 0 = M i 1% B E16.5%
B - "R EMBHFEHESE
ERZEBEERB 2N BHEE X
E—FHE165% AT - AR A
EERMEFELBEAHFTER
i M) B 4 BL A S B 15 B 1E
e AEERFRH B LA R MIE
FEZREE25% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

14. TAXATION (CONTINUED) 14. B IE (@)
The taxation (credit) charge for the year can be REFEZHMBEAN) T HELZEE
reconciled to the loss before taxation per the W5 R BT % Br B4 Bl &S 18 2 ¥ BE i
consolidated income statement as follows: ™
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH&T
Continuing operations BEEEER
Loss before taxation B B4 Al /&5 18 (263,661) (141,704)
Tax calculated at domestic rates BEBAe AEREBERAE M
applicable in the respective MERAE 218
jurisdictions (44,351) (32,126)
Tax effect of share of results of BhBmeE N —HEeE
associates and a joint venture TEXECRETE 38,816 (6,046)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible £ 1 75 77 @ A~ /] 18, 5
for tax purpose B E 11,165 11,208
Tax effect of income not taxable for  7& F4 # J7 [ 8 78 % Bt Wg A
tax purpose 2GR (15,488) (981)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 7 & 7 32 5t 15 &5 18
2B EE 13,632 14,989
Tax effect of other deductible A AVEHE SR E 4t 7] 30 R B A
temporary difference not recognised = 58 7 i 1% 50 & 412 13,665
Tax effect of utilisation of other AR ARERZ HAith
deductible temporary difference A 08 e B = 58 2 B 1%
previously not recognised -2 (3,669) (275)
Overprovision in prior years BEFEHERE (868) —
Tax (credit) charge for the year RERHIEBEAN) X (351) 434
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Engineering Operation

In September 2022, Paul Y. Engineering proposed
a rights issue raising a capital of approximately
HK$967 million, of which the Group was entitled
to subscribe for rights shares in proportion to its
equity interest in Paul Y. Engineering with an
aggregate subscription amount of approximately
HK$466 million. On 4 November 2022, the board
of directors of the Company resolved (a) to return
the voting right of a block of approximately 10%
shareholding in Paul Y. Engineering (the “Voting
Rights”) back to the original assignor who had
irrevocably and unconditionally assigned such
Voting Rights to the Group on 1 June 2021; (b)
not to subscribe for the entitled rights shares
under the rights issue; and (c) to divest its
investment in Paul Y. Engineering. Accordingly, on
4 November 2022, the Group irrevocably and
unconditionally reassigned the Voting Rights back
to the original assignor at nil consideration (the
“Reassignment”). On 5 November 2022, Paul Y.
Engineering completed its rights issue and
allotment of 1,516,147,126 rights shares at a
subscription price of HK$0.33 each to its qualified
shareholders, resulting in a dilution of the
Company’s equity interest in Paul Y. Engineering
from approximately 48.23% to approximately
29.75% (the “Dilution”). On 5 November 2022, the
Group entered into a non-legally binding
memorandum of understanding for the disposal of
the remaining 29.75% equity interest in Paul Y.
Engineering, and the conditional agreement for the
disposal was subsequently entered on 14
November 2022 with an agreed consideration of
HK$300 million (“PYE Disposal”). The PYE
Disposal was eventually completed on 29 March
2023.

REMBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

15. DR L IRE XK

IREHK

R2022F0H RERBERRETT
HBREENIGTEB L Hf» K
SEERERARNRERE ZRE
LB RS AR IR D RERIER
B4 B4.6618 8 JT o PR20224F 11
A48 ARRAEZRRZFQRR
HEARE—HREZZEHI0%
BEZIEER(RER])  ZRE
EAR2021F6 A1HAAEE T
AEEREEFDEEEERE
B IMREEEEZENHEK
HTHERRG K EERIRE
BENKE - Bl 1KR20224F 11
B48 > KEBETTERE MGG
HWEREEEEIETREZA
([REZEZE]) - N2022F 11 H
5H REZEDTREHKLIZ
REEESROIEFTLHMELS ERE
B% R A 2%1,516,147,126 % f# ik A%
1 BHRARANRERSE 2 KE
A #4748.23% # S8 = %729.75% ([ #
&) o RA2022F 11 A5H  AREH
MHEEBR T 229.75% R FE 2 ¥ %
BRI PN EERAOR O REE
8% H1% 0 72022511 A148 -
AEBRBESTEIT L —MHEIK
iz ATREARIEB TR
EREHEFHE] REBZEHE
FIEEKRNR20283F3A29H T °
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15. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(CONTINUED)

Engineering Operation (Continued)

Immediately after the Reassignment and Dilution
in November 2022, (a) the Group’s voting rights in
Paul Y. Engineering decreased from approximately
58.23% to approximately 29.75% and the Group
no longer retained majority control of the voting
rights at any general meetings of Paul Y.
Engineering; (b) Paul Y. Engineering ceased to be
a subsidiary of the Company and the financial
results of Paul Y. Engineering would no longer be
consolidated into the financial statements of the
Group since then; and (c) the retained 29.75%
equity interest in Paul Y. Engineering was
measured at fair value of HK$300 million, which is
the agreed consideration, and resulted in a loss
on deemed disposal of approximately HK$317
million. Upon and after the PYE Disposal, the
Group was no longer engaged in the business of
providing comprehensive engineering and
property-related services (“Engineering
Operation”). Accordingly, the Engineering
Operation was classified as a discontinued
operation.

PRC Property Operation

On 9 September 2022, the Group entered into a
sale and purchase agreement for the disposal of
the Group’s investment in a building known as
“Pioneer Technology Building” in Hangzhou, the
PRC, through disposal of the entire equity interest
in AOLEME X GR LR (L), the wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and the
building’s investment holding company, at a
consideration of RMB65 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$72 million). The disposal was
completed on 31 October 2022 and resulted in a
gain on disposal of approximately HK$4 million.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

15. B R I BE X @)

TREXKw@m

ERER2022F 11 AR EZHEZEN
g% QAEERREREZK
Z 1 fh #4958.23% i & 4929.75% &
AEBTHBRETMNRERZEZ
BEAE ERLEIGER 2T
EORERZEZBNITBHERR
RARIKMBAR MREZREZH
BEEBTBRAEE 2 8% ®
KEABARER: OB T 229.75%
REZEREZAFEBEIEST
(BPEERE)F=2 WEERELD
EEELYNATEB T - NIREEZE
HEFIHE AEETHRERMH
FHEHNIERMERBRENZE
BOIIRERD At TERE®
WHBARERIEEEFER -

PRIV RER

R2022F9H9H » RNEBEE I —
MEEHE. NAABELEAS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(CONTINUED)

PRC Property Operation (Continued)

On 24 December 2022, the Group entered into a
sale and purchase agreement for the disposal of
its entire equity interest in Profit Tycoon Holdings
Limited (“Profit Tycoon”) at a consideration of
HK$406 million, subject to adjustment. Profit
Tycoon was an investment holding company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”)
which was engaged in land and property
development and investment in Xiao Yangkou
through its PRC subsidiaries. The disposal was
completed on 6 March 2023 with the finalised
consideration of approximately HK$383 million
and resulted in a gain on disposal of approximately
HK$34 million.

Upon and after the disposal of #/T 38t and Profit
Tycoon, the Group was no longer engaged in the
land and property development and investment
business in the PRC (the “PRC Property
Operation”). Accordingly, the PRC Property
Operation was classified as a discontinued
operation.

REMBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

15. B R I BE X @)

B WD 3 R am)

202212 824H » ANE B F] 2
—EBWHE NABBEHEER
Profit Tycoon Holdings Limited ([ Profit
Tycoon]) By &= #B Ax #& + (B & 4.06
B8 7o (A] 7 §8 &) ° Profit Tycoon
B—EREBEXHE(REBE
ZEESDIMEKINEEZRA
Al EBEFABENBARE/NED
NETHEMERZREE -HE
EIEE R2023F3A6H EK ' &
BKREHA3SIESIL WEAD
E = 43,4008 BT ©

B H & T T 3 B X Profit Tycoon
% AEEBTHRTBRKETLHE
MEZRERREEB(RBRYZE
%)) Bt PEMEEBHE S
HADKRIEKEER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

15. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
(CONTINUED)

15. B R I BE X @)

The consolidated financial results from the
discontinued operations for the period from 1 April

Ro022F4 1B EH & A B H S
ERITKREEBNGEEVBES

2022 to the dates of disposals is set out below. HHNWT o
2023
PRC
Engineering Property
Operation Operation Total
NS ‘
TEER EYi &t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT FET
Revenue WA 5,269,544 7,874 5,277,418
Cost of sales and services HE RIEMH R
rendered B B AN (5,088,651) (1,393) (5,090,044)
Gross profit E 180,893 6,481 187,374
Other income H A A 4,880 66 4,946
Administrative expenses 1THER (223,465) (34,673) (258,138)
Distribution and selling expenses % 44 % 4 & & A — (10,648) (10,648)
Other gains and losses H AUz & BB (893) (7,619 (8,512)
Impairment loss recognised TRIEEZREEE
on financial assets, net TR EE (27,484) (949) (28,433)
Write-down of stock of properties 4 ¥ 77 & 2 &l {& #f &l — (115,324) (115,324)
Finance costs & P AR (26,873) (22,650) (49,523)
Fair value changes of investment ## &% v A (B E
properties b= — (29,110) (29,110)
Share of results of associates BEEtE N R EE (8) — (8)
Share of results of joint ventures {5 & 44 1b % % 4% (119) — (119)
Loss before taxation Bl B 18 (93,069) (214,4206) (307,495)
Taxation 18 2,106 17,515 19,621
Loss for the year EE (90,963) (196,911) (287,874)
(Loss) gain on disposal of HEERIELEER
discontinued operations, (E518) W = (F0 B
net of tax MEiz) (817,103) 38,110 (278,993)
Loss for the year from ERIFEEER 2
discontinued operations FEERE (408,066) (158,801) (566,867)
Attributable to: AT AT
Owners of the Company ZiN/NEEIE P =N (360,974) (99,933) (460,907)
Non-controlling interests IEE R E S (47,092) (58,868) (105,960)
(408,066) (158,801) (566,867)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(CONTINUED)

Analysis of (loss) gain on disposal of discontinued
operations, net of tax, for the year ended 31

FE N BHRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

15. B R I BE X @)

HAE2023F3A3MHIEFEE - HE
Eé%ﬂ%%*%%%()ﬁﬂé)ﬂﬁzﬁé(%ﬂ%

March 2023: BB r5H
2023
Engineering  PRC Property
Operation Operation Total
FEY %
TEEB % B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET
Net assets disposed of: HEBEZFE:
Property, plant and equipment PN R 139,604 55,266 194,870
Right-of-use assets FRESE 51,773 8,708 60,481
Investment properties REME - 435,290 435,290
Project under development EEAPIEAE — 169,495 169,495
Goodwill Piﬁ = 5,523 — 5,523
Other intangible assets Ht &R E F 136,952 448 137,400
Interests in joint ventures NS 861 — 861
Stock of properties MEFE — 591,437 591,437
Loan receivables W E 179,226 - 179,226
Amount due from an associate FE U — R B & 1 B] 5B 5,820 — 5,820
Amounts due from joint ventures ElE S tERER 8,676 - 8,676
Amounts due from joint operations/  FEUI & L ¥ /AL ¥
other partners of joint operations H b B 28 145,431 145,431
Trade and other receivables” B 5 K E b e BR Z* 2,693,844 35,296 2,729,140
Contract assets BHERE 4,510,624 - 4,510,624
Taxation recoverable AU [l #5178 955 - 955
Pledged bank deposits BEERRTERERZBHRS
and restricted cash 68,348 - 68,348
Short-term bank deposits 5 5 %E 1R 81,949 - 81,949
Bank balances and cash RITEFELRES 808,158 27,938 836,096
Trade and other payables %%&Hmﬁﬁ%% (4,997,004) (102,066) (5,099,160)
Contract liabilities aHaE (540,852) - (540,852)
Lease liabilities HEAE (55,253) (1,386) (56,639)
Amount due to a joint venture f“ H Ba2hEHE (3,937) - (3,937)
Amounts due to joint operations/ jL 5% %j‘% BEER
other partners of joint operations Hib %57 R (345,920 — (345,920
Amounts due to non-controlling JEE {5 FE4E it A % /@
shareholders — (90,192 (90,192
Taxation payable FE 18 (26,640) (1,229) (27,863)
Bank and other borrowings fE TREMBER (1,572,193) (360,699) (1,932,892)
Deferred tax liabilities EEREAE (21,271) (248,005) (269,276)
Obligations in excess of interests 75’\ BeRmz@IMERCBR
in associates (2,500) - (2,500)
Net assets BEFE 1,272,084 520,307 1,792,391
Less: Non-controlling interests B TR ER (655,679) (105,559) (761,238)
616,405 414,748 1,031,153

# Including an amount of approximately HK$4,052,000 due from the

Group.

# B 45 FE YR 55 B 2 3R IE 494,052,000 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

15. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 15 ERUEREXEK @)

(CONTINUED)

2023

Engineering PRC Property

Operation Operation Total
. wmnz |
TEEB 2% CEi
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET
(Loss) gain on disposal of discontinued HEBKREEEER
operations: 2 (E18) e
Cash consideration HeRE 300,000 455,074 755,074
Directly attributable costs and levies BREERAREE (1,079 (9,750) (10,829)
Net assets disposed of EHES F:-E)% (il (1,272,084) (520,307)  (1,792,391)
Non-controlling interests JEE M 2 655,679 105,559 761,238
(Loss) gain on disposal before taxation B M FEET B B Bl Al
and release of attributable reserve ZHE(BE) e (317,484) 30,576 (286,908)
Cumulative exchange differences in respect 7k 2 1 fi 8 723 &) 2 12 1 2
of the net assets of subsidiaries BhHEREIZERE L
reclassified from equity to profit or loss MEAREEFERS
on loss of control of subsidiaries L EFERERE 381 10,253 10,634
(Loss) gain on disposal before taxation BREATHE (BE) Wa (317,103) 40,829 (276,274)
Less: Taxation W I — 2,719 2,719
(Loss) gain on disposal of discontinued HEBRIELEER L
operations, net of tax (BB s (HEHe’) (317,108 38,110 (278,993)
Net cash (outflow) inflow from disposal HEERIIKEERB 2 RS
of discontinued operations: (7 ) MAFRE
Cash consideration HeRE 300,000 455,074 755,074
Less: income tax, directly attributable BTG ® BEREG
costs and levies MAREE (1,079) (12,469) (13,548)
Net cash consideration received EWREREF ,? ) 298,921 442,605 741,526
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of & : B HERITEF LIRS (890,107) (27,938) (918,045)
(5691,186) 414,667 (176,519)
Capital reserve amounting to approximately HEPKR | TREEKEE  BRIRE
HK$95,368,000 had been debited to and other m A B B K 7 4995,368,000
reserves amounting to approximately 7B T & a0 A E b 5 4 499,408,000
HK$9,408,000 had been credited to the retained BT

profits upon the disposal of discontinued
operations.
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15. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

16.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HZE2024F3A31BIEFE

15. B R I BE X @)

(CONTINUED)
2023
HK$'000
FHET
Net cash outflow from operating activities £8 4& & & 2 3 & 7 B 5 &8 (943,487)
Net cash inflow from investing activities KETE 2R R AFE 23,940
Net cash inflow from financing activites gt & & &) 2 I & 5 A H 58 686,608
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ~ 4|NES [ Sk it &) » 52 45 (4,960)
Net cash outflow from ERIEEEER 2
the discontinued operations WE M F58 (237,899
DISTRIBUTION 16. 7k
No dividend was recognised as distribution during MERERNMEFERNERED

both years.

The board of directors of the Company has
resolved not to recommend for shareholders’
approval the payment of any final dividend for the

year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

i e

RKANBEEREZATEZRE
B ER B 22024331 A I
& Z AR R EANE B (2023 : #E)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE N BHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2024
BZE2024F3A31 AR
17. LOSS PER SHARE 17. BRE 18
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per AKANBHEBEARBEHEFEFESRENR
share attributable to owners of the Company for #EEEBNENTHIETES
the year is based on the following data: H o
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$’000
TET FAET
Loss for the year attributable to  FA LA 51 & & f% £ 7K
owners of the Company forthe & # & E 18 2 KA &
purpose of calculating basic BB ANEGLEFEREE
and diluted loss per share
— from continuing operations —REFELEER (265,263) (144,506)
— from discontinued operations — K B B 4 || & & ¥ 5% - (460,907)
(265,263) (605,413)
2024 2023
Number of Number of
shares shares
B 4 2 B B £ 8
Weighted average number of AT ESRER
ordinary shares for the purpose % # & 548 ~ hl#& F 15
of calculating basic and diluted & 3 I% £
loss per share 1,040,946,114 1,091,976,963
Diluted loss per share is equal to the basic loss AR ANFTRWEEE I T M
per share as the Company does not have any BEOIEIINNEZELEBR SRR W E
dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding for RS EEETRENEIERE -

both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. 1% - W KX &

Plant, Fuel gas Motor  Furniture,

Leasehold machinery logisticsand  vehicles fixtures

land and and distribution and and office Construction

buildings  equipment facilities ~ vessels equipment in progress Total
B ®E-

BELH  BER RRWAR  AER RER
kT R IERE MM RORE  ERIR GL
HK§000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000 HKO00  HKE'000  HKE000 HK$'000
TEL  TEL TAL TEL  TAR TAL  TERL

Cost BA&

At 1 April 2022 R2022F4 A1 H 242,444 162,844 270,783 73,536 105,568 51,999 897,174
Exchange realignment AR (16987)  (8,546) (19.831) (4074  (3890) (3,790  (57,118)
Additions NE - 990 750 17,420 3,631 8,937 31,728
Disposal BE (1,203 (1418) (11331)  (553)  (2,539) — (22,046
Disposal of discontinued operations 11 & B 4% |F I8 & ¥ 7% (178,581)  (143,870) — (43882 (97,523 2,471)  (466,327)

At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 7202343 A 31H

%2023F4 510 45,653 - 240,371 37,464 5,248 54,675 383,411
Exchange realignment iy RBE (2,549) - (13,489)  (1,828) (153) (3,064) (21,083
Additions NE 941 - 2,087 253 19 - 3,300
Disposal EE (1,846) - 60) (775 (940) - 362
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 38) £ &t B A &) (A:£38) (32,918) - (216,504)  (20,587) (2,176) (51,611) (323,796)
At 31 March 2024 R2024F3A31H 9,281 - 12,405 14,527 1,998 - 38,211

Depreciation and impairment HERRE

At 1 April 2022 R2022%54 /1A 150,535 87,987 257,840 47,237 44,971 — 588570
Exchange realignment EHAE (12,191) (6,867) (18,881) (3,659) (8,072 249 (44,421
Provided for the year AEFIE 5,002 15,315 1,918 5,755 14,102 — 42,092
Impairment loss (note) WEEE () 4,087 2,811 - 10 548 54,426 61,882
Eliminated on disposal BB Y (1,007) (1.279) (11479 (4,459) (1,574) - (19,792
Eliminated on disposal of HEB I E £

discontinued operations # i (106,635)  (97,967) — (14832  (52,170) —  (271,604)

At 31 March 2023 and 1 Apri 2023 7202353 A31 A &

2023F4A1H 39,791 - 229,398 30,058 2,805 54,675 356,727

Exchange realignment [ 5 AR (2,221) - (12,895) (1,517) (109) (3,064)  (19,806)
Provided for the year NEEFR 345 - 4,231 900 818 - 6,294
Eliminated on disposal o B 3 (1,187) - (38) (602) (189) - (2016)
Eliminated on disposal of o T B A 7 B 8

subsidiaries (Note 38) (H1#38) (32,809) — (215018 (20,332)  (1,709) (51,611)  (321,479)
At 31 March 2024 R2024%3A31H 3,919 - 5,678 8,507 1,616 - 19,720
Carrying amounts R E
At 31 March 2024 M2024F3A31H 5,362 - 6,727 6,020 382 - 18,491
At 31 March 2023 R2023F3A31H 5,862 - 10,973 7,406 2,443 - 26,684
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE N BHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and equipment,
other than construction in progress, are
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following
rates per annum:

Leasehold land and Over the period of the
buildings relevant leases or
50 years, whichever is
shorter
Plant, machinery and ~ 10%-33":%
equipment

Fuel gas logistics and ~ 4%-10%
distribution facilities

Motor vehicles and 2.6%-20%
vessels

Furniture, fixtures and ~ 8%-33":%
office equipment

note: Hubei Minsheng Liquefied Petroleum Gas Limited (“Minsheng
Gas”) commenced the development plan to construct new LNG
storage tanks and LNG berths in 2018 for the purpose of
expanding its fuel gas business to the LNG sector. Considering the
risk of the LNG project and the current financial resources of the
Group, the Group would not and was not capable of carrying on
the entire LNG project on its own. The success in bringing in co-
investors and new capital for the LNG project was a decisive factor
for the continuation of the project. On 19 May 2022, the Company
reached an agreement with a potential co-investor (the “Potential
Investor”) for the capital injection into Minsheng Gas to finance the
LNG project. However, since such proposed capital injection
would constitute a deemed disposal of Minsheng Gas, the Listing
Division of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) notified the Company on 20 July 2022 that such
deemed disposal forms part of a series of disposals of a material
part of the Company’s existing business after a change in de facto
control and should be restricted under Rule 14.06E of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”). The Group had tried to renegotiate with the
Potential Investor to explore alternative cooperation proposals in
respect of the LNG project, but no feasible alternative cooperation
structure could be agreed upon, and the Potential Investor
eventually withdrew its interest in December 2022. The Company
was still exploring cooperation opportunities with various potential
investors on the LNG project, but no executable plan could be
agreed upon up to the date of approval of the financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2023. In view of the uncertainties on
the continuation of the LNG project and recoverability of the
construction in progress after the failure in bringing in co-investors,
full impairment provision had been recognised for the capitalised
LNG project costs of approximately HK$54,426,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

19. RIGHT-OF-USE-ASSETS 19. FAREEE

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAETT
Leasehold land HE i 5,893 31,132
Land and buildings +ih BT 948 20,538
6,841 51,670
Total cash outflow for leases HEZRERTB% 17,068 235,135

Impairment loss on EREEREZRERBE
the right-of-use assets 8,877 —
Additions to the right-of-use assets 78 B (¥ F #£ 4 4,171 23,567

Leasehold land represents up-front prepayments
made for obtaining the land-use rights related to
property and ports and logistics operations in the
PRC.

For both years, the Group leases various offices
for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into
for terms of up to two years, but may have
extension options. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. In determining the
lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition
of a contract and determines the period based on
the contractual terms of the contract.

The Group reassesses whether it is reasonably
certain to exercise an extension option upon the
occurrence of either a significant event or a
significant change in circumstances that is within
the control of the lessee. There is no such
triggering event during both years.

HELHWESMBERTEZY
ENBOREYREH BB L
Ho A AR AE i 2 TR 300R -

BREFEmNS  AEEHEZE
MAEHEESZ HEARMNHR
RERAME WA REFEBEE-
HEGRZRENELEEHALES
2 1& TR R R B AR AT o 70 B 2 7 1
KEHE AR A E SHES R ER - K
SEHERAGRNERZLRESF
M& RIRRETEHR -

RELABEAZFHBLEAZERX
ENHERNBREGR AEEHS
BHAEEOENEERETRE
BHEEE -NMEFEANHDER
Gl Al
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 20. REWE
Leasehold Developed Land under
properties land development Total
HEWXE CH%tit MARPLi &t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET TET TET
(note fftit a)  (note i b)
FAIR VALUE LNYEE
At 1 April 2022 R2022F4 A1 H - 321,552 115,024 436,576
Exchange realignment P 5 B — (27,132) (9,620) (36,752)
Additions /ﬁi B - - 1,552 1,552
Acquisition of assets through % i& Ui B — ]
acquisition of a subsidiary K B A 71U
(Note 36) BE (fi136) 65,758 — — 65,758
Disposal of discontinued HEBRIEREER
operation —  (286,020) (86,246)  (372,266)
Decrease in fair value it A AWERA
recognised in the R RFEE
consolidated income D
statement (2,458) (8,400) (20,710) (31,568)
At 31 March 2023 and R2028F3H318 &
1 April 2023 2023 F4H18 63,300 - - 63,300
Decrease in fair value REGEWEERA
recognised in the BRZAFEE
consolidated income A
statement (9,800) - - (9,800)
At 31 March 2024 R2024F 3 A31H 53,500 - - 53,500
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

notes:

(@)

In prior years, the Group completed the reclamation of certain land
area and obtained the certificate of completion of land reclamation
(the “Certificate”) issued by qualified project engineering and
construction manager in respect of certain land area (the “Formed
Land”) in Jiangsu Province, the PRC. Upon obtaining the
Certificate, such Formed Land held for capital appreciation had
been recognised as developed land and classified and accounted
for as investment properties.

In connection with the reclamation of certain land area in Jiangsu
Province, the PRC, the Group commenced, but not yet completed,
the land leveling process (mainly representing the sand filling work
to achieve leveling of the area) (the “Land Being Formed”). Upon
the commencement of land leveling process, the Land Being
Formed that held for rentals and/or capital appreciation had been
recognised as land under development and classified and
accounted for as investment properties.

The fair values of the Group’s investment
properties have been arrived at on the basis of
valuations carried out as at those dates by
independent qualified professional valuers not
connected with the Group. The management
works closely with the external qualified
professional valuers to establish the appropriate
valuation and inputs for fair value measurement

and

reports to the board of directors from period

to period.

FE N BHRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE
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20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

In determining the fair value of leasehold
properties, the highest and best use of the
properties is their current use. The investment
method is adopted for leasehold properties in
Hong Kong by taking into account the current rent
passing and the reversionary income potential of
the tenancy. Key inputs used in valuing the
leasehold properties in Hong Kong include the
monthly market unit rent of HK$27.6 (2023:
HK$27) per square feet, using direct market
comparables and taking into account of similar
characteristics, location and size of property, and
reversionary vield of 3.95% (2023: 3.25%). The
increase in the monthly market unit rent per
square feet of comparable properties or the
decrease in reversionary yield would result in an
increase in the fair value of the properties, and
vice versa.

There has been no change from the valuation
technique and methodology used in the prior year.
The fair value hierarchy of the measurement of the
investment properties is Level 3 and there are no
transfers into or out of Level 3 during both years.
The fair value measurement is on a recurring
basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

20. RE WX )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

21. B EE

e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

Motor
vehicles Club and
registration golf club Land Project
marks  memberships premium Brandname  backlogs  Licences Total
=193
AE BEAR REK
BERE BHEE tHEE REEE IESY R G
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FEL FET TAET TET FET
(note fifzt a)  (note fifzF b) (note fifzt ¢) (note it d) (note fifzt d) (note ffzF d)
Cost B
At 1 April 2022 ®202264 /1A 1,240 7,837 1,850 93,000 92,000 6,000 201,927
Exchange realignment xR - (7) (135) - - - (206)
Disposal of discontinued HEBREEEEE
operations (Note 15) (Biat15) (1,035) (7,766) - (93,000) (92,000) (6,000 (199,801)
At 31 March 2023 and 2023 E3A31 B R
1 April 2023 2023%4A1H 205 - 1,715 - - - 1,920
Exchange realignment i 55 - - (96) - - - (96)
At 31 March 2024 R2024%3A31R 205 - 1,619 - - - 1,824
Amortisation e
At 1 April 2022 R2022F4 8108 - 303 774 - 44,000 - 45,077
Exchange realignment fE 5 A% - (26) (56) - - - (82)
Provided for the year AEEIE - 4 46 - 18,083 - 18,170
Eliminated upon disposal of &2 R IFE &
discontinued operations Eg
(Note 15) (H1#15) - (318) - - (62,083) - (62,401)
At 31 March 2023 and R2023F3A31 AR
1 April 2023 203%4A18 - - 764 - - - 764
Exchange realignment fE 5 A% - = (43) = - - 43)
Provided for the year NEEFIR = = 45 - - - 45
At 31 March 2024 R2024F3A31H = - 766 - - - 766
Carrying amounts REE
At 31 March 2024 20243 A 318 205 - 853 - - - 1,058
At 31 March 2023 20233 A 318 205 — 951 — — — 1,156
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

notes:

(@)

The assets have indefinite useful lives. The directors are of the
opinion that the motor vehicles registration marks are worth at
least their carrying values.

For the golf club membership in the PRC, the amortisation was
provided on a straight-line basis over its useful life of 17 years.

The amount represents the land premium for leasehold land in
Wuhan, the PRC, acquired by the Group through the acquisition of
the relevant business and the amount is to be amortised on the
same basis as the related leasehold land recognised as right-of-
use assets over 36 years (2023: 36 to 41 years).

The brand name, project backlogs and construction licences of
Paul Y. Engineering were derecognised upon the deemed disposal
of Paul Y. Engineering during the year ended 31 March 2023 as
detailed in Note 15.

Brand name that had infinite useful live was not amortised and was
subject to impairment testing annually or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment.
Brand name was regarded as having indefinite useful life and there
was no foreseeable limit to the period over which it was expected
to generate cash flows for the Group as it was expected that its
value will not be reduced through usage and there were no legal or
similar limits on the period for its use.

Project backlogs, which were determined based on the terms of
existing contracts and historical project cost data, were amortised
over the service provision period.

The construction licences were granted by the Works Branch
Development Bureau of the Hong Kong Special Administration
Region (“HKSAR”) which basically have no legal life but are
renewable every year as long as the subsidiaries holding the
licences are able to comply with certain provisions and
requirements set out by the Works Branch Development Bureau of
the HKSAR throughout the relevant period. Accordingly, the
construction licences are not amortised and subject to impairment
test annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicates a potential impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

REMBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

22 HENTRER

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TET
Cost of unlisted investments in "EIE EmEEE QR
associates Z k7N 872,504 729,704
Share of post-acquisition (losses) BB E R (EE)RF &
profits and other comprehensive Em2m (A WE
(expense) income, net of dividends 1 2 Y fg &
received (194,918) 38,200
Share of net assets BEEEFE 677,586 767,904

All of the associates are accounted for using the
equity method in the consolidated financial
statements. Particulars of the Group’s associates
at 31 March 2024 and 2023 are set out in Note
48(b).

(@) Material associates

The unlisted investments include the following
material associates:

() 40% equity interest in Golden Thread
Investments Limited (“Golden Thread”),
which is incorporated in the Republic of
Marshall Islands (“Marshall Islands”) and
mainly engaged in overseas property
asset-based financing business.

FTEBE RNA RNEA B RE

NEYEBEZREAR - XEBER

2024£F N 2023F3 A31H & Bt &
a) FF 1B B A BT 52 48(b) °

FLETREBENTEKNE

BRTA

() P Golden Thread Investments
Limited ([ Golden Thread])
B Z40% N %
(IHERES]) MK
Vo FEREEFIINEME
BEEBMEXER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(a) Material associates (Continued)

0

(i)

(Continued)

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying
amount of the Group’s interest in Golden
Thread amounts to HK$159,235,000 (2023:
HK$192,383,000), representing the
Group’s 40% (2023: 40%) proportionate
ownership interest in the associate’s net
assets of HK$398,090,000 (2023:
HK$480,958,000). The net assets
comprise non-current assets, current
assets and current liabilities of
HK$4,370,000 (2023: HK$2,026,000),
HK$395,013,000 (2023: HK$478,932,000)
and HK$1,293,000 (2023: Nil) respectively.
During the year ended 31 March 2024,
the associate recorded revenue and loss
of HK$11,744,000 (2023: HK$49,063,000)
and HK$80,019,000 (2023: profit of
HK$48,985,000) respectively. Taking into
account the other comprehensive expense
of HK$2,850,000 (2023: HK$629,000),
the associate recorded total
comprehensive loss of HK$82,869,000
(2023: total comprehensive income of
HK$48,356,000). Capital and dividend
distribution of HK$420,000,000 has been
received from Golden Thread during the
year ended 31 March 2023 (2024: Nil).

Approximately 33.33% equity interest in
Maxlord Enterprises Limited (“Maxlord”),
which is incorporated in Hong Kong and
engaged in money lending business. As
at 31 March 2024, Maxlord is a non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of Planetree
International Development Limited (stock
code: 0613.HK).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(@) Material associates (Continued)

(i)

(i)

(Continued)

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying
amount of the Group’s interest in
Maxlord amounts to HK$209,255,000
(2023: HK$243,986,000), representing
the Group’s approximately 33.33% (2023:
33.33%) proportionate ownership
interest in the associate’s net assets of
HK$627,764,000 (2023: HK$731,957,000).
The net assets comprise current assets of
HK$628,794,000 (2023: HK$747,563,000)
and current liabilities of HK$1,030,000
(2023: HK$15,606,000). During the year
ended 31 March 2024, the associate
recorded revenue of HK$17,356,000
(2023: HK$45,674,000) and loss and
total comprehensive expense of
HK$104,194,000 (2023: profit and total
comprehensive income of HK$37,996,000).

Approximately 23.79% equity interest in
Hope Capital Limited (“Hope Capital”),
which is incorporated in the BVI and
engaged in provision of one-stop
integrated financial services, including
carry out regulated activities in Type 1
(dealing in securities), Type 2 (dealing in
futures contracts), Type 4 (advising on
securities), Type 5 (advising on futures
contracts) and Type 9 (asset
management) under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance in Hong Kong
through its direct wholly-owned
subsidiary.

(i)

REMBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE
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UWEREBERE2HER 25
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

22, INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (conTiNueD) 22, B & N T #E 3= (@)

(@) Material associates (Continued) (@) EXBEE QR @

(i) (Continued) (i) (@

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying
amount of the Group’s interest in Hope
Capital amounts to HK$207,137,000
(2023: HK$177,053,000), representing
the Group’s approximately 23.79% (2023:
23.79%) proportionate ownership interest
in the associate’s net assets of
HK$870,786,000 (2023: HK$744,317,000).
The net assets comprise non-current
assets, current assets, current liabilities and
non-current liabilities of HK$310,805,000
(2023: HK$2,391,000), HK$560,720,000
(2023: HK$848,651,000), HK$739,000
(2023: HK$106,663,000) and nil (2023:
HK$62,000) respectively. During the year
ended 31 March 2024, the associate
recorded revenue and loss of HK$546,000
(period from 10 October 2022 (date of
acquisition) to 31 March 20283:
HK$22,624,000) and HK$468,090,000
(period from 10 October 2022 (date of
acquisition) to 31 March 2023: profit of
HK$21,929,000) respectively. Taking
into account the other comprehensive
expense of HK$5,761,000 (period from
10 October 2022 (date of acquisition) to
31 March 2023: Nil), the associate
recorded total comprehensive expense
of HK$473,851,000 (period from 10
October 2022 (date of acquisition) to 31
March 2023: total comprehensive
income of HK$21,929,000). Dividend
distribution of HK$2,383,000 has been
received from Hope Capital during the
year ended 31 March 2023 (2024: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(@) Material associates (Continued)

(iv)

33% equity interest in HEC Securities
Company Limited (“HEC Securities”),
which is incorporated in the BVI and
engaged in securities brokerage, credit
financing and securities investment
business.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying
amount of the Group’s interest in HEC
Securities amounts to HK$81,812,000
(2023: HK$111,175,000), representing the
Group’s 33% (2023: 33%) proportionate
ownership interest in the associate’s net
assets of HK$247,914,000 (2023:
HK$336,893,000). The net assets
comprise non-current assets, current
assets and current liabilities of nil (2023:
HK$426,000), HK$288,009,000 (2023:
HK$348,545,000) and HK$40,095,000
(2023: HK$12,078,000) respectively.
During the year ended 31 March 2024,
the associate recorded revenue of
HK$870,000 (period from 29 December
2022 (date of acquisition) to 31 March
2023: HK$16,868,000) and loss and
total comprehensive expense of
HK$88,979,000 (period from 29
December 2022 (date of acquisition) to
31 March 2023: profit and total
comprehensive income of HK$14,296,000).

REMBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

22, B & N\ B fE & m)

(@) EXBEE QR @

(iv) 7 HEC Securities Company
Limited ([HEC Securities])
B Z33%M AN 7%
NAINEBRE ST M
B EFEHFEL B
EMERBEARREER-

R2024F3HA31H » &N &
A HEC Securities 2 #&
# 2 Bk T B A81,812,000
B 7t (2023 : 111,175,000
Bao) BEARAKEER
ZHMERRZFEE
247,914,000 7t (2023 :
336,893,000/ JT ) F 14
33% (2023 : 33%) tt 3l
LHEEEER FEE
BRIEFTHDEEZT T
(2023 : 426,000 T ) -
i B B E 288,009,000
7t (2023 : 348,545,000
70) XOf B) & (540,095,000
# 75 (2023 12,078,000
BT ) o B £2024F3 A
SIALEFE Z#2E R
7l #% 15 Uk A 870,000/ 7T
( R2022512 A298 (I
f8 B Bl ) £2023%3 A 31
H Hf [ : 16,868,000 %5
TTI)AEEERZEAX
48 %888,979,0007% 7T ( R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

22, INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (conTiNueD) 22, B & N T #E 3= (@)

(b) Immaterial associate (b) EEKREE QT
The information of an immaterial associate is —MIEEKRBE A Nal2E&R
as follows: (NI N
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TET

The Group’s share of loss RNEBBL 2 BB (23,160) (999)
The Group’s share of other NEBEE(E 2 HAith
comprehensive expense FHAX - -
The Group’s share of total AEBE(E22A
comprehensive expense > 58 (23,160) (999
Aggregate carrying amount of the AEBERZHE
Group’s interest in the associate NAElZEm L
R E 20,147 43,307
Dividend received from the associate A & Y 3% Bt &
during the year nAEZIRE — —
There are no significant restrictions on the ability BMENTNIREREAFRBEES
of the associates to transfer funds to the Group in EEEARERGEENEFRBED
the form of cash dividends, or to repay loans or ZEFRBINRE N ESRE
advances made by the Group. N
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

23. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 23. —HEELXEER

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TET

Cost of unlisted investment in ajoint {E&ER —[IELTEE

venture PEZKAR 34,705 33,375
Share of post-acquisition losses and  # {5 W BE & ~ B8 N H b

other comprehensive expense, net FHEAS  HRBREK

of dividends received [N (23,205) (18,563)

Share of net assets ML EEFE 11,500 14,812

The joint venture is accounted for using the equity SEEPENSEESTBREANEER
method in the consolidated financial statements. BEZRIEAER

Particulars of the joint venture at 31 March 2024 R2024F N2023F3H31H W &
and 2023 are as follows: LEEFBFHIDAT

Issued and fully
Place of paid up capital/ Proportion of
incorporation/ registered ownership interest Principal
Name of joint venture  operation capital held by the Group activities
BELEER ML ERTRHE AK5EFAz IEEXHK
EE R BA ZMELR HEEMGLH

2024 2023
% %

Sandalwood Joy Limited  BVI US$100 50 50 Investment
(“Sandalwood”) holding

Sandalwood Joy Limited EEBE LS 1003 7T REERK
(['Sandalwood |)

The summarised financial information below LA B 7 & £ 2 & Sandalwood
represents the consolidated financial information BEAEBSTRERENGES
of Sandalwood which is prepared in accordance Bf 7& & Hl o

with accounting policies of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

23. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 23. —HEELEREZ@
(CONTINUED)

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT TAET

Financial position: B RGO

Non-current assets EMEBEE 23,000 28,915

Current assets mBE E 624 722

Current liabilities nBBE (624) (13)
Net assets of the joint venture S PEFREE 23,000 29,624

Reconciliation of its net assets to FEEHGEMERESR

the carrying amount of the interest in ~ BE [l {8 2 ¥ F
the joint venture:

Net assets of the joint venture BETEFEE 23,000 29,624
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AREEE(GE L3

interest in the joint venture B RERE A L 50% 50%
Carrying amount of the Group’s AEBEREEDLEZ

interest in the joint venture EmREE 11,500 14,812
Results of the joint venture: BEDEFEE
Revenue WA - —
Loss for the year FEEIB (9,284) (9,678)
Other comprehensive expense FEAMEPAEREZ

for the year - —
Total comprehensive expense FEPERAZERE

for the year (9,284) (9,678)
There are no significant restrictions on the ability A NMENERSEEAREELES
of the joint venture to transfer funds to the Group EEEIAREHRGESNANEHRBED
in the form of cash dividends, or to repay loans or ZEFRB TN N ESRE
advances made by the Group. KR ) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT 24 MAFEEFAEMZEK
FVOCI A

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT TAET

Listed equity securities, at quoted FRAZFS  ERE
market price in Hong Kong (note (a)) B2 mE (K@) 128,729 90,175
Unlisted equity securities (note (b)) EETRAE S
(Kt (b))
— Yangkou Port Co — F OB R — 83,333
— Tre 29 Investment (Holdings) Limited — Tre 29 Investment
(Holdings) Limited 21,710 24,961
— Green River Associates Limited — Green River
Associates Limited 10,475 —
— Others — HAip 3,153 4,506
35,338 112,800
164,067 202,975
notes: B
(a) The above listed equity investments represent ordinary shares of @) i FHESEREERESLTERZER
entities listed in Hong Kong. These investments are strategic R ZEREBAITIFFEEET ZHEIRE -
investments that are not held for trading. The Group has elected to AREBDRIEBZERITEERERES
designate these investments in equity instruments as financial WMAFEBAEEAEMEZERIZSHEE
assets at FVOCI as it is believed that recognising short-term WITHERAEERZARBEREZZERE
fluctuations in these investments’ fair value in profit or loss would NEBHEHZEHEHEITFTESNEE S
not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding these BENEAEZESNEREHNERZZERE
investments for strategic purposes and realising their performance EERIE 7 ER o

potential in the long run.
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FE N BHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT
FVOCI (coNTINUED)

notes: (Continued)
(@) (Continued)

The listed equity securities measured at FVOCI comprise the
following investments:

Kiat - (%)

@ (&)

BAVEESAEMEE RS Z EHERA

EHBETIKRE

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Oshidori International Holdings Limited BEEEEAR AR A A 88,350 14,025
Shengjing Bank Co., Ltd. BRRRITRH AR AR 7,446 -
Bradaverse Education (Int’l) Investments Group Limited BT HE# 5 (BK)&EEE
BRAA 6,963 14,000
Imagi International Holdings Limited ENEBEZERAERAF 6,819 3,852
Central Wealth Group Holdings Limited FEEEERBRAA 5,175 13,500
Sinolink Worldwide Holdings Limited BEERERAR 3,850 8,100
Planetree International Development Limited BRERERERAR 3,330 9,450
Esprit Holdings Limited BRIRKZERBRER A A 2,298 13,708
Touyun Biotech Group Limited BEEYREEEBR AR 2,100 6,600
EPI (Holdings) Ltd RAESEER)BGRAF 1,327 2,842
Y. T. Realty Group Limited A ESBE AR QA 1,056 1,782
China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited RERMEREEERA A - 1,990
Others HAth 15 326
128,729 90,175

In the current year, the Group disposed of certain listed equity
investments in the portfolio at a consideration of HK$7,757,000
(2023: HK$22,294,000), which was also the fair value as at the
date of disposal, as the investments no longer meet the investment
objective of the Group. The cumulative loss within the revaluation
reserve of HK$5,911,000 (2023: HK$62,000) has been transferred
to retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT
FVOCI (coNTINUED)

notes: (Continued)

()

The Group engaged independent qualified professional valuers to
estimate the fair value of the unlisted equity securities. A
reasonable estimate of fair value is determined by using valuation
techniques appropriate to the market and industry of each
investment. Valuation techniques used to support these valuations
include the asset-based approach which uses the fair market value
of its total assets minus its total liabilities, and the market approach
which uses prices and other relevant information generated by
market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or
businesses.

Year ended 31 March 2023

The investment in unlisted equity securities as at 31 March 2023
mainly included the 9.9% equity interest in Jiangsu YangKou Port
Development and Investment Co., Ltd. (“Yangkou Port Co”) which
was disposed of during the current year. Yangkou Port Co was
engaged in the business of development of port and related
infrastructures in the PRC. As at 31 March 2023, the investment
was stated at fair value of approximately HK$83,333,000. In
determining the fair value of property assets of Yangkou Port Co
under the asset-based approach, the comparison method was
adopted under which comparison based on information of recent
transacted prices of comparable land was made. Comparable
properties of similar characteristics and location were analysed in
order to arrive at a fair comparison of capital values.

A key unobservable input being 20% of saleable land discount on
comparable land of Yangkou Port Co to discount the fair value of
properties by approximately HK$922 million had been applied in
valuing the properties. A slight increase in the saleable land
discount used would result in a significant decrease in fair value
measurement of the properties and hence of the unlisted equity
securities, and vice versa. A 5% increase in the saleable land
discount (i.e. revised to 25%), holding all other variables constant,
the carrying amount of the properties would decrease by
approximately HK$230 million and fair value of the Group’s
investment in corresponding equity instrument would decrease by
approximately HK$9 million.

FE N BHRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

Kiat - (%)

(b)

ALEEERRBYLAAKREXME G
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE N BHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT 24,
FVOCI (conTINUED)

notes: (Continued)

Kiat - (%)

(o)  (Continued) (b) (#%)
Year ended 31 March 2024 22 2024F3 H31H IFF/E
Fair value Significant Relationship of

Financial assets as at Fair value Valuation unobservable unobservable inputs for

measured at FVOCI 31 March 2024 hierarchy techniques inputs fair value

RAFEEFAEM R2024F3H31H ERFUEE FABREARER

THRBZEHEE ZAFEE AFEESER HERN WA RS DNFEEZBE

HK$’000
FHET
Unlisted equity securities 32,185 Level 3 Asset-based Adjusted net asset The higher the net asset
approach value value, the higher the fair

value

ELETRAES E=Z/& BEX KRAREEFE BEEFESES ATE
BES

Unlisted equity securities 3,153 Level 3 Market 20.5% discount for lack The higher the discount

approach of marketability factor, the lower the fair

value

ELETRAE S E=Z/R M50k RZ=TISRBIHTE WEREEE AFE

20.5% =4
=
25. LOAN RECEIVABLE 25. JE UK &5 =%

The loan receivable is due by a former subsidiary
which is principally engaged in operations of ports
and logistics business with a gross amount of
approximately HK$3,233,000 (2023: Nil), less
impairment allowance of approximately
HK$40,000 (2023: Nil). The loan is unsecured,
repayable within one year and bear at a fixed
interest rate of 3.45% per annum.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in
Note 39(b).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO FORMER

e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

26. B FERDP AR DA

SUBSIDIARIES IN LIQUIDATION g
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAETT

Amounts due from former subsidiaries J& ;5 5& & B B B A 7]
in liquidation Q] 33,184 83,857
Less: Impairment allowance BB (31,881) (62,992)
1,303 20,865

Amounts due to former subsidiaries  JE )& 88 B B MY B A 7]
in liquidation EE| — 27

The amounts due from/to former subsidiaries in
liguidation are classified as current assets and
current liabilities respectively as the Group does
not have a legally enforceable right to set off these
amounts in accordance with section 35 of the
Hong Kong Bankruptcy Ordinance.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the
liguidators made cash distributions of
approximately HK$50,673,000 (20283:
HK$180,290,000) to the Group. Subsequent to
the reporting period, the liquidators made further
cash distribution of HK$1,303,000 (2023:
HK$20,865,000) to the Group. Impairment loss
provision of HK$31,111,000 (2023:
HK$3,377,000), represents the aggregate amount
of cash distribution of HK$51,976,000 (2023:
201,155,000) in excess of the carrying amount of
amounts due from former subsidiaries of
HK$20,865,000 (2023: HK$197,778,000) brought
forward, is reversed to the consolidated income
statement during the year.

Details of a former subsidiary put into liquidation in
the prior year and impairment assessment are set
out in Notes 37 and 39(b) respectively.

REFEBE KD FBHEAEHE
ROR B & A Al ok il #4174 A LA K
i 5 05 B8 o Bl BT B 2 B K
B ZEFREDRDRRSRBEE
KRBEIE -

H E2024F3A31H It F BB
BARMAEEBELHR S DKL
50,673,0007% 7t (2023 : 180,290,000
Bm)c R EHERK BB A
E—FRAKSEELHR DI
1,303,000 7T (2023 : 20,865,000 7%
JC) ° Bk 1B /&5 18 531,111,000 7T
(2023 : 3,377,000/ 7T) fHE R IR &
ok 48 851,976,000 T (2023 :
201,155,000/ 7T ) &8 ) 45 8 &9 & I
A f /8 2~ 7] 3 18 8K ™ {8 20,865,000
7 7T (2028 1 197,778,000 7T ) HY 1
D ERFRBOGERER -

RE—FEBEN—HERIKEA
AINMRETMEZFEE 2B EH R
5+ 37 %39(b) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 27. ESREMEWERER

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TET

Trade receivables 2 5 IR 6,241 7,380
Less: Impairment allowance WO E R — —

6,241 7,380
Other debtors H b e U BR 3R 4,018 3,680
Rental and other deposits HeHEMFT® 1,852 2,865
Prepayments AR/ sl 2,660 6,840
Advances to the suppliers EEY ST 3,544 4,423

18,315 25,188

Trade receivables mainly arise from ports and EoOFWERTEREAOD LY
logistics business. The Group’s credit terms for MEK - AEBERPZEEH K
customers are normally 60 days, which are B60H NIHBREHERFETETN
negotiated at terms determined and agreed with BEZIEREZESLH  NEBIWE
its customers. The Group did not hold any MZEESEFEEMEAS -
collateral over the balances.
The ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of B EREAREE MK REEE
allowance for doubtful debts, presented based on % B EWEDZTNHRESE T4
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period ZEREBEOTHOT
is as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT TET

Within 90 days 90H N 6,241 7,380
Details of impairment assessment are set out in B BT 10 515 3R MY FE39(b) °
Note 39(b).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

28. SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSITS AND 8. ISR TERERBITEER

BANK BALANCES AND CASH &

The short-term bank deposits carry at fixed HEBETERZEETFF XR12E
interest rates of 1.2% to 1.65% (2023: 1.75%) per Z1.65E (2023 : 1.75/E) 5+ B - iR
annum. The bank balances carry prevailing market TEERBETTSEENENFE
interest rates ranging from nil to 0.2% (2023: Nil to £0.2E (2023 : TF0.25F)FH 8B °

0.25%) per annum.

29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 20. EZ R HEMENRR
The following is an analysis of trade and other BES5EMENERN TS B
payables at the end of the reporting period: ERE 2 DN
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TAT

Trade payables ageing analysis based %3 Z HH 2 & 5 &

on invoice date: IR Z BR#R 9 AT

Within 90 days 90H A 2,908 3,922
2,908 3,922
Other creditors H fib & T BR X 7,990 18,633
Deposit and earmnest money received = Wiz & K E S - 8,200
Accruals FEEt R X 3,937 7,261
Other tax payables H Ath & < B 18 224 372
15,059 38,388
The average credit period on the trade payables is ZBEoENEZZEHYEEE A3
30 days. The Group has financial risk management He AEBEDH TS AREIEK
policies in place to ensure the payables are within T UERENEAZAREEHERN

the credit time frame. BE o

EMZERAERAT 2024 5% 285
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e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 30. 5N EE
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
TExT FHET
Advances from customers A E P RIE 13 1,535
The transaction price allocated to the remaining W2024%F3A31H 2% N E
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially HET(RKRBITHIBOREIT) B
unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2024 amounted to T 5B A A13,000 7T (2023 -
approximately HK$13,000 (2023: HK$1,535,000). 1,535,000 L) - B ETEHIFT A
Management expects that all the remaining B TRERAEEBE R ;RS BT 4t
performance obligations will be recognised as HiE—-F(2023: —F)B A L H
revenue over the contract terms within one year NIEZ B A
(2023: one year) from the end of the reporting
period.
31. LEASE LIABILITIES 1. HEAE
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THER FET
Lease liabilities payable: FERTEAaE:
Within one year —F R 5,231 10,053
In the second year F-F 1,413 5,396
In the third year to fifth year inclusive 25 =& 5 A F
(EEMEREEA) 2,026 2,911
Over five years fRid A F 759 1,274
9,429 19,634
Less: Amounts due within one year 7 : A — FE R 2 Hf j’[’i'J =l
shown under current liabilities mE B E A (5,231) (10,053)
Amounts due after one year —F1E B 2 5 4,198 9,581
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. AMOUNT DUE TO A NON-
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and

without fixed repayment terms.

33. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

REMBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

2. BN —BFERKRRRE

ZERASEER 2B REREE
B o

33. |RITREMERK

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHEx FH&T
Bank and other borrowings comprise: 817 }z H 4 {8 3 8 15
Bank borrowings RITENK - 6,850
Other borrowings HER 15,977 528,139
15,977 534,989
Analysed as: R =1
Secured A HE A — 531,850
Unsecured A8 T, FHH 15,977 3,139
15,977 534,989
The bank and other borrowings are R 17 & H b {& ZX (& & B
repayable as follows: /(RN
Within one year or on demand —FRHIZEK 15,133 532,991
More than one year, but not exceeding #8348 — 4F - 1B 1~ 8 /i 4
two years 844 1,142
More than two years, but not HBEMFE BN EAF
exceeding five years - 856
15,977 534,989
Less: Amounts due within one year B — F AR EK
or on demand shown under B HR 30 51| VE 7 &
current liabilities B1E Y %8 (15133)  (532,991)
Amounts due after one year —F1& 2 H 2 kI8 844 1,998
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33. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2023, the bank borrowings
represented fixed-rate borrowings of
approximately HK$6,850,000 (2024: Nil) repayable
within one year which were carrying interest at
4.15% (2024: Nil) per annum.

The above other borrowings are fixed-rate
borrowings with approximately HK$15,133,000
(2023: HK$526,141,000) repayable within one
year, approximately HK$844,000 (2023:
HK$1,142,000) repayable more than one year but
not exceeding two years and approximately nil (2023:
HK$856,000) repayable more than two years but
not exceeding five years. The fixed-rate other
borrowings are carrying interest ranging from 6.4%
to 8% (2023: 5% to 8%) per annum.

The secured bank and other borrowings as at 31
March 2023 were secured by the Group’s certain
assets set out in Note 44.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

3. BITREMER @

M2023F3 A31H » R 17 & A 48
ER—FRNEBZEEERY
6,850,000/ 7T (2024 4F « #) » L F
R EAA5E (2024 : |B)H B o

FHREMERAET B ERY
15,133,000 7T (2023 : 526,141,000
BIT) AR —F NEE - 844,000
7 71 (2023 : 1,142,000/ 7T) 7B A R
B—FRETAMFRNERBARNE
7 (2023 : 856,0007% JT) 78 72 B 1B [N
FETBAAFAEE HiE BB
FIRFERRNF6.4E Z=8[E (2023 :
SEZE8E)FE -

MR2023FE3A31H - BEMIRITR
HMERANFAM4FEARAEERRE
TEEEER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

34. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following items are the major deferred tax

34, BRI 1E

ATHERAFEIRAESFER

liabilities recognised and movements thereon BRZEEZBRERBEE  ULE
during the current and prior years: BB IS
Other
intangible
Fair value Fair value Fair value assets
changeon  changeon  change on recognised
investment stock of project under Tax on business
properties  properties development losses  combination Others Total
REH
RENE NEFE REDEA AHER
NVEE AYEE AVEE HWEM
25 29 28 HBER EFVEE Hit &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TET TET TEL TEL TET TET
At 1 April 2022 202254 A1H 135,243 61,557 93,272 (8,244) 24,255 8,513 314,596
Exchange realignment ERAE (11,379) (5,148) (7,887) - - (20) (24,428)
Credit to consolidated income statement %A & 2 B A (9,225) (8,434) - - (2,984) (12) (20,655)
Disposal of discontinued operations HEBR|IEE
(Note 15) £%(Hi15) (114,645) (47,975) (85,385) 8,244 (21,271) (8,244) (269,276)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 202353 A31B &
2023%4A18 - - - - - 237 237
Exchange realignment R - - - = = (13) (13)
Credit to consolidated income statement 474 % % 2 B A = - - - - (11 1)
At 31 March 2024 R2024E3A31R - - - - - 213 213

EmMEZERAERLDT 2024 F 7R

289



290

34. DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

At 31 March 2024, the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$424,634,000 (2023:
HK$447,066,000) available to offset against future
taxable profits. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of such losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams on those
subsidiaries. Included in the unrecognized tax
losses at 31 March 2024 are losses of
approximately HK$75,933,000 (2023:
HK$143,966,000) that will expire in one to five
years. Other unrecognised tax losses may be
carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
deductible temporary differences of nil (2023:
HK$146,145,000). No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in relation to such deductible
temporary differences as it is not probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary difference can be utilised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

34. IE E B 18 ()

MR2024FE3A31H K& E A K
5 A I B 18 4424,634,00078
7T (2023 : 447,066,000/ 7T ) 7]
REHEGR2ERBE R B AR
HUBRZEWNE QR B REF
ZHEYBME - W EAEEEE
MRIELENIEE E- - R20244F3
RA31B  BEERERHEEE
2 & 18 #975,933,0007% 7T (2023 :
143,966,000 L) R —E A F K
FIHR o H A R R AR 18 B 1B 0] & R
HA 3 45 8 o

RREBTER  AEBZ K
e BF = 58 5 Z (2023 : 146,145,000
L) c AR E £ B Bom A "] B
LA 85 AT H0 6 B B = BA 2 T RE I
AR - B i I 48 5 A 7 0] H0 R EG
ERWAELEHIBEE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. R4
Number
of shares Value
grig ¢! & #
HK$'000
FTET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each: FROA0B T2 BB
Authorised: EE
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, R2022F 4 A1 H « 2023%F
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 3HA31H 2023F4H1H
K 2024F3A31H 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRHR:
At 1 April 2022 R2022F 4 A1H 1,103,916,114 110,392
Shares repurchased and cancelled (note) % {7 2] B8 K 5+ 385 (/1 iF) (62,970,000) (6,297)
At 31 March 2023, 1 April 2023 20233 H31H + 20234F
and 31 March 2024 4R18 K2024%3H31H 1,040,946,114 104,095
note: During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company repurchased Wi B E2023F3A3IALEFE  AAGRE
a total of 62,970,000 ordinary shares of the Company on the Hong B Bt AT P B B A& $£62,970,000 % A A 7]
Kong Stock Exchange at an aggregate consideration of TEE-ENeEeREHEBEE XA YA
approximately HK$54,848,000 (before expenses). All repurchased 54,848,000/ 7T AT A B B D 5E 8
shares were cancelled and the issued share capital of the MAAFTE TR ADIRZE KD HEEBE
Company was reduced by the nominal value of these shares FE Bl - B8 3] AR 17 & 18 4948,551,0007% 7T &
accordingly. The premium on the shares repurchased of B EAG R BB [ B S 49246,0007% JT 2 #E
approximately HK$48,551,000 and the directly attributable shares B EERIRG -
repurchase expenses of approximately HK$246,000 were charged
against the share premium.
Particulars of the share repurchases are as follows: Oy BsssEmT
Number of shares Price paid per share Aggregate consideration
Month repurchased Highest Lowest (before expenses)
At R4 E B BREXNER BmRE
#E BB BIE (M BRBA 2 A1)
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
BT BT FET
December 2022 2022412 A 25,890,000 0.93 0.74 22,806
January 2023 202341 A 22,130,000 0.94 0.88 20,436
February 2023 202342 A 14,950,000 0.89 0.72 11,606
Total &5 62,970,000 54,848
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE N BHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

36. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH 36.
ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
acquired a subsidiary from an independent third
party at a consideration of approximately
HK$65,000,000. The subsidiary holds a floor of
office premises and three car parking spaces in a
commercial building as investment properties for
rental in Hong Kong. The acquisition had been
accounted for as an acquisition of assets and
liabilities.

The effect of the acquisition is summarised as

ERWE-—HEHNELRWE
'E

HE2023FE3A31HILFE A&
LA X 18 4965,000,00078 7t [A] — £
BYE=ZFWE—RRBRR %
MEBARREBRAE —EmERX
Ez—ERAZMELR=AFE
CVEBITE R M - Z Uk
EHEARINEWBEERAGE -

WEEENTEBEDT ;

follows:
2023
Note HK$’000
K&+ FHET
Net assets acquired: BEWEBEEFE:
Investment properties KEYE 20 65,758
Other receivables o 8 R K 95
Other payables H e BR X (853)
Cash consideration paid ENBEERE 65,000
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37. WINDING UP OF A SUBSIDIARY

During the year ended 31 March 2023, a non-
wholly-owned subsidiary namely Sunny Long
Limited was put into liquidation and ceased to be
a subsidiary of the Company. A gain on winding
up of a subsidiary of approximately HK$9,470,000
was recognised in the consolidated profit or loss
for the year ended 31 March 2023. Set out below
are the net carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities of the former subsidiary at the date of

FE N BHRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

37. —ENBARFE

H £2023F3A31H It FE - 3
2EMBARRABRAAEE
TEBYTHBAARNRRZHE AR
Ale B Z2023F3A31HILFE -
b8~ 7B 88 2 W = 499,470,000
BILERGREERPRER - TR
IR ITFERB B R RE
EXAEZEREEFE :

derecognition:
2023
HK$'000
FHE T
Stock of properties MEFE 9,410
Other payables H e BR K (50)
Amounts due to former subsidiaries & < & £& 1 BT B B 2 &) A
in liquidation (18,830)
Net liabilities at the date of RERIEERBEZ B EFE
derecognition and gain on winding N—HERBARRE®R 2 Wa
up of a subsidiary (9,470)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 38. HEHE LT
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group B E2024F3A31HIEFE A%
disposed of (i) Blue River Wuhan Port Limited and REFELEZ2BORYRER
its subsidiaries and (i) Yangkou Port Holdings & () Blue River Wuhan Port Limited
Limited and its subsidiary from its continuing ¥ B W B ~ 5 (i) Yangkou Port
operations of ports and logistics business and Holdings Limited 2 £ ff B & &) -
recorded a gain on disposal of subsidiaries of THESHEHNBARA 2 WRE Y
approximately HK$59,323,000 (2023: Nil). 59,323,000/% 7T (2023 : &) °
2024
HK$’000
TET
Net liabilities disposed of: EHEEERE:
Property, plant and equipment I BN 2,317
Right-of-use assets CRAEERE 24,223
Financial assets measured at FVOCI %2 A F(EE & A H Ath 2w Uk i
e REE 64,378
Trade and other receivables 2 5 I H b FE AR 3K 2,075
Bank balances and cash RITEFNARS 3,521
Trade and other payables B 5 NEMERERR (19,233)
Contract liabilities aHAE (1,886)
Lease liabilities HER®E (2,147)
Taxation payable ENE (196)
Other borrowings" H A& 3 (91,233)
(18,181)

# Included an amount of approximately HK$3,233,000 due to the
Group.

# BLAE B A 55 B 2 RIE #938,233,00078 7T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

38. HEME 2 7 @)

2024
HK$’000
THET
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEK B A T2 W :
Cash consideration HeRKE 9,000
Directly attributable costs and levies £ # f& 1 AR R E (597)
Net liabilities disposed of EHEBEFE 18,181
Gain on disposal before taxation MR ESTFEERLD G 2 HE WS
and release of attributable reserve 26,584
Cumulative exchange differences NN RN /NC] ZT il 4 H—I
in respect of the net liabilities of HEZSEINEZEGIHBR
subsidiaries reclassified from equity B EFEEEM 2 R E N ZE %E
to profit or loss on loss of control of
subsidiaries 32,739
Gain on disposal before taxation BRIERI 2 HE Wam 59,323
Less: taxation B BIE -
Gain on disposal after taxation MBRAig e el 59,323
Net cash inflow arising on HEMEEXZHRERAFEH:
disposals:
Cash consideration HeRKE 9,000
Less: directly attributable costs B BEEEEKARBE
and levies (597)
Net cash consideration received BEIE e R EFE 8,403
Less: bank balances and B EHEBEZRTEFLRS
cash disposed of (3,521)
4,882
ESMEZERER AR 2024 F#

295



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 30. T A
(a) Categories of financial instruments (@ €M A5
(i) Financial assets () =@MEE

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
TRET THET

Financial assets measured at 1% # 4 AN 51 2

amortised cost ZLEMEE
— Loan receivable —RERER 3,193 —
— Amounts due from former — FE YIS B& BRI B
subsidiaries in liquidation UNEIF= @] 1,303 20,865
— Trade and other receivables — & 5 & H b fE U
AR X 12,11 13,925
— Short-term bank deposits —RHHERITHER 8,621 3,425
— Bank balances and cash —RTEFELBE® 11,500 770,811
36,728 809,026
Financial assets measured EAFEEFEZ
at fair value TEREE
— Financial assets measured ~ — & A F({EE
at FVOCI EmermEmkizz
TREE 164,067 202,975
Total & &t 200,795 1,012,001
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FREMBHRKRME
For the year ended 31 March 2024
EZE2024F3 31 HIEFE
39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 30. €@ T & )
(a) Categories of financial instruments (@) €T AEZER @
(Continued)

(i) Financial liabilities (i) THAEE

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET TET

Financial liabilities measured at ¥ ## 55k N 5T 2

amortised cost ZE@mas
— Trade and other payables — B REMERN
AR 14,835 38,016
— Amounts due to former — FEMBEE S A
subsidiaries in liquidation Lo NETE sl - 27
— Amount due to a — BN —RIEETER
non-controlling shareholder IR R K18 8,891 8,891
— Amount due to a joint venture —JE{ —fE& &
1 F¥ 518 180 —
— Bank and other borrowings ~ — $R 1T K& H fb {& & 15,977 534,989
39,883 581,923
Lease liabilities HEaE 9,429 19,634
Total &=t 49,312 601,557
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE N BHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies

Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in Note 39(a) and respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below.
Management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective
manner. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.

Market risk

(i) Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to interest rate
risk is attributable to its financial
instruments that are subject to both
variable rate and fixed rate. Those
financial instruments of variable interest
rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk. Details of the Group’s
interest-bearing financial instruments at
variable rates have been disclosed in
Note 28. Financial instruments at fixed
interest rates expose the Group to fair
value interest risk. Details of the Group’s
interest-bearing financial instruments at
fixed rate have been disclosed in Notes
25, 28, 31 and 33.

In order to mitigate the interest rate risk,
the Group adopts a policy of maintaining
an appropriate mix of fixed and floating
rate borrowings which is achieved
primarily through entering into different
contractual terms of borrowings. The
position is regularly monitored and
evaluated by reference to anticipated
changes in market interest rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposures to interest rate
risk on financial liabilities are detailed in
the liquidity risk management section of
this note. The Group’s cash flow interest
rate risk is insignificant as the Group
does not have any variable rate
borrowings as at 31 March 2024.

Currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the
value of a monetary item will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange
rates. Certain receivables of the Group
are denominated in foreign currencies
such as RMB which expose the Group
to foreign currency risk. The Group
currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However,
management monitors foreign currency
exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

Certain Hong Kong subsidiaries of the
Company also have certain transactions
denominated in RMB. RMB is not freely
convertible into other foreign currencies
and conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to rules and
regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government.
The Group manages its exposures to
foreign currency transactions by
monitoring the level of foreign currency
receipts and payments. The Group
ensures that the net exposure to foreign
exchange risk is kept to an acceptable
level from time to time.

REMBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

39. €@t T A um)
(b) £RIEMREE A ERBX @

i 45 B B (4%)

(i)

(ii)

= & b (@)

AEEREMEBERE
HA KRR - F185RAHK
TAEELHE € ER
EREOER c AKEEZ
RemeE M ER R BHMT
TE REAAAEBEEE
2024% 3 A 31 H I £ T 7]

Ny} H £~
PE=N 15 oA ©

B R R

SNERERIEE IR R EE
75 R B =R 5 ) i % B 2
o AEEE T RKA
TIAARBEINESHE
e A& B A M| S INE R
o AEE B AN
BHERE AWM EEE
SEINERINERE R - I
ERVERZEEYHMEX
SN [ Bz o

AKREETEEHBERR
MEETXZUARE A
B - A\AREAAERK
BAEHMING  HF A
X FR B AT BT AR A 2 SINEE
E AR B BRI TR o A
B EERINEW R KA
FOKFREBINEZ F A,
g o AN & B MR HOF MNE
B TR RFAEANERXZ
IR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Currency risk (Continued)
All of the Group’s borrowings are
denominated in HK Dollars and RMB.
The Group mainly draws borrowings in
the functional currencies of the entities
as management considers the
repayments can be sourced from
income to be generated in those
currencies.

The Group considers its foreign currency
exposure is mainly arising from the
exposure of RMB against HK Dollars.
The Group regularly reviews the
balances of assets and liabilities and the
currencies in which the transactions are
denominated so as to minimise the
Group’s exposure to foreign currency
risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 39. £®l T B )

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Currency risk (Continued)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s
foreign currency denominated monetary
assets and monetary liabilities (excluding
inter-company balances), with exposure
to foreign currency risk which are
considered as significant by management,
at the end of the reporting periods are

(b) cRIEAMREEREERBR @

i 45 B B ()

(ii)

&R ks (@)

NEB AINE A BRI E
HINBERB s EEKEE
RE¥aE(TBEERF
BER) (BEBRERAEKX
F)RBEHREHERH 2R
HELWT :

as follows:
Liabilities Assets
=R BE
2024 2023 2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000  HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FATT FH T FAETT
RMB AR ¥ 826 1,657 48 1,291

In addition, foreign currency denominated
intercompany balances, with exposure
to foreign currency risk which are
considered as significant by management,
at the end of the reporting periods are

SN - AN ETE Z 1~ A
FEBRAXEEERARE
RZNE R R E
TR ZFFIBT

as follows:
Liabilities Assets
=R BE
2024 2023 2024 2023
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FHET FETT FHE T FETT
RMB AR 1,524 1,615 21,552 77,243
HK Dollars BT - 25,181 — —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(ii) Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s
sensitivity to a 5% increase in RMB
against HK Dollars and 5% decrease in
HK Dollars against RMB. 5% is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the
end of the reporting period end for a 5%
change in foreign currency rates. A
positive number below indicates a
decrease in post-tax loss where RMB
strengthen 5% against HK Dollars. For a 5%
weakening of RMB against HK Dollars,
there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the profit (loss) for the year.

39. €@t T A um)
(b) £RIEMREE A ERBX @

m 5 & B (&)

(i) &% EE@
BB E DT
TRHENAEBRARK
578 TC B K8 N5% & B
TC R AR KR 5%
B2 RS - BRI E
TEIR A S ERINER R
B T 5% A 8 R E
bR - BIRREDITIERIE
RARFHEL UINE BE
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2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET THET

Decrease in loss for the year FEEEBERLD 803 4,193
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(iii) Other price risk
The Group is exposed to price risk from
its investments in financial assets
measured at FVOCI. Management
manages this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different
risks. The Group’s price risk is mainly
concentrated on equity securities
operating in port development and
financial services. The Group has
monitored the other price risk and will
consider hedging the risk exposure
should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses have been
determined based on the exposure to
price risk for investments in financial
assets measured at FVOCI at the end of
the reporting period. If the prices or fair
values of these respective financial
assets measured at FVOCI had been 5%
or 20% higher/lower, other
comprehensive income would increase/
decrease by HK$8,203,000 (2023:
HK$10,149,000) or HK$32,813,000 (2023:
HK$40,595,000) respectively.

REMBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2024
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge obligations by the counterparties is
arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Trade receivables

In order to minimize the credit risk of the
trade receivables, management is responsible
for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. Credit sales are made
to customers with good credit history. Credit
limits attributed to customers and credit term
granted to customers on different business
units are reviewed regularly. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider that
the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model on
these balances individually or collectively with
appropriate grouping by common risk
characteristics.

Blue River Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 39. £®l T B )

(b) £RIEMREE A ERBX @

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Loan receivables

The Group has a policy for assessing the
impairment on loan receivables on an
individual basis. The assessment includes
evaluation of collectability of the loan
receivables based on management’s
judgment on creditworthiness, collateral and
past collection history of each borrower and
forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In determining the recoverability of the loan
receivables, the Group will consider the
change in the credit quality of the loan
receivables, if any, from the date the loans
were initially granted up to the reporting date.
This includes assessing the credit history of
the borrowers, such as past experience of
financial difficulties or default in payments,
background assessment and evaluation of
financial position and performance and
forward-looking information.

The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding loan receivables to
minimize credit risk. The management has a
credit policy in place and the exposures to
credit risk are monitored on an ongoing basis.
Impairment allowances on outstanding loan
receivables are determined by an evaluation
of financial background, as well as financial
condition of the borrower and the anticipated
receipts for that individual loan, at the end of
the reporting period.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Other financial assets measured at
amortised cost

The credit risk of other financial assets is
managed through an internal process. The
Group closely monitors the outstanding
amounts of other financial assets at amortised
costs and identifies any credit risk in a timely
manner in order to reduce the risk of a credit
related loss. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider the Group’s credit risk
is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on short-term bank deposits
and cash balances is limited because these
counterparties are financial institutions with
high credit-ratings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Concentration of credit risk

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has no
significant concentration of credit risk as the
exposure of which spreads over a number of

REMBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

39. €@t T A um)
(b) £ @t b

EEHEREX @

1= B 2 B K 6l {8 77 12 (%)

FEESET AR
R2024F3H31H » N & lz
CERBIWERBEEFIE

H =2 b 5 B 2 i 22 %ﬁ%

counterparties.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading NREBFBZRIBEZERRTR
assessment comprises the following ST EBELTESR
categories:
Internal credit rating Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
A S EFER it B REBIRR HiteREE
Performing The counterparty has a low to moderate Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
RiF risk of default and its credit risk has not (not credit-impaired)  12f@ A FE R EE1E
increased significantly since initial >HEHEEEBE
recognition. (W EEERE)
RHEFZENARREZS  BHE
B b B V) 25 TR DA SR R A 0
hn e
Underperforming There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
UES credit risk since initial recognition through (not credit-impaired) (not credit-impaired)
information developed internally or T HITEEREEEE >HBEHEEESE
externally. (I | EERME) (I EERME)
NI EFFEERBREERR BV
SHERARE BELM -
Non-performing There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
TR credit-impaired. (credit-impaired) (credit-impaired)
ERBEEZEEDLREERIE- 2HEHEEER 2 HEBEEEE
(EERE) (EERIE)
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor  Amount is written off Amount is written off
H8H is in severe financial difficulty and the EHESEEME ElAEEEME

Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery.
BREBELES A LRSSV R
BARSE Y & E R IEE Y ERIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 39. £®l T B )

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) cRIEAREEEERBX @

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment EEEEE#EFFRE &)
(Continued)

The table below detail the credit risk
exposures of the Group’s financial assets and
contract assets as at 31 March 2024 and 31
March 2023, which are subject to ECL

assessment:

T & AR E B R2024F 3 A 31
HN2023F3H31H/E#TTTE
HEEFBIM 2 emEE
NEHEEZEERRERS

Gross carrying amount

REAE
Internal credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL 2024 2023
REBEE TR REASZARANEERR HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FTET
Trade receivables (note i) Performing Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 6,241 7,380
B 5 W R (I 5ti) R FHEBREEER(UEEERE)
Other receivables (note i) Performing 12m ECL 5,870 6,545
HAth U B AR (B 7 i) RIf 12 A EBREEEE
Loan receivable (note i) Performing 12m ECL 3,233 —
JE W B R (B =) R 12EAAEREEERE
Amounts due from former subsidiaries Non-performing Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 33,184 83,857
in liquidation (note iv)
FE WS B2 T AT B B 2 R RO (B i iv) R cHEREEBE(EERE)
Short-term bank deposits (note v) Performing 12m ECL 8,621 3,425
REBRITERH T RIF 12 A EBREEEE
Bank balances (note v) Performing 12m ECL 11,500 770,811
RITETF (K atv) R 12 A EBEEEE

Blue River Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)
notes:

(i) The Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9
to measure the loss allowance on lifetime ECL basis for
trade receivables. The lifetime ECL for these balances are
determined individually and/or collectively using a provision
matrix with appropriate groupings based on historical credit
loss experience adjusted by forward-looking information.
The loss allowance for not credit-impaired trade receivables
is very minimal and closed to zero.

(ii) The Group uses historical past-due experience and
forward-looking information to assess whether credit risk for
other receivables has increased significantly since initial
recognition. The loss allowance for the performing other
receivables is very minimal and close to zero.

(iii) The ECL provision for the borrower is assessed individually
and determined by reference to the independent
professional valuer’'s assessment in accordance with
HKFRS 9 by adopting its independently selected
parameters which contain credit rating portfolio similar to
the borrower, also taking into account the historical market
default records and forward-looking information.

(iv) The Group used the latest obtained financial information of
the former subsidiaries in liquidation, historical recovery
experience and forward-looking information to assess the
loss allowance of the credit-impaired amounts due from
former subsidiaries in liquidation individually.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period and up to
the date of this report, cash distribution of approximately
HK$1,303,000 (2023: HK$20,865,000) has been received
from the former subsidiaries in liquidation and no further
impairment loss was made.

(V) Short-term bank deposits and bank balances were mainly
placed in the banks in the PRC and Hong Kong governed
by China Banking Regulatory Commission and Hong Kong
Monetary Authority, respectively. In view of the stable bank
system in the PRC and Hong Kong and the high credit
ratings assigned by international or PRC rating agencies to
these banks, the loss allowance is expected to be very
minimal and close to zero.

FE N BHRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE N BHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The following table shows reconciliation of
loss allowances that have been recognised
for trade receivables, contract assets, other
receivables, loan receivables, amounts due
from associates and amounts due from
former subsidiaries in liquidation.

39. €@t T A um)
(b) £RIEMREE A ERBX @

1= B 2 B K 6l {8 77 12 (%)

TRINFEZRWER - A&
BE HMEWER BKRE
T FEEE = N B SRR K R UL
BEPANMBARNREZD
HARABEREBE K-

Amounts due
from former

Trade Other subsidiaries
receivables receivables Loan receivables in liquidation
FE W E B
Hit 70 B B 2 A
EZRUWERR W R EWEX RE
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) 12m ECL impaired)
=AM
EEEA AN 2EM
(3f & FEEBER 128 B &8 FEBE
FEREE) (F8RE) FEEE (F8RE)
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 April 2022 H2022F 4818 133 21,045 600 93,363
Provided for (reversed) FEREEHELD) ZRE
during the year 2,513 25,920 (600) (8,377)
Disposal of discontinued operations & B 4% || 48 & 2 7% (2,475) (45,218) — —
Write-offs (note) sy (e 77) — — - (26,994)
Exchange realignment [ 5 3 & (171) (1,747) - -
At 31 March 2023 and R 202343 A31 H K&20234F
1 April 2023 481H - — - 62,992
Provided for (reversed) FRRE (BE) 2R\
during the year - - 40 (31,111)
At 31 March 2024 202443 A31H - - 40 31,881

note: The directors assessed that there was no realistic prospect
of recovery, therefore, these amounts were written off
during the year ended 31 March 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 39. £®l T B )

(b) £RIEMREE A ERBX @

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will
encounter difficulties in meeting its financial
obligations as and when they fall due. In
management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and
cash equivalents deemed adequate by
management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. The Group relies
on borrowings as a significant source of
liquidity. Management monitors the utilisation
of bank borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenants. The Group will also
consider the issue of equity instruments so as
to finance its investment projects.

The following tables detail the Group’s
remaining contractual maturity for its non-
derivative financial liabilities. The tables have
been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. The tables include both
interest and principal cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 39. £®l T B )

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) cRIEAMREEREERBR @
and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) T B F % B B ()
Liquidity and interest risk tables REBESRANZEREB R
Weighted More than
average  On demand 90 days Total
effective or within and within More than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 90 days 365 days 365 days cash flows amount
ik B REAS HBAME AERRER
BERA= 90HA W365HA  HEiB365H EAH REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000

TR TR TR TER TER

2024 2024
Trade and other payables ZH5REMER
R - 14,835 - - 14,835 14,835
Amount due to a non-controling & i — £ 3E 22 % ik
shareholder BauE - 8,891 - - 8,891 8,891
Amount due to a joint venture ER-—EALLE
QL - 180 - - 180 180
Bank and other borrowings BITREAMER
— fixed rate interest bearing -FR 7.35 588 15,462 891 16,941 15,977
Lease liabilities HEAE 5.82 2,654 2,775 4,657 10,086 9,429
27,148 18,237 5,548 50,933 49,312
Weighted More than
average  Ondemand 90 days Total
effective or within and within More than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 90 days 365 days 365 days cash flows amount
mEFH R@Mg, HBiBHE RUBRE
BIRM = 9QHAW  MeE5HA  BiB365H MELE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET FTAET TAET FHT FHT
2023 2023
Trade and other payables g5 % H b e
5 . 38,016 — — 38,016 38,016
Amounts due to former ERERTANE
subsidiaries in liquidation NGIE: S~ — 27 — — 27 27
Amount due to a non-controlling & - — & JE 32 AR A%
shareholder RyE - 8,891 - - 8,891 8,891
Bank and other borrowings RITREME R
— fixed rate interest bearing -ER 5.01 465,024 76,179 2,144 543,347 534,989
Lease liabilities HEARE 5.37 3,370 7,276 10,606 21,252 19,634
515,328 83,455 12,750 611,533 601,557
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c) Fair value measurement of financial
instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined as follows:

(i) Fair value of financial assets and
financial liabilities that are not
measured at fair value on a recurring
basis
The directors consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in
the consolidated financial statements
approximate to their fair values.

The fair value of these financial assets
and financial liabilities are determined in
accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted
cash flow analysis.

REMBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 39. £®l T B )

(c) EMTAZAFEEE

(c) Fair value measurement of financial

instruments (Continued) (#8)

(i) Fair value of financial assets and (i) BEEEEL L FEE
financial liabilities that are measured EZtREERTMAR
at fair value on a recurring basis ZAFEE
Some of the Group’s financial assets are RmERTER K&
measured at fair value at the end of the ETERMEEUNRNFEE

FTE - NEEEARF
EEFEZTRARG T
RIBHEBENANET S

reporting period. The Group has no
financial liabilities measured at fair value.
The following table gives information

about how the fair values of the financial BEZNEBEHNER o
assets are determined.
Fair value hierarchy Level 1 Level 3 Total
DEEEER E—R B=R &5t
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT TER FHERT
At 31 March 2024 M2024F3H31H
Financial assets CRMEE
Financial assets measured at FVOCI: & A FEE 5 A H it
PHEEZEHE
&
— Listed equity instruments —LmERTA 128,729 - 128,729
— Unlisted equity instruments —JEFTE ﬁT’l — 35,338 35,338
Total financial assets BERMEE 128,729 35,338 164,067
Fair value hierarchy Level 1 Level 3 Total
NFEEER - =4 Gl
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET TAET
At 31 March 2023 202353531 H
Financial assets cREE
Financial assets measured at FVOCI: & A (B E A H M
cEEEZEHE
=
— Listed equity instruments —tmEETA 90,175 - 90,175
— Unlisted equity instruments —JEtmESFIEA — 112,800 112,800
Total financial assets REREE 90,175 112,800 202,975
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 39. £®l T B )

(c) Fair value measurement of financial c) eMIAZAFEEFE
instruments (Continued) (&)

(i) Fair value of financial assets and (i) BEEEEL LN FEE
financial liabilities that are measured BEtREEREHARE
at fair value on a recurring basis Z R FEEGE)

(Continued)

note: B ez -

Level 1: The fair values of the listed equity instruments F—H: EEFRTHEEZ LHE
traded in active markets are based on quoted HZLAE HEQAFEBENUR
market prices at the end of the reporting period. EHTEAEB M RES
The quoted market prices used for financial F-RAEBAFAE R
assets held by the Group are the bid price. BEMEAZMERER

BBE-

Level 3:  The fair values of the unlisted equity instruments E=R: FLETRZTIAZAFE
are based on Level 3 measurement (as details in BENERE=RTE(GHE
Note 3) using the valuation techniques described FOMEEE3) 50 A MY sk 24 Bt
in Note 24. ZAEE A -

There were no transfers between the different levels of the PRMEFEMS A FEEZHRZME

fair value hierarchy for both years. R o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 39. £®l T B )

(c) Fair value measurement of financial (c) eMIAEZAFEETFE®

instruments (Continued)

(i) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value (i) M T HAZE=RLFE
measurement of financial Bt EZ¥ KR
instruments

Unlisted
equity
instruments
kLW
ERZTA
HK$’000
FAT
At 1 April 2022 M2022% 4 H18 119,458
Addition NE 37,000
Fair value loss recognised in other ~ R HE 2 E A X R 2 A F
comprehensive expense EEEE (43,658)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 A 2023E3A31 H &
2023%F 4 A1H 112,800
Addition NB 21,000
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries H & Hf B A 7] i ¥ 45 (64,378)
Fair value loss recognised in other R HE M2 EHA X HER 2 A F
comprehensive expense EEEE (34,084)
At 31 March 2024 2024 3 A 31 H 35,338
Included in other comprehensive HFAEMEZEREY 2 A

expense is a fair value loss of
HK$34,084,000 (2023: HK$43,658,000)
relating to unlisted equity instruments
using Level 3 measurement held at the
end of the reporting period and is
reported as changes in investment
revaluation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities arising from financing activities, including
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities
arising from financing activities are those for which
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement
of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activities.

e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HZE2024F3A31BIEFE

0. BETHELE2EBYK

TRAEAEERERDELZE
EEPHE BERRENFREE
Ho-MEERHELECREDNRARE
MEIAKRERERNAK B
EREREXTHIEASBELY
RenEZARE-

Amounts due

Non-trade
balances of
amounts due to

to non- Bank and joint operations/

Lease controlling other Interest other partners of

liabilities shareholders  borrowings payable joint operations

EAeEEE/

CEERHEM

BAFER RITR BHeEREZ

HESE BEMIE H & ™ EMARE FESET

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FAT FHET FAT FAT

At 1 April 2022 R2022F 4 A1H 83,589 107,413 1,660,693 2,579 59,426

Financing cash flows MERESRE (32,575) — 839,206 (66,367) 275,616

Finance costs &M AR 2,156 - - 64,023 -

Addition NE 23,556 — — — —
Disposal of discontinued HEEDRIEGEER

operations (56,639) (90,192)  (1,932,892) - (335,042)

Exchange realignment i 5 7 (453) (8,330) (32,018) (127) -
At 31 March 2023 and M2023F3A31A K

1 April 2023 202344 A1H 19,634 8,891 534,989 108 -

Financing cash flows MERSRE (12,632) - (430,711) (4,133) -

Finance costs B & B AR 915 - - 5,712 -

Addition NE 4,147 = = = =

Disposal of subsidiaries HEHE QR (2,147) - (88,000) (1,320) -

Exchange realignment i 5 3 (488) - (301) ()] -

At 31 March 2024 202453 A31H 9,429 8,891 15,977 364 -
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41. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group joins defined contribution retirement
benefit schemes for qualifying employees. The
assets of the schemes are separately held in funds
under the control of trustees.

The employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries
are members of the state-managed retirement
benefit schemes operated by the PRC
government. The subsidiaries in the PRC are
required to contribute a specified percentage of
their payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme
to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The cost charged to the consolidated income
statement represents contributions paid and
payable to the funds by the Group at rates
specified in the rules of the schemes. Where there
are employees who leave the schemes prior to
vesting fully in the contributions, the contributions
payable by the Group may be reduced by the
amount of forfeited contributions in accordance
with the rules of the schemes in that jurisdiction.

At the end of the reporting period, there were no
material forfeited contributions which arose upon
employees leaving the schemes prior to their
interests in the Group’s contributions becoming
fully vested and which are available to reduce the
contributions payable by the Group in future years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

41. R IKEF 5+ &

AEERARERREREZ2EDAE
HHRKRBHETE - ZFFEZE
EAXTAEAZRG 2ZHRESE Y
A -

AEFBETEBBARZEE =&
APBERA#ETZBEREERK
BAETE 2K E - FEEARZE
Tﬂ$ﬁ§ZﬁE%H [ 4R R
ﬂﬁﬂ%ﬁ A BRI REE
$ElﬁﬁW@ﬂ+ﬂ2%—
f&m%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁmo

R RRxBEZEBR  REAE
EixZEE 2 RAE 2 X
ENRENTES ZHR 1|J11Eﬁ=\
fE 7] = B 3R FT I 2 &6 4% %5 Al
Ha%Faral $%F‘§HT§J—(%\EME
A EZ AARE R 2 5T 8148 Bl R 2 I
HRZ IR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(CONTINUED)

The Group has joined a mandatory provident fund
scheme (“MPF Scheme”). The MPF Scheme is
registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Authority under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in funds under the control of an
independent trustee. Under the rules of the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the
scheme at the rates specified in the rules. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to MPF
Scheme is to make the required contributions
under the scheme. No forfeited contribution is
available to reduce the contribution payable in the
future years.

The retirement benefit scheme contributions
arising from the MPF Scheme charged to the
consolidated income statement represent
contributions paid and payable to the funds by the
Group at the rates specified in the rules of the
scheme.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the total
retirement benefit scheme contributions charged
to consolidated income statement amounted to
approximately HK$2,497,000 (2023:
HK$23,356,000).

REMBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

41. RKRBER 8@

AEBED ARG NERTESE
([RfEEstd])  -BEEFIER
1% 58 Bl 1% A 18 © 5T 3R P £ 98
MrEeEERERL - BEE:TE
ZEEBINASEZEE B
VRAAZEGZETHEA - RER
Bestdlz R BENREEEY
A& B LA BIRTBA Z bE R\ Er &
K- AEEEHRIETEI2E
BERERRBREEFLRE ZH
Ko BRI B R WA AT A
TR R R B A K

AR 78 & 5t 8 M 1F 2 R IKAE A
AR EEA WaE R HE
RNASEZFSRAFTRHZ =R
AIESE N LB Z R

H EZ20243A31H IEFE - R
AW mER AT HE 2 BRINEF G
2t KRR 4 A2,497,0008 TT
(2023 : 23,356,000/ 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

42. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had no
contingent liabilities (2023: Nil).

43. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as a lessor

The properties held by the Group for rental
purpose have committed tenants with the longest
tenure for two (2023: two) year(s). Minimum lease
payments receivable under non-cancellable
operating leases on investment properties are as

42.

43.

HAREE

HE2024%F3A31H  AEFW &
SR BE (2023 : &) o

REHERE

AEBESEAA

AEBHEHERR ZWED
EAMEEFRP REHEMT
(2028 : F) - WEMEZ T A H
HEeEHEBE T 2 ERRERS
RIEWT

follows:
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
THEx TET
Within one year —F K 1,800 1,800
In the second year B _F — 1,800
1,800 3,600
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44.

45.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the following
assets were pledged to financial institutions to
secure the general credit facilities granted to the
Group:

REMBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

44, EE K #H

RmERTHER > THEEDCER
THGHE (FRAAKBERE K
SEREZHEM:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT TAET

Property, plant and equipment N Y& L — 2,174
Right-of-use assets FTHEEE - 6,591
Intangible assets mEE - 951

— 9,716

In addition, as at 31 March 2023, the Group
pledged its shares in certain subsidiaries with a net
assets value of approximately HK$127,985,000
(2024: Nil) to secure the facilities granted.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had the following
capital commitments:

45.

it oh - R20283F3H31H K &
EEHEBERETHWB AR 2K
(& E F E 4 £127,985,000%8
TC(2024 : £&)) - LNERISFTE®R 2
A& -

A

MR2024F3A31H  AEBEH 7
B AR

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT TET

Contracted but not provided for inthe HtUsEE LA NIEE 2 5] 4918
consolidated financial statements in ~ ARG B BHREX A

respect of acquisition of: =

— Property, plant and equipment — W5 B SRR — 8,965
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 46. BEEAN T X B R4tk

AND BALANCES

(@ Save as disclosed elsewhere in the (a)
consolidated financial statements, the Group =
also entered into the following significant =
transactions with certain related parties T

during the year and has the following
significant balances with certain related
parties at the reporting date:

EE = R T R

B FARAKETE SR
TRBALIZNATEX
7 BRHBEAHEE TH

BMALE TIERNER

Class of related party Nature of transactions/balance 2024 2023
B A+ 25 RP/EHMEE HK$000  HK$'000
THER FET
() Associates of the Group ~ Payment of lease liabilities 2,402 1,201
RNE&E 2 B E R xHEERE
Lease liabilities 1,966 4,226
HERE
(i Joint ventures of the Group Revenue from construction
REBZEEDRE contracts - 73,859
BEESDORA
Sub-construction expenses — 190,687
DERFFRX
None of the related party transactions B P E 2 B
disclosed above constituted connected TEER TR ARTE Z
transactions or continuing connected A 5o & 5&%

transactions as defined in the Listing Rules.
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46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

AND BALANCES (CONTINUED)

(b)

46. BB A T X B R &tk

Compensation of key management personnel b) TE2EEEREKE 2B
The key management personnel are the TEEEEBKEAARALNAE
directors of the Company. Details of the E-BNEEMe 2FBTEHR
remuneration paid to the directors are set out BsE12 o
in Note 12.
Details of the balances with related parties at () M ¥ B T A A F‘fﬁ N
the end of the reporting period are set out JEBTFEBEIMT
below.
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$’000
THERX FHT
Amount due to a non-controlling FEA — B FEIE R AL R
shareholder (Note 32) FRIB (K7£32) 8,891 8,891
Amount due to a joint venture (note) JEfT —f & & 1> %
A (K1 at) 180 —
note: The amount is unsecured, interest free and repayable on Wi - Bl EABIKR 28 RAREXR
demand. EE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 47. XA T2 ERAEREE
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT TAET

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y M N R 1,544 1,750
Interests in subsidiaries M BN AR 5 5
Amounts due from subsidiaries R NG 760,000 881,704
761,549 883,459
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEU B B A B 18 170,697 201,796
Amounts due from former FEERE PRI B A A
subsidiaries in liquidation B 1,109 20,859
Other receivables H b e W BR 3R 358 353
Bank balances and cash RITEGFE LIRS 6,172 757,302
178,336 980,310
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBERE
Other payables H A FE T BR 3K 2,101 3,309
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETHT B A B I8 15,062 14,599
Other borrowings HEahER - 525,000
17,163 542,908
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 161,173 437,402
NET ASSETS EEFE 922,722 1,320,861
CAPITAL AND RESERVES ERYH#HE
Share capital A% 2K 104,095 104,095
Reserves (note) 1 (M at) 818,627 1,216,766
TOTAL EQUITY R 922,722 1,320,861
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47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE N BHRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

47. R DB 2B R R KRR #E

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (4&)
(CONTINUED)
note: Bt
Retained profits
Share Contributed (accumulated
premium surplus losses) Total
R BT
IR 13 % E BHESR (R EE) Eh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FHET FET
At 1 April 2022 H2022%4A1H 544,511 441,566 1,011,893 1,997,970
Loss for the year FEER - - (732,407) (732,407)
Shares repurchased and f& 1 B B8 K 5 8
cancelled (48,551) — — (48,551)
Shares repurchase expenses % 17 [0 i 59 (246) - - (246)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April A 202343 A31 B &
2023 2023% 4 A1 H 495,714 441,566 279,486 1,216,766
Loss for the year FEER - - (398,139) (398,139)
At 31 March 2024 R202453H31H 495,714 441,566 (118,653) 818,627
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE N BHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

48. =

#

TENBARARBEE AR

(@) Particulars of the Company’s principal @ ARAEEHBAQF K224
subsidiaries at 31 March 2024 and 2023 are FR2023FE3A31H 7 =15
as follows: T

Issued and fully Proportion of voting rights
Place of paid-up capital/ Proportion of held by the Company/
incorporation/ registered ownership interest subsidiaries of
Name of subsidiary operation capital held by the Group the Company Principal activities
LNV
EMAY/ EE BRARAR rEERAL WEARKEZ
WEARERE B R/ 2RmEAR BB ARt REBMAELAH TERE
2024 2023 2024 2023
% % % %
Blue Harbour Limited Marshall Islands HK$1 100 - 100 —  Investment holding
SEEEE ordinary share (note i) (note i) REER
1T (i iii) (Hiitii)
LERRH
Blue Meadow Limited Marshall Islands HK$1 100 - 100 —  Investment holding
SRABNE ordinary share (note i) (note i) REER
1T (B itii) (Hiitii)
LERRH
Blue River Corporation Limited Marshall Islands US$1 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
SHEES ordinary share REER
e
LERRH
Blue River Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 100 100  Credit financing
ENMBERAR BE ordinary share RERE
T
LERRH
Blue River Gain Limited Marshall Islands HK$1 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
BRBHRE ordinary share RERR
1B
EERRN
Blue River Group Management Limited  Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 100 100  Provision of management
ENEEERERAR 5 ordinary shares services
2B REEE RS
LRRERH
Blue River Investments Limited Marshall Islands USS1 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
SRRES ordinary share REER
1%
ERERR N
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

B.TENBLAARBELNTE

N0 ))

(CONTINUED)

(@) Particulars of the Company’s principal @ ARAEFEENEAQAF K224
subsidiaries at 31 March 2024 and 2023 are F K2023F3H31H 27BN
as follows: (Continued) ™ (&)

Issued and fully Proportion of voting rights
Place of paid-up capital/ Proportion of held by the Company/
incorporation/ registered ownership interest subsidiaries of
Name of subsidiary operation capital held by the Group the Company Principal activities
ERF/ARFZ
EMERL EE BRETRARE rEEBER WELAREEZ
WEREER HE RE/ERER B ARG Bl REBHAELA TEER
2024 2023 2024 2023
% % % %
Blue River Management Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 100 100 Provision of management
ENEEERAR B ordinary share services
BT REERRE
LRRRG
China Earth Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
ERERAT 5% ordinary share RERR
bib
LERRH
Glory Well Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 100 = 100 Investment holding
AEERAF Eik ordinary shares (note i) (note i) RERR
10,000/ T (Wizti) (Wizti)
LERRH
(Golden Lake Property Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 100 100 Property investment
SNEBRAT Bk ordinary shares MERE
28T
LERRH
Magic Win Limited Marshall Islands HK$1 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
SRBNE ordinary share REER
18T
LRREH
Nation Cheer Investment Limited Marshall Islands USS1 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
SRERES ordinary share REER
1£7
ERER RN
PYI China Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100 100 100 100 Provision of management
RESE(PE)BRAR B ordinary shares services
10087 REERRE
LRRERG
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE N BHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

(CONTINUED)

(@) Particulars of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries at 31 March 2024 and 2023 are

B.TENBLAARBELNTE

N0 ))

@ ARAEEEMHEBAQ A K224
FN2023F3A31B 2 #1500

as follows: (Continued) T (%8)
Issued and fully Proportion of voting rights
Place of paid-up capital/ Proportion of held by the Company/
incorporation/ registered ownership interest subsidiaries of
Name of subsidiary operation capital held by the Group the Company Principal activities
ERF/ARFZ
EMERL EE BRETRARE rEEBER WELAREEZ
WEREER HE RE/ERER B ARG Bl RRFELA TEER
2024 2023 2024 2023
% % % %
PYI Investment (Wuhan) Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
REREBREERAT] B ordinary shares REER
28T
LRRRG
PYI Min Sheng Gas Investment Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1 100 - 100 —  Investmentholding
RERERARBEBRAR &5 ordinary share (note if) (note i) RERR
1B (Wi atii) (Wi atii)
LERRH
PYI Min Sheng Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 - 100 Investment holding
REREREBRAT B4 ordinary shares (note ij (note i BERK
2B (Wizti) (Hi##i)
LERRH
PYI Properties (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
REREEBBRAT e ordinary share RERR
18T
ERERRN
Richy Blue Limited Marshall Islands HK$1 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
SHRRES ordinary share RERR
BT
ERRR R
Vogalsan Limited BVI HK$2 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
HEERLHS ordinary shares REER
28T
EBRRG
Hubei Minsheng Liquefied Petroleum  The PRC 1S832,205,168 - 100 - 100 LPG and LNG distribution and
Gas Limited # (2023: (note i (note il logistics
BURER AR RBRAT US$41,000,000) (Hizti) (Hfsti) BILABR R AR
registered capital PERMT
(note )
32,205,168 1T
(2023 41,000,000
(7
FME R (H3E)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

FE N BHRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

B.TENBLAARBELNTE

N0 ))

(CONTINUED)

(@) Particulars of the Company’s principal @ ARAEFEENEAQAF K224
subsidiaries at 31 March 2024 and 2023 are F N2023F3A31H Z &7 15 40
as follows: (Continued) ™ : (&)

Issued and fully Proportion of voting rights
Place of paid-up capital/ Proportion of held by the Company/
incorporation/ registered ownership interest subsidiaries of
Name of subsidiary operation capital held by the Group the Company Principal activities
AR/ KRR
gAY/ EE BRARAR rEEBER WEARKEZ
HEBAREZE bk RE/ERER FrE R AR LBl REFELLA TEXR
2024 2023 2024 2023
% % % %
BERERRRBRAR ThePRC 1US$8,794,832 100 - 100 — CNG distribution and logistics
# registered capital (note i) (note i) EREXARABRIR
(note ) (Hiazii) (Hiazii)
8,794,832% T
MER (A L)
FERERRERRNERERAR  ThePRC US$61,483,282 100 100 100 100 LPG and natural gas technical
H registered capital research and development
(note ) RICEARRRAR
61,483,282% T BHERER
AMER
(Hizt)

All of the above subsidiaries are limited
companies indirectly held by the Company.

notes:

(i) Being the wholly foreign-owned enterprises established in
the PRC.

(ii) These companies ceased to be subsidiaries of the
Company as a result of the disposals as detailed in Note

38.

(iii) Newly incorporated during the year ended 31 March 2024.

bt EMB AR /AR
RAAZEFAEZBERRR -

EX

)

(i)

(i)

nr
N\

ERARNPER 2IEBE R

° 4R

B M

RIWFSHFRLZHESTE  ZF
ATBAARBIZKHBAT -

>l

7

N

A E 20243 318 | FZ
BT e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE20245F3A31ALLFE

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES
(CONTINUED)

(@)

Particulars of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries at 31 March 2024 and 2023 are
as follows: (Continued)

The registered capital of all principal
subsidiaries registered in the PRC were fully
paid up during the years ended 31 March
2024 and 2023.

At the end of the reporting period, the
Company has other subsidiaries that are not
material to the Group. A majority of these
subsidiaries are engaged in investment
holding and corporate services, which
operate in Hong Kong and the PRC.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt
securities at the end of both years.

The above tables list the subsidiaries of the
Company which, in the opinion of the
directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the
net assets of the Group. To provide details of
other subsidiaries, would, in the opinion of
the directors of the Company, result in
excessive length of particulars.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

REMBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2024
B FE20245F3A31ALLFE

48. T EMB AR REEATE
#a

(CONTINUED)

(o) Particulars of the Company’s associates b) RARIMEEREAE AR
indirectly held by the Company at 31 March &N Bl 2024 F K 2023 i 3 ﬂ
2024 and 2023 are as follows: 31 AZsBmT:

Issued and fully paid Proportion of voting rights
Place of up capital/ Proportion of held by the Company/
incorporation/ registered ownership interest subsidiaries of
Name of associate operation capital held by the Group the Company Principal activities
AR/ KRR
HMAL/EE BRETRAR rEEBER WERAREEZ
BENAER e RA/ZRER B R AR L B RRFELLA TEER
2024 2023 2024 2023
% % % %
Maxlord Enterprises Limited Hong Kong HK$700,495,157 33.33 33.33 33.33 3333 Money lending
REMEBRAT B ordinary shares HE
700,495,157 % 7T
ERRRS
Golden Thread Investments Limited Marshall Islands HK$2,000 40 40 40 40  Property asset-based financing
SHREE ordinary shares business
2,000/ T NEEERERHE
ERRRS
Hope Capital Limited BVI 2,144 shares 23.79 23.79 23.79 23.79  Investment holding
E) el (2023: 1,072 shares) RERZR
ordinary shares
2,144 5%
(2023 : 1,072f%)
EER KRG
HEC Securities Company Limited BVI US$154,380,000 33 33 33 33 Investment holding
EBRIHS ordinary shares REER
154,380,000% 7T
EER KRR
Quality World Investments Limited BVI US$100 25 25 25 25 Investment holding
EERIES ordinary shares REER
100% 7T
ERRRSR

49. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

There were no major subsequent events occurred
since the end of the reporting period and up to the
date of this report.

49. A EM R ZER

=
1

Z"‘i& El\ﬂaiz’gi % /H\H

ﬂﬁ,m%}éiéﬁﬁﬂfﬁ$ °
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MR

For the year ended 31 March
BZE3ANAHLEE

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET TET FET TERT
(Restated)
(&= &E5)
RESULTS E4
Continuing operations BEREER
Revenue A 363,929 277,287 133,815 77,094 61,970
Loss before taxation BR 5 AT BT 18 (507,523) (172,701) (1,245,307) (141,704)  (263,661)
Taxation BB (57,432) 222,161 102,454 (434) 351
Profit (loss) for the year from  HER LXK 2 F/E
continuing operations i R (B518) (564,955) 49,460 (1,142,853) (142,138)  (263,310)
Discontinued operations DRIEREEK
Loss for the year from ERIEEEER
discontinued operation ZFEEEE — —  (662,620) (566,867) -
Profit (loss) for the year FERN(EBE) (564,955) 49,460 (1,805,473) (709,005)  (263,310)
Attributable to: FEAh -
Owners of the Company RAFHER A (572,268) 151,290 (1,628,546) (605,413)  (265,263)
Non-controlling interests FEE AR RE RS 7,313 (101,830) (176,927) (103,592) 1,953
(564,955) 49,460 (1,805,473) (709,005)  (263,310)
At 31 March
M3A31H
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET THET FHET TET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Total assets wEE 5,667,343 6,580,445 11,126,479 1,948,856 976,062
Total liabilities BafE (1,614,554) (2,347,639) (8,095,317)  (605,291) (49,762)
4,052,789 4,232,806 3,031,162 1,343,565 926,300
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to RNRARER A
owners of the Company 2R 3,677,859 3,898,894 2,159,813 1,352,547 933,329
Non-controlling interests IR 374,930 333,912 871,349 (8,982) (7,029)
4,052,789 4,232,806 3,031,162 1,343,565 926,300

Note : The results prior to the year ended 31 March 2022 have not been restated
to reflect the exclusion of financial information of the discontinued
operations and therefore may not be comparable to the results for the
years ended 31 March 2022, 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024.
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